
 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

 

 

Agenda 
Council 

 

Time and date 

Thursday 11th March, 2021 at 6.30 pm 

 

Place 

Council Chamber - Town Council Offices. 
 

 

To  ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

 

Dear Councillor  

 

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL on 

Thursday 11th March, 2021, at 6.30 pm in the Council Chamber - Town Council Offices. The 

Agenda for the meeting is attached. 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
Iain Lynch  

Town Clerk 

 
 

Members’ Apologies 

Members are requested to submit their apologies and any Declarations of Interest on 

the relevant form attached to this agenda to customer.services@farnham.gov.uk by  

5pm on the day before the meeting. 
 

Recording of Council Meetings 
This meeting is digitally recorded and retained until the minutes are signed. 

 

Questions by the Public  

At the discretion of the Town Mayor, those members of the public, residing or working within 

the Council’s boundary, will be invited to make representations or ask questions in respect of the 

business on the agenda, or other matters not on the agenda, for a maximum of 3 minutes per 

person or 20 minutes overall. 
 

Members of the Public are welcome and have a right to attend this Meeting.  Please note 

that there is a maximum capacity of 30 in the public gallery. 

 

Page 1

mailto:customer.services@farnham.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Disclosure of Interests Form 

 

 

 

Notification by a Member of a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter under consideration at a 

meeting (Localism Act 2011). 
 

Please use the form below to state in which Agenda Items you have an interest.   

 

If you have a disclosable pecuniary or other interest in an item, please indicate whether you wish to speak 

(refer to Farnham Town Council’s Code of Conduct for details) 

 

As required by the Localism Act 2011, I hereby declare, that I have a disclosable pecuniary or 

personal interest in the following matter(s). 

 

 

FULL COUNCIL:   11 March 2021 

 

Name of Councillor …………………………………………………… 

 
 Nature of interest (please 

tick/state as appropriate) 

 

Agenda 

Item No 
I am a Waverley 

Borough 

Councillor/Surrey 

County Councillor* 

Other Type of interest 

(disclosable pecuniary 

or Other) and reason 

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

* Delete as appropriate 

 

Page 2



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

 

 

Agenda 
Council 

 

Time and date 

Thursday 11th March, 2021 at 6.30 pm 

 

Place 

Council Chamber - Town Council Offices, South Street, Farnham 
 

 

Prayers 
Prior to the meeting prayers will be said in the Council Chamber.  Councillors and members of the 

public are welcome to attend. 

 

1 Apologies    

 To receive apologies for absence. 

2 Disclosures of Interest    

 To receive from members, in respect of any items included on the agenda for this meeting, 

disclosure of any disclosable pecuniary or other interests, or of any gifts and hospitality, in line 

with the Town Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

NOTES: 

 (i)  The following councillors have made a general non-pecuniary interest declaration in relation 

to being councillors of Waverley Borough Council: Cllrs Beaman, Blishen, Cockburn, Dickson, 

Edmonds, Gray, Hesse, Macleod, Martin, Merryweather, Mirylees, Neale, and Ward.  

(ii)  The following councillor has made a general non-pecuniary interest declaration in relation to 

him being a councillor of Surrey County Council: Cllr Macleod.  

(iii) Members are requested to make declarations of interest, on the form attached, to be 

returned to customer.services@farnham.gov.uk by 5pm on the day before the meeting.  
 

Members are reminded that if they declare a pecuniary interest they must leave before any debate 

starts unless dispensation has been obtained.  

3 Minutes   (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the Farnham Town Council meeting held on 21st 

January at Appendix A. 

4 Questions and Statements by the Public    

 In accordance with Standing Order 10.1, the Town Mayor will invite members of the public 

present to ask questions or make statements. 

 

At the discretion of the Town Mayor, those members of the public, residing or working 

within the Council’s boundary, will be invited to make representations or ask questions in 

respect of the business on the agenda, or other matters not on the agenda, for a maximum of 

3 minutes per person or 20 minutes overall. 

5 Town Mayor's Announcements    

Page 3



 

 

 To receive the Town Mayor’s announcements. 

6 Questions by Members    

 To consider any questions from councillors in accordance with Standing Order 9. 

Part 1 - Items for Decisions 

 

7 Working Group Notes   (Pages 11 - 86) 

 To receive the notes and any recommendations of the following Working Groups: 

i) Community Enhancement held on 27th January 2021 Appendix B 

ii) Cemeteries and Appeals held on 28th January 2021    Appendix C 

iii) Tourism and Events held on 3rd February 2021 Appendix D 

iv) Strategy and Finance held on 2nd March 2021   Appendix E 

8 Planning and Licensing Applications   (Pages 87 - 132) 

 To receive the minutes of the Planning & Licensing Consultative Group meetings held on 1st 

and 15th February and 1st March 2021  at Appendices F, G, and H. 

Part 2 - Items to Note 

 

9 Actions taken under the Scheme of Delegation    

10 Reports from Other Councils    

 To receive from Councillors any updates on matters affecting Farnham from Waverley 

Borough Council and Surrey County Council. 

11 Reports from Outside Bodies    

 To receive from Members any verbal reports on Outside Bodies where they represent 

Farnham Town Council. 

12 Date of Next Meeting    

 To note the date of the next meeting as Thursday 29th April 2021.  Also to note that Mayor 

Making may move from Thursday 13th to Thursday 20th May assuming Step 3 of the Covid-19 

Roadmap progresses as hoped to allow for a physical rather than virtual ceremony to take 

place. 

13 Exclusion of the Press and Public    

 TO PASS A RESOLUTION to exclude members of the public and press from the meeting at 

Part 3 of the agenda (if required) in view of any confidential items under discussion by virtue 

of them being relevant confidential staffing matters, contract matters or legal proceedings. 

Item 3 - Confidential Items 

 

14 Any confidential matters (if required) arising from discussions 

of the Working Group notes.   

 

 

Council Membership: 

Pat Evans (Mayor), Alan Earwaker (Deputy Mayor), David Attfield, David Beaman, Roger Blishen, 

Carole Cockburn, Sally Dickson, Paula Dunsmore, Brian Edmonds, John "Scotty" Fraser, 

Michaela Wicks, George Hesse, Andy MacLeod, Michaela Martin, Mark Merryweather, Kika Mirylees, 

John Neale and John Ward 

 

 

Page 4



 

 
 
 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

 

 
 

Minutes 

Council 
 

Time and date 

6.30 pm on Thursday 21st January, 2021 
 

Place 

Remote meeting held by Zoom 
 
Councillors 
 
Councillor Pat Evans (Mayor) 
Councillor Alan Earwaker (Deputy Mayor) 
Councillor David Attfield 
Councillor David Beaman 
Councillor Roger Blishen 
Councillor Carole Cockburn 
Councillor Sally Dickson 
Councillor Paula Dunsmore 
Councillor Brian Edmonds 
Councillor John "Scotty" Fraser 
Councillor Michaela Wicks 
Councillor George Hesse 
Councillor Andy MacLeod 
Councillor Mark Merryweather 
Councillor Kika Mirylees 
Councillor John Neale 
Councillor John Ward 
 
Apologies for absence 
Michaela Martin 
 
Officers Presents: 
Iain Lynch, Town Clerk 
 
There were 3 members of the public in attendance. 
 
Prior to the meeting, prayers were led by Revd Michael Hopkins of the Spire Church. 
 
A presentation was made by Hannah Dix, Chief Executive of Creative Response on the work carried out 
by Creative Response in Farnham in supporting vulnerable adults of all ages with mental health issues.  
She outlined the extra work Creative Response had undertaken during the pandemic and the support 
several organisations had provided to enable them to reconfigure a remote service – ‘Reconnect’. 
 
Councillors commended Creative Response for the valuable work being undertaken and offered to 
continue to support its evolution at this difficult time. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
C126/20 Apologies 

Cllr Martin 
 

C127/20 Disclosures of Interest 
 
There were no disclosures of interest beyond those for dual and triple hatted-councillors 
 

C128/20 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10th December were approved as a correct record. 
 

C129/20 Questions and Statements by the Public 
 
Cllr Jerry Hyman (Waverley BC) spoke of the new housing numbers published in December 
which allocated an additional 1971 homes to Waverley with a consequent impact on 
Farnham of 650.  He asked whether FTC considered it time to impose a limitation on 
housebuilding to protect Farnham. 
 
In response, Cllr MacLeod advised that Cllr Hyman was right under the new standard 
calculation method but that the numbers would not apply until 2023 and the Local Plan 
revision (every five years) would also come into play.   
 
The Mayor thanked Cllr Hyman for his question and confirmed the matter would be 
considered by the Infrastructure Planning Group.  
 

C130/20 Town Mayor's Announcements 
 
The Mayor provided an update since the last meeting.  In between the new lockdown had 
been implemented with increased restrictions and the vaccination programme had 
commenced. Locally the community owed its grateful thanks to the NHS and also to 
volunteers at the vaccination centre at Farnham Hospital who were also being supported by 
FTC staff. 
 
The Mayor extended condolences to the family of Brian Pittuck who had led the Farnham 
Walks for many years and was remembered for his contribution to the Farnham community. 
 

C131/20 Questions by Members 
 
There were no Questions by Members. 
 

C132/20 Reports from Working Groups 
 

C133/20 Strategy & Finance 
 
Cllr Neale introduced the notes of Strategy & Finance Working Group held on 12th January, 
at Appendix B to the agenda. 

1) Strategy & Finance had considered a full range of financial documents for Income and 

Expenditure at the 9th month stage noting that income with additional grants was 

just above target, whilst expenditure with reduced events and activities was running 

at just over 60% with savings on the staffing budget as well as service area and that 

there was forecast to be an underspend overall in the current year. 

Page 6



 
 

 

 Council noted the position in terms of investments and reserves ahead of discussing 
the precept requirement for the year ahead later in the agenda. 

 
2) Cllr Neale advised that no councillors has made any suggestions for the draft 

Licensing Policy, and Cllr Hesse advised that any comments could be made direct to 
Waverley Borough Council by twin-hatted councillors. 
 

3) Cllr Neale highlighted the steps that the Town Council makes in terms of meeting 

transparency requirements and that details were both on the Council’s website and 

in the Councillors’ handbook.   

Task Groups 
1) Cllr Cockburn reported on the draft supportive letter in response to the Local Plan 

Part 2 attached at Annex1. Whilst there were concerns, the juxtaposition with the 

Neighbourhood Plan was key and the test was of one of ‘soundness’.  There was still 

time for additional comments from councillors but the draft was agreed. 

2) Cllr Attfield reported on the Assets Task Group and provided an update on matters 

being progressed which were set out in the agenda.  There had been a significant 

water leak in the council offices which was being dealt with by the insurer’s loss 

adjuster. 

3) In terms of the Younger People Task Group, it was noted that a meeting was 

scheduled with Waverley Borough Council over a site for a new Youth Shelter on 

Borelli Walk. 

4) Cllr Neale introduced the proposal for a Cultural Task Group which would look at 

options for a suitable iconic attraction for Farnham as part of the Brightwell’s 

Scheme or elsewhere which could complement the World Craft Town status. It was 

suggested that the Task Group comprise representatives of Waverley Borough 

Surrey County and Farnham Town Councils and a series of relevant external inputs 

including the Director of the Crafts Study Centre, the recently retired Managing 

Director of the Philharmonia Orchestra, the Director of the Farnham Maltings and 

the President of World Crafts Council. 

It was RESOLVED unanimously that a new Cultural Task Group be created to 
look at options for a suitable iconic attraction for Farnham as part of the 
Brightwell’s Scheme or elsewhere which could complement the World Craft 
Town offer. 
 
 

C134/20 Farnham Infrastructure Programme. 
 
Council noted that Chris Tunstall, Programme Director at Surrey County Council, and 
Jonathan Foster-Clark, Alkins, had been invited to attend the Strategy & Finance meeting to 
provide an update on the programme.  The Optimised Infrastructure Plan was about to be 
published and would be open for a further period of consultation until mid March. 
 
The OIP would be a multi-modal package that showed how traffic could be better managed 
in the town. It had a balanced approach so that improvements to one area did not create a 
problem elsewhere.  The proposal for an HGV ban had been discussed and Chris Tunstall 
said that it would likely restrict through traffic on an access only basis but  more work 
would need to be done on this in the consultation phase. 
 
Farnham Town Council’s views would be welcomed once the OIP had been published and 
further Local Liaison Forum meetings would be held. 
 

Page 7



 
 

 

C135/20 Other updates from Working Groups 
 
Council noted the following: 

1) The continued support for the Farnham Coronavirus response being managed by 

the Town Council and other partners and the excellent work of the volunteers. 

2) The cancellation of the winter programme of Music in the Vineyard because of the 

ongoing restrictions. 

3) The deferment of the Services to Farnham Awards. 

4) The 30th anniversary of the friendship and twinning with Andernach and the formal 

invitation to the OberBurgermeister to be invited to be involved in marking the 

anniversary (covid restrictions permitting). 

5) Arrangements for the centenary of the War Memorial in Gostrey Meadow. 

 
C136/20 Precept 2021-2022 

 
Cllr Neale introduced the Precept report attached at Appendix C.  He noted that the 
indications were that Waverley would be increasing its precept by 2.7%, Surrey by 2.49% 
and the Police Authority by 5.5%. Farnham Town Council had been delivering excellent value 
for money and been prudent in the way it had managed resources over many years. Council 
noted that Farnham had seen rises less than the average of town and parish councils in each 
of the last six years and its average precept over that time had increased by £8.50 compared 
to the sector average of £15.77.   
 
In December Council approved a reduced gross budget of £1,399,850 and, after 
discretionary income of £204,870 was taken into account, there was a revised net budget of 
£1,194,980, a shortfall of £47,459.  In determining the level of precept Council should 
consider whether it wished to use any of its reserves; increase further the income targets 
for services, or set unallocated in-year savings targets.    These matters had been considered 
in detail by the Strategy & Finance Working Group and it was proposing that the shortfall be 
partly met from reserves (£25,150 ) and partly by a small increase in the precept of 1.94%. 
This would result in a Band D equivalent amount of £67.37 per annum, (just under £1.30 per 
week) for the Farnham element of the Council Tax. 
 
It was RESOLVED nem con with one abstention that the 2021/22 precept be 
£1,169,830 representing a Band D equivalent amount of £67.37. 
 

C137/20 Planning and Licensing Applications 
 
Cllr Edmonds introduced the notes of the Planning & Licensing consultative Group at 
Appendixes D, E and F.  He said that Covid-19 had not affected demands on the Planning 
Group which were extensive but the Consultative Group always tried to be succinct and 
precise in its comments. 
 
Cllr Cockburn highlighted the upcoming Appeal at Lower Weybourne Lane and it was 
agreed that she should represent the Town Council.  Cllr Merryweather expressed gratitude 
to Cllr Cockburn for the considerable contribution she made to planning matters and 
proposed a vote of thanks which was agreed. 
 

C138/20 Actions taken under the Scheme of Delegation 
 
There were no matters to report that had not already been covered. 
 
 

Page 8



 
 

 

C139/20 Reports from Other Councils 
 

1) Cllr Dickson reported that the Waverley Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) Committee 
had discussed the Farnham Museum.  Waverley was focussing on repairs that had 
been outstanding since 2014 and were looking to find funding and the new MEND 
fund. It was hoped that a solution would be found that was fair and equitable. 

2) Cllr Ward added that the Borough was determined to do something useful with the 
building but that consideration was also being given to whether the exhibits and 
building were irrevocably entwined. He noted that the O&S Committee did not have 
any budgetary responsibility and wondered if councils should own Grade 1 listed 
buildings with the obligations that brings. 

3) Cllr Neale advised that the question of the Museum was an issue locally and there 
would be an informal FTC on 11th February. 

4) Cllr Ward reported that the KPMG report commissioned by the District and 
Borough councils as a result of the County Council bid for unitary status had now 
been published. It looked at other options but recommended that areas begin co-
operating on service delivery and joint arrangements now.   

5) Cllr Ward reported on the new Fibre Spine that the Local Enterprise Partnership 
was developing to link Basingstoke and Guildford for a very fast broadband network. 
It has been agreed that it would pass through Farnham and Elstead. 

6) Cllr MacLeod reported on the upcoming County Council elections which were 
progressing as scheduled in May. He also advised that the County Council 
Headquarters had now closed in Kingston and had moved to Reigate. 

7) Cllr Attfield raised the issue of the Library and was concerned that valued assets in 
the town get sold off for the benefit of taxpayers elsewhere.  Cllr Mirylees agreed 
with Cllr attfield and felt that Principal authorities should have a duty of care on 
buildings and how they are used to benefit the local community.  Cllr Hesse raised 
the issue of the Library Garden and how it should be kept with public access even if 
the buildings were repurposed. 

 
C140/20 Reports from Outside Bodies 

 
1) Cllr Cockburn congratulated Daryll Morgan for his OBE and the excellent work that 

he and the Ridgeway School does. 
2) Cllr Cockburn commended the New Ashgate Gallery for the new David mayne 

sculptures that had been unveiled. 
 

C141/20 Date of Next Meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting was agreed as Thursday 11th March at 6.30pm. 
 
 

The Mayor closed the meeting at 8.45pm 
 
 

Chairman 
 
Date 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

B 

 

 

 

Notes 
Community Enhancement Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Wednesday 27th January, 2021 

 

Place 
Held remotely by Zoom 

 

Attendees: 

 

Members: Councillors Alan Earwaker, George Hesse, Michaela Martin and Pat Evans (ex-Officio) 

 

Officers: Iain Lynch (Town Clerk), Iain McCready (Business and Facilities Manager) and Stacey Wills 

(Community Enhancement and Projects Officer) 

 

 

1.   Apologies For Absence 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Apologies were received from Cllr Sally Dickson, Cllr Paula Dunsmore 

 

 

 

 

2.   Election of chair for meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

In the absence of the Lead Member, it was agreed Cllr Hesse would chair 

the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interest 

 

POINTS ACTION 

None received. 

 

 

 

 

4.   Notes of the last meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The notes of the previous meeting were agreed. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

 

5.   Farnham In Bloom 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. Farnham Town Council officers outlined the proposed list of events 

for 2021. Cllr Hesse asked if the events for 2021 were on hold due 

to the pandemic and the current lockdown situation. Officers 

explained that where it was possible events would be arranged 

virtually or online.  

2. It was agreed to support the community groups leaflet, to offer a 

zoom “meet” to the community groups and for the allotment 

lecture. 

 

3. Officers updated the members on the result of the Design a Carpet 

Bed competition which took place with local schools. The winning 

design was by a Year 3 student from South Farnham School and the 

design will be created in a new bed situated between the war 

memorial and the bridge. 

 

4. The Working Group was updated on the progress of the Green 

Flag Awards submission. An external company Idverde was 

preparing the submission on Farnham Town Council’s behalf. 

Despite the progress being slow, officers were confident that the 

deadline would be met. 

 

5. CIL bid element of the Idverde submission had been delayed. Cllr 

Hesse proposed that the submission be delayed until the next 

round of applications. This was agreed by Cllr Martin and Cllr 

Earwaker.  

 

6. Members noted that John Collins who had produced the Farnham In 

Bloom video in recent years has now moved away from Farnham. 

Members agreed a video should be prepared for 2021 and asked 

officers to investigate alternative film makers. 

 

1. Officers to arrange 

the Big Meet and 

allotment lecture on 

Zoom alongside the 

community leaflet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Council notes that the 

CIL bid be submitted in 

the next round of 

applications. 

 

3. Officers to seek 

alternative film makers 

for the 2021 Farnham in 

Bloom video. 

 

 

6.   Allotments 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Members noted that all plots were remapped using GPS last year to ensure 

that nonstandard plots were charged correctly. Most of the larger plots 

were at the Six Bells allotment site. Members noted that payment reminders 

were being sent out and new plots would be allocated to those on the 

waiting list. Winter maintenance such as hedge cutting was ongoing and plot 

holders had been reminded not to encroach on to the footpaths between 

the plots. 

 

The Town Clerk reminded members that Farnham Town Council charged 

an admin fee of £25 for new plots. This charge helped to offset the potential 

loss of rent which can occur when plots become vacant.    

 

 

 

 

7.   Street Furniture 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group were informed that a kind donation of £700 has been 1. Officers to arrange 

Page 12



 

 

 

offered by Richard Pettigrew, a former Farnham resident who now lived in 

the USA. Members agreed that a good quality specimen tree with a hand-

crafted metal guard to protect it from vandalism should be planted in 

Gostrey Meadow. 

 

No outstanding graffiti issues.  

 

Cllr Hesse asked if new trees would be more appropriate than the sculpture 

which has been previously agreed on the land between the Maltings and the 

Churchill Retirement flats. The Town Clerk advised this was a matter for 

the Task Group that had recently been appointed. 

 

 

Councillors were pleased with the recently installed Dibond wrap of the 

electrical substation near Robert Dyas noting that one element needed to 

be repaired. 

 

Officers advised that a bin had been requested at Hale Recreation Ground 

and this request had been forwarded to Waverley to action. Cllr Hesse also 

asked that officers raise the problem of the bin doors swinging open.  

 

Members were informed that the bus stops would be cleaned in the Spring. 

 

the purchase and 

installation of the tree 

for Richard Pettigrew. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Officers to raise the 

issue of bin doors 

swinging open with 

Waverley. 

 

 

 

 

8.   Finance update 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Members received an update on the finances, noting that as previously 

reported income was down and expenditure was reduced. 

 

Officers confirmed that there was capacity within the budget to do 

specimen tree planting.  The Working Group noted that funds were 

earmarked for the public conveniences refurbishment. Officers confirmed 

that a surveyor’s report was expected in the next few days.  

 

Members noted that the refurbishment of the Gostrey Conveniences had 

been postponed through the process of acquiring Gostrey Meadow from 

Waverley and possible plans to re - site the toilets and the play area.  

 

It was noted that the funds were allocated for all public conveniences not 

just Gostrey Meadow. 

 

 

1. Officers progress 

additional tree planting 

funded from the  

2020/21 budget. 

1.  

A

d

d

i

t

i

o

n

a

l

  

 

 

 

9.   Famous Names 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group were informed about the need to clarify the criteria 

for deciding those nominated for the Famous Names Wall. The Working 

Group noted the history of the listing started by the Farnham in Bloom 

Group in 1985. 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

1. The revised 

criteria for inclusion 

Page 13



 

 

 

 

Those nominated must fall into three of the four following criteria: - 
 

• They must either be born, lived for a significant period of time or 

died in Farnham. 

• They must have contributed to the local community of Farnham in a 

remarkable 

way. 

• Their achievements will or have outlived them. 

• Their achievements are nationally or internationally renowned.  
 

Members agreed to recommend to Council that the criteria for the Famous 

Names Wall be updated. Members also agreed to endorse the nomination 

for Sir John Verney MC Bt. 

 

 

onto the Famous 

Names Wall be 

adopted.   

 

2. Sir John Verney 

MC Bt. to be added 

to the list of Famous 

Names. 

 

 

10.   Specimen / Semi mature tree planting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. Members considered a report on the proposed tree planting of semi-

mature specimen trees on land which Farnham Town Council had recently 

acquired from Waverley. The need to plant more trees was agreed along 

with handcrafted forged tree guards to support Farnham’s World Craft City 

status.  

2. Officers advised that there would be a mix of British Native Trees along 

with Japanese Acers to provide substantial visual interest. 

3. Cllr Hesse reminded members of the request that the memorial bench in 

Gostrey Meadow, which was made by an UCA student, be moved to the 

Evelyn Borelli garden. 

 

Recommendation to 

Council:  

1. That the Gostrey 

Memorial bench be 

moved to the Evelyn 

Borelli Garden. 

 

2. The Working Group 

agreed to allocate £3000 

of the 2020/21 budget 

on planting trees in 

Gostrey Meadow, Evelyn 

Borelli Garden and 

Battings Garden, with an 

additional £2000 for 

protective tree-guards. 

 

 

11.   Items for Future Meetings 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. A tree stump beautification competition was suggested as a possible 

Farnham in Bloom project.  

 

2. Rewilding in parts of Farnham.  

(Officers confirmed that there had many wildflower areas added over the 

years and a new section would be seeded in a recently cleared area in 

Haren Gardens. The health and safety aspects of keeping grass long still 

restricted wild areas in cemeteries. However, there was a large wildflower 

section creating a green corridor to Bishop’s Meadow in West Street 

Cemetery).  

 

1. Officers to prepare 

ideas on how such a 

competition might work. 

2. Officers to review 

options for rewilding 

where it was 

appropriate management 

of open space. 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

 

 

 

12.   Date of the next meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

24 March 2021 at 9.30am. 

 

 

 

 

 

The meeting ended at 11.00 am 

 

 

Notes written by Stacey Wills 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

C 

 

 

 

Notes 
Cemeteries and Appeals Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Thursday 28th January, 2021 

 

Place 
Held remotely by Zoom 

 

Attendees: 

 

Members: Councillors Carole Cockburn (Lead Member), David Attfield, Alan Earwaker, 

John "Scotty" Fraser, Kika Mirylees, John Neale and Pat Evans (ex-Officio) 

 

Officers: Iain Lynch (Town Clerk), Iain McCready (Business and Facilities Manager) and Adrienne Owen 

(Cemeteries and Memorials Administrator) 

 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 

POINTS ACTION 

No apologies were received. 

 

 

 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest 

 

POINTS ACTION 

None received.  

 

 

 

 

3.   Minutes of the previous meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The minutes of the last meeting held on the 24th September were agreed. 

 

 

 

 

4.   Recent Appeals 

 

POINTS ACTION 

A family who had been invited to appeal in person were not able to attend 

the meeting and will be invited to the next scheduled meeting,. 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

A



 

 

 

Cllr Neale left the meeting at 9:55am 

 

 

5.   Hale Chapels 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group discussed the report from West Waddy Architects on 

the project they had undertaken in Henley by turning a chapel into a 

Columbarium for ashes caskets. Officers informed the group on the recent 

meeting with the Hales Chapels Trust and proposed the idea of keeping one 

of the Chapels and part demolishing the other which had been discussed by 

the Working Group at the last meeting.  The Trust were open to the ideas 

set out but would like a wider consultation with Hale residents at the 

appropriate. 

The Working Group asked officers to instruct West Waddy Architects to 

revisit the proposals and provide costings for the following: 

• To retain one or both Chapels for Columbaria 

• To retain one of the Chapels and part demolish the other and turn 

into a landscaped garden. 

• To demolish both chapels 

 

Recommendation: 

Officers to instruct 

West Waddy Architects 

to provide costings for 

the Hale Chapels in line 

with the Working 

Group’s ideas. 

 

 

6.   Maintenance of the Cemeteries 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group noted the work the Outside Workforce had been 

undertaking in the Cemeteries over the winter period with the planting of 

thousands of bulbs within all cemeteries and the planting of 1,000 white 

flowering bulbs in the Garden of Reflection. 

Officers informed the Working Group of the work John Cooksley of Old 

Kiln Forge had started in Green Lane Cemetery with work on the 

perimeter railings repairs. 

 

 

 

 

7.   Cemetery Regulations 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group noted the recent work undertaken by officers in 

managing the Council’s regulations within the Cemeteries. Officers asked 

the Working Group to agree to include the following into the Rules and 

Regulations as they were not currently listed. 

• A child memorial headstone for a child plot to be in proportion to 

the size of the grave. 

• A child grave space to be 6’0” x 3’0” (1.8m x 0.9m) 

 

Recommendation: 

Council to adopt the 

two additions to the 

Rules and 

Regulations 

regarding children's 

grave sizes. 

 

 

8.   Memorial Update 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group noted the progress of the memorial management 

within the Cemeteries. 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



 

 

 

 

 

 

9.   Financial update and a review of current fees. 

 

POINTS ACTION 

This item was deferred to the next scheduled meeting. 

 

 

 

 

10.   Items for future meetings 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group requested the report on Columbaria for West Street 

Cemetery showing costs be produced for the next scheduled meeting. 

 

The Business and 

Facilities Manager to 

action. 

 

 

11.   Date of the next meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The next scheduled meeting will be on the 1st April 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

The meeting ended at 12.00 pm 

 

 

Notes written by  Iain.McCready@farnham.gov.uk 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

D 

 

 

 

 

Notes 
Tourism & Events Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Wednesday 3rd February, 2021 

 

Place 
To be held remotely via Zoom - Zoom Remote Meeting 

 

Attendees: 

 

Members: Councillors Alan Earwaker (Lead Member), David Beaman, Roger Blishen, Kika Mirylees, 

Michaela Martin and John Neale 

 

Officers: Iain Lynch (Town Clerk) and Oliver Cluskey (Events Manager) 

 

 

 

1.   Apologies 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Evans and Beaman. Cllr Beaman and the 

Town Clerk arrived at the start of agenda item 5. 

 

 

 

 

2.   Disclosures of Interests 

 

POINTS ACTION 

None were made. 

 

 

 

 

3.   Notes of the last meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The notes of the last meeting held on Wednesday 4th November 2020 were 

agreed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

B



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.   Walking Festival 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Members heard guest speaker and founder of the walking festival Chris 

Shepherd suggest a self-led ‘virtual’ walking festival due to the uncertainty 

around COVID-19. Members agreed that FTC would promote May as a 

walking month using routes that had been written previously by walk 

leaders. These would be collated by the Events Manager and promoted on 

the FTC website. Members noted that there may be a cost to updating the 

website.  

 

Members thanked Chris Shepherd for his input and suggestions before he 

left the meeting.  

 

Cllr Beaman and Town Clerk joined the meeting. 

 

 

Events Manager to 

progress Walks Festival 

as discussed and update 

website. 

 

5.   Recent events 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. Christmas Beacons of Light 

Members all agreed that the beacons of light event achieved the goal 

of bringing the community together in lockdown. Members 

discussed the social media impact and comments they had received 

from the public. The Events Manager informed Members that FTC 

had gained £1,500 in sponsorship towards Christmas activities 

which covered the cost of the lights. Members agreed to discuss the 

possibility of repeating the event but were warned that the lights 

would need to be booked in advance to guarantee availability. It was 

agreed to discuss at a future meeting. 

 

2. Christmas Trail 

Members were informed that the Christmas trail in the Town 

Centre had been completed by 83 families which was more than 

many Cities that had taken part. With uncertainty over lockdown it 

was agreed the decision to do the Easter trail would be made by 

Cllr Earwaker and Officers before the next meeting subject to 

covid-19 restrictions. 

 

3. Late night shopping 

The support by FTC was welcomed by retailers and the live 

musicians went down well. It was noted that many of the larger 

stores and nationals did not participate which may have been down 

to the last-minute nature of the events due to COVID lockdown 

uncertainty. The retailers prize draw that FTC supported was a 

success and an article was written in the Herald. 

 

4. Farmers market with craft 

The addition of 10 craft stalls to the farmers’ market was successful 

with all stallholders reporting good sales. The Events Manager 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

prepare proposal for 

future meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

discuss Easter Trail with 

Cllr Earwaker mid Ma           

rch 

 

Page 22



 

 

 

informed members that there were many local makers eager to sell 

at future Farmers’ markets when permitted. 

 

 

 

6.   Future events and projects 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. Music in the Vineyard 

The 4 events that had been scheduled for the Maltings were 

cancelled at the beginning of January due to the rise in infection rate 

and the covid-19 restrictions.. 

 

2. 2021 summer events programme 

Music in the Meadow 

Members agreed that Music in the Meadow should be organised in 

the same manner as 2020 with socially-distanced bubbles and pre-

registered tickets via eventbrite. Members agreed that tickets would 

be scheduled weekly rather than all at once. 

Sustainability Festival 

The Events Manager informed members that the Sustainability 

Festival was already in the process of being organised with Farnham 

Community Farm. Members agreed that it would also be a ticketed 

event and that tickets would have scheduled entry times. Talks 

would be online only. 

Carnival 

Members were informed that the Lions had cancelled Carnival and 

Beerex.  The Picnic in the Park event would be targeted as a Young 

people’s showcase. 

 

3. September food and drink festival 

Gin Festival 

With so much uncertainty over COVID, Members agreed to discuss 

the Gin and Fizz festival at the March meeting. The Events Manager 

informed members that The Maltings had been provisionally 

booked. 

Food Festival 

Members agreed to go ahead and send application forms out to 

stallholders. 

 

4. October Craft Month 

Members were informed that a new craft coordinator was currently 

being sought.  The project would again be organised in conjunction 

with the Farnham Maltings. 

 

5. Literary Festival 

The Working Group confirmed previous discussions and were keen 

to launch a Farnham Literary/Book Festival. After discussion, 

members agreed to discuss further at next meeting and that the 

Events Manager would prepare a report with the event targeted 

around World Book day 2022.  The Lockdown Poetry Festival 

organised by Revd Lesley Crawley could potentially be 

incorporated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

progress 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

progress 

 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Events Manager to Book 

Food Festival Stalls. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

prepare report and 

outline proposal for 

2022 Literary Festival. 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

 

7.   Review of risk assessment 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Members approved the content of the Risk assessment but agreed that a 

COVID-19 element needed to be added. 

 

Events Manager to 

ensure COVID element 

is added to Risk 

assessment 

 

 

8.   Business update 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1) BID  

The Events Manager reported that Eddie Pearce who was leading 

the BID process had identified and spoken with 7 local businesses 

who had agreed to join the relaunched BID committee. There were 

still additional spaces left to be filled by retail. An article on the BID 

was planned for the next business leaflet and a target of March/April 

2022 for the vote was discussed. 

 

2) Town Centre support 

The next business leaflet was being planned and would include the 

BID and the Farnham Infrastructure Plan consultation. 

 

3) Farnham Infrastructure programme 

Members were informed by the Leader that the Optimised 

Infrastructure Plan documents were due to be published for 

consultation. 

 

4) Makers Spaces 

The Working Group noted that FTC had been approached by a 

company that was looking for space to create a ‘makers’ yard. A 

meeting was due to take place that afternoon. The Events Manager 

would report back to the next meeting. The Working Group noted 

this could be a positive addition to the local economy. 

 

5) We are Farnham 

The Working Group noted that weekly update meetings had been 

arranged with ‘we are locals’ who manage the site and project. 

There was some disappointment at the pace of the site growth but 

members agreed a lot had been achieved in a short space of time 

and through lockdown. 55 traders were registered with 18 on the 

site and 6 due to go live imminently. 

 

6) RHSS 

Members were informed that £36,264 of the £38,994 allowance had 

been claimed. The Town Clerk spoke of the bureaucracy involved 

with the claim but the financial contribution had been very 

welcome. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Events Manager to 

report back to Members 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

 

 

9.   Sponsorship 

 

POINTS ACTION 

Members discussed the impact of COVID-19 on sponsorship and that it had 

been scaled back in the budget. Talks with companies were ongoing for 

events that were likely to go ahead. 

 

 

 

 

 

10.   Budget 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Town Clerk reported that whilst income had dropped, so had 

expenditure so there was no concern with the current balance. A cautious 

approach to 2021-22 should be taken. 

 

 

 

 

11.   Date of next meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The next meeting scheduled for 24th March now clashed with Community 

Enhancement who changed their meeting date. A new meeting of Tuesday 

23rd March at 9.30am was suggested and subsequently confirmed. 

 

 

 

 

 

The meeting ended at 11.15 am 

 

 

Notes written by  Oliver.Cluskey@farnham.gov.uk 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

E 
 

 

 

Notes 
Strategy & Finance Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Tuesday 2nd March, 2021 

 

Place 
Remote meeting by Zoom 

 

Attendees: 

 

Members: Councillors John Neale (Lead Member), David Attfield, David Beaman, Roger Blishen, 

Brian Edmonds, Mark Merryweather, Carole Cockburn, Sally Dickson, Alan Earwaker and Pat Evans (ex-

Officio) 

 

Officers: Iain McCready (Business and Facilities Manager) and Iain Lynch (Town Clerk) 

 

 

1.   Declarations of interest 

 

POINTS ACTION 

In addition to declarations of interest by double and triple hatted councillors 

the following declarations were made: 

1) Councillor Cockburn in relation to the item on Gostrey Meadow as 

a Trustee of the Ridgeway School 

2) Cllr Beaman in relation to grants for Hoppa, Creative Response, 

Homes for Farnham and Hale Recreation Ground Committee 

3) Cllr Merryweather as Portfolio holder for Assets at Waverley 

Borough Council in relation to Gostrey Meadow and Tice’s 

Meadow. 

4) The Mayor in relation to grants for Hale Community Centre and 

the Farnham Maltings 

5) Cllr Hesse in relation to a grant for Homes for Farnham. 

 

 

 

 

2.   Minutes of the last meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The minutes of the meeting held on January 12th  were agreed.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27

C



 

 

 

3.   Finance report 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1 The Town Clerk introduced the Finance report. The Budget 

Comparison at Appendix B was discussed, noting the outturn would 

be in surplus as a result of the additional grants received, the 

management of activity budgets to reduce expenditure during the 

year along with reduced activity because of Coronavirus, and the 

management of vacancies.  Discussion took place on options to 

invest further in the Local Authority Property Fund or a longer term 

savings investment but it was agreed not to recommend doing so at 

this time. The Town Clerk would be keep the investments under 

review to ensure risk was managed. 

2 The Working Group received and discussed the Investment Strategy 

2021/22 at Annex 1 to these Minutes and agreed to recommend it 

for adoption to Full Council.  

3 The list of Direct Debits for approval was deferred to the next 

meeting. 

4 The Working Group received a request from the Trustees of the 

Wrecclesham Community Centre to waive the second half of the 

year’s rent given the ongoing closure as a result of Covid-19.  It was 

agreed to recommend this to Council and to remind the 

Community Centre about the potential for a grant via WBC for the 

Business Rates. 

5 The Working Group noted the latest BACS and cheque payments 

were available for inspection 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

i) The Investment 

Strategy 2021/22 

at Annex 1 to 

these Minutes be 

adopted. 

ii) The 2020/21 rent 

for the 

Wrecclesham 

Community 

Centre be waived. 

 

 

 

4.   Grants 2021/22 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group received the Grants Report at Appendix F to its 

agenda and discussed elements of the proposals.  It was noted that there 

were some remaining funds in the 2020/21 budget allocation for projects 

that had not gone ahead as a result of Coronavirus.  

 

The funding proposed was as follows: 

 Service level agreements:   £52,500 

 In year community grants:   £17,500 

 Small Grants (in year allocation)  £2,000 

 Grants funded from other budgets:  £4,500 

 

It was also noted that where there were proposals for contributions to 

projects with significant costs, these would be pledges contained within the 

earmarked reserves until the funds were required (as happened with the TS 

Swiftsure allocation). As a result of a query from Cllr Edmonds, it was 

agreed that the listing of the allocated grants on the website should be 

reviewed.   

 

In discussion about the larger grants allocated under light touch Service 

Level Agreements, it was agreed that these should be reviewed in 2021.  

These relate to the following organisations: 

 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

1) The 2021/22 

Grants at Annex 2 be 

approved; 

2) Any pledges for 

projects not yet 

confirmed be 

retained in 

earmarked reserves; 

3) The Town Clerk 

allocate funding from 

202/21 to maximise 

support for the 

agrees applications; 

and 

4) A review of the 

organisations 

supported by Service 

Level Agreements be 

undertaken in 2021. 

 

Page 28



 

 

 

Farnham Maltings (£13,000), Citizens’ Advice (£17,500), 40 Degreez 

(£2,000), Hale Community Centre (£1,000), Hoppa Community Transport 

in Farnham (£10,000), Brightwells Gostrey Centre (£10,000). 

 

The Working Group agreed that to recommend to Council that the 

Community Grants (totalling £20,350) and specific grants funded from other 

budgets (totalling £4,000) attached at Annex 2 to these minutes be 

approved. 

 

 

5.   Appointment of Internal Auditor for 2021-2024 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group received a report at Appendix G to its Agenda on the 

appointment of a new Internal Auditor following an external tender.  The 

purpose of internal audit is to review and report to the authority on 

whether its systems of financial and other internal controls over its activities 

and operating procedures are effective. The internal audit function must be 

independent from the management of the financial controls and procedures 

of the authority which are the subject of review and be competent. 

 

Farnham Town Council contacted seven Internal Auditors, four of whom 

were unable to take on new clients and three provided quotations.  After 

assessment, the Working Group agreed to recommend the appointment of 

Mike Platten of Farsight Consulting for an initial period of three years.  The 

Internal audit process would be driven by the 12 controlled objectives of 

the internal audit section of the Annual Governance and Accountability 

Return (AGAR) and take place over three or four visits each year. 

 

 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

Mike Platten of 

Farsight Consulting 

be appointed as 

Internal Auditor for 

an initial period of 

three years. 

 

 

6.   Risk Management Report 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Risk Management report at Appendix H to the agenda was discussed 
and agreed for adoption by Council.  Each year, the Council reviews a range 

of risks affecting the organisation in each of the service areas and as a 

corporate body.  It is assisted in its task by a number of advisors including 

the Internal and External Auditor and by Ellis Whittam the Council’s HR and 

Health and Safety advisors.  This report deals with the whole range of risks 

and builds on work already undertaken by the individual Working Groups in 

the autumn cycle.  One additional element addressed during the year 

related to extra precautions and requirements for Covd-19 precautions.  

The revised report for Council is attached at Annex 3 to the Strategy & 

Finance Notes. 

 

 It was noted that the latest Ellis Whittam Risk Assessment visit had taken 
place and that there was only one action highlighted.   
 
The Working Group also reviewed the  Fire Safety Policy, Health & Safety 
Policy and Environmental Policy and agreed to recommend them to Council 
for re-adoption. 
 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

1) The Risk 

Management report 

for 2020/21 at Annex 

3 be adopted. 

2) The Updated Fire 

Safety, Health & 

Safety and 

Environmental 

Policies at Annex 3 b, 

c, d be adopted. 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

 

 

7.   Review of Council Policies i) Standing Orders 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1) The Working Group considered a report at Appendix I which was 

the regular review of Standing Orders and a proposal to streamline 

the Governance arrangements of how the Council operates in 

terms of the Working Group Structure and the number of 

meetings. 

 

2) The Standing Orders had been reviewed in 2019 based on the 

National Model Standing orders published by the National 

Association of Local Councils.  In the review, matters which had 

emerged as a result of remote meetings and issues raised by 

councillors, such as the timescale for Members’ Questions and the 

volume of meetings were considered.   

 

3) The Working Group noted that there had been numerous examples 

around the country where members of the public or councillors 

have had to be excluded from meetings where offensive, defamatory 

or political material has been shown or where disruption to 

meetings has taken place.  As a result, it agreed to recommend an 

amended Standing Order 11.1, to allow the temporary (or if 

required) permanent exclusion of a disruptive participant and the 

invoking of Standing Order 7.1(s). 

 

4) In terms of Questions by Members, it was noted that there many 

opportunities during a meeting for Councillors to raise Questions 

during a meeting.  As a result, after discussion on the relevant 

merits of a shorter notice period, it was agreed on the 

recommendation of the Leader and seconded by Cllr Hesse that the 

current Standing Order 9 should be retained without change. 

 

5) The Working Group was aware that questions over the role of the 

Mayor in Chairing meetings of all councillors and the role of the 

Leader had been raised.  It was noted that the responsibilities of the 

Mayor are defined in legislation whereas the role of Leader is a non-

Executive and has the same responsibility as any other councillor in 

a Town or Parish Council without the ability to be given individual 

delegation.  It was further noted that the Executive arrangements 

applicable in Principal authorities did not apply.   

 

6) Councillors highlighted that the original split of the Mayor and 

Leader model at Farnham, where the Mayor carries out a civic and 

ceremonial role and is the impartial Chairman of Council, was 

initially for one year whilst the Leader (if appointed) is the link with 

the Town Clerk on emerging policy matters. If a Leader were not 

appointed, the Council’s Spokesperson would be the Lead 

Councillor for Strategy & Finance.  It was agreed to clarify in the 

Standing Orders that the Leader did not have an executive role. 

 

7) During the current Council there have been several discussions on 

the number of meetings and effective communication.  The Working 

Group considered the current structure whereby all decisions were 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

 

made by Full Council without delegation to individual committees.  

It was noted that if this were to change and there were Committees 

decisions could be delegated and full public access would be 

required in accordance with legislation.  There was concern that 

this would mean councillors would be less aware of decisions being 

made and that communication may be more problematic.  

 

8) A potential revised structure was considered by the Working 

Group, which would have reduced the number of Working Groups 

by one and shared Task Groups between the new Working Groups.  

After discussion, on a proposal by Cllr Beaman, seconded by Cllr 

Attfield, it was agreed to defer consideration of a change in the 

Governance Structure for twelve months and that the Lead 

Members of the Working Groups review the structure in the new 

municipal year. It was agreed that apart from Strategy & Finance 

which would meet each cycle, the other Working Groups would 

meet quarterly, allowing for Task Groups to meet and progress 

projects in between. 

 

9) It was agreed to recommend to Council that: 

i) The Working Groups should continue to operate as they 

are with all decisions made at Full Council;  

ii) The Planning & Licensing Consultative Group continue to 

meet fortnightly to prepare the Council’s response on 

application for submission to the Planning or Licensing 

Authority under delegated authority; 

iii) A review of the governance structure be undertaken in the 

forthcoming municipal year with a Task Group that includes 

the Lead Members of the Working Groups; 

iv) The draft revised Standing orders at Annex 4 be adopted. 

 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

i) The Working 

Groups should 

continue to operate 

as they are with all 

decisions made at 

Full Council;  

ii) The Planning 

& Licensing 

Consultative Group 

continue to meet 

fortnightly to prepare 

the Council’s 

response on 

application for 

submission to the 

Planning or Licensing 

Authority under 

delegated authority; 

iii) A review of 

the governance 

structure be 

undertaken in the 

forthcoming 

municipal year with a 

Task Group that 

includes the Lead 

Members of the 

Working Groups; 

iv) The draft revised 

Standing orders at 

Annex 4 be adopted. 

 

 

8.   Review of Council Policies ii) Comments, compliments and concerns Procedure 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group reviewed the current documentation on how 

members of the public can raise concerns, make compliments, or provide 

comments about Council services.  Cllr Edmonds said that receiving 

complaints can be very valuable in measuring quality of services and it 

should be easy to make representations. 

 

The Policy at Annex 5 is recommended for adoption. 

 

 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

The Comments, 

Compliments and 

Concerns Procedure 

at Annex 5 be 

adopted. 

 

 

9.   Reports from Task Groups 1) Assets 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. The Working Group considered the report at Appendix K from the 

Assets Task Group receiving an update on a range of current 

projects including village gateways, the Hale Chapels, the Gostrey 

 

 

 

Page 31



 

 

 

Play area remedial repairs, the improvement works to the War 

Memorial, the allotment mapping project and the Green Flag 

submission for Gostrey Meadow. 

 

2. In terms of the public conveniences refurbishment, it was noted that 

Drake & Kannemeyer had prepared detailed costings for 

replacement toilets in Central Car park at £300,000.  The Working 

Group agreed that improving the existing toilets across the town 

and promoting the Community Toilet Scheme was the current 

priority and that a refresh from within the existing 2020/21 budget 

allocation should be taken forward. 

 

3. The Working Group noted that the repairs following the leak in the 

Council Offices were almost complete and awaiting the loss 

adjuster decision on replacement carpets.  The opportunity was 

being taken to replace the ceiling lighting with more efficient units 

that produced less glare.  The cost for these was being met from 

the 2020/21 budget at a cost of £2,500 plus fitting. 

 

4. The Working Group noted that the IT Support and Mobile Phone 

contracts were being reviewed and that the Contract Cleaning 

contract currently let to Waverley Borough Council was being 

reviewed with the potential of bringing it back to be carried out by 

Farnham Town Council employees. 

 

5. The Working Group noted that the Ridgeway School architects had 

put forward a proposed alternate site for the café.  The matter was 

deferred for further discussion between the Assets Task Group and 

the school. 

 

Recommendation to 

Council: 

 

 

10.   Reports from Task Groups 2) Infrastructure Planning Group 

 

POINTS ACTION 

1. The Working Group discussed the latest position on the 

Government’s Consultation on the National Planning Policy 

Framework and the proposed Design Code.  Jenny de Quervain was 

compiling the Council’s response which would be submitted after 

the next IPG meeting on Thursday 4th March.   

 

2. The Working Group also received an update on the FTC Design 

Statement and its latest consultation.   

 

3. The Leader updated the Working Group on the Farnham 

Infrastructure Programme and the consultation on the draft 

Optimised Infrastructure Plan which was being consulted on until 

the 14th March.  The Leader agreed to draft a proposed response 

for the Town Council which would be considered by Full Council 

on 11th March.  

 

4. Cllr Cockburn reported on the Farnham Conservation Area 

management Plan meeting on 25th February advising that locations 

were still being sought to reinstall the Farnham Flame. 

 

 

 

Page 32

ftc-clerk01
Text Box



 

 

 

11.   Reports from Task Groups 3) HR Panel 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group endorsed a decision had been made under the Scheme 

of delegation (Town Clerk, Leader, Mayor and Chair of HR Panel) to ‘buy 

back’ leave for some staff who have continued to run services and support 

the coronavirus response under the unusual circumstances of 2020/21.  This 

would avoid issues for staff and the Council (with many staff potentially 

being absent at the same time) with the cost will be met from within the 

2020/21 staffing budget.   

 

 

 

 

 

12.   Reports from Task Groups 4) Cultural Task Group 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group noted progress on the Cultural Task Group for an iconic 
attraction for Farnham and recommends that Council agrees i) to match 
fund the Surrey County Councillors’ contribution (£3,000) from the 2020/21 
Community Initiatives budget and seeks a similar contribution from WBC to 
appoint consultants to prepare the scoping report; and ii) to waive Standing 
Orders Contracts to allow the Town Clerk to appoint suitably qualified 
consultants up to the value of £7,000. 
 

It is recommended 

that: 

1) FTC agrees to 

match fund the 

Surrey County 

Councillors' 

contribution of 

£3,000) and seeks a 

similar contribution 

from WBC to 

appoint consultants 

to prepare the 

scoping report.   

2) FTC waives 

Standing Orders 

Contracts to allow 

the Town Clerk to 

appoint suitably 

qualified consultants 

up to the value of 

£7,000 to carry out 

the scoping report. 

 

 

 

13.   Coronavirus update 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Working Group noted the Government’s latest position on lifting 

lockdown restrictions over the coming months and the implications for 

Farnham Town Council.  It was agreed to open the Council offices after 

Easter (Step 2 the Covid-19 Roadmap); and the impact on forthcoming 

events was noted.  The centenary of the Gostrey Meadow War Memorial 

and its rededication on April 10th was being postponed to Remembrance 

Sunday. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 

 

 

14.   Town Clerk update 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The Town Clerk advised that: 

1) The presentation for the Annual Meeting of electors (brought 

forward to 18th March because of Purdah for the County Council 

elections) was being prepared for discussion with Working Group 

Lead Members.  

2) The Annual Meeting of Council was provisionally being rescheduled 

for 20th May to fit with Step 3 of the Covid-19 Roadmap and 

potentially allow for a physical meeting to be held. 

3) The Services to Farnham Awards may potentially be held in week 

commencing 17th May if the Roadmap progression allows. 

 

 

 

 

15.   Date of next meeting 

 

POINTS ACTION 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday 20th April at 9.30am. 

 

 

 

 

 

The meeting ended at 1.15 pm 

 

 

Notes written by  Town.Clerk@farnham.gov.uk 

 

Page 34



 

Investment Strategy 2020/21 

Farnham Town Council acknowledges the importance of prudently investing all funds held on behalf 

of the community by the Council.   

This Strategy complies with the revised requirements set out in the Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross 

Sectoral Guidance Notes and takes account of the Section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 

2003 and follows guidance in the Practitioners’ Guide (2016)  and MHCLG’s Guidance on Local 

Government Investments. (Revised 2018). 

Investment objectives and practice 

In accordance with Section 15(1) of the Local Government Act 2003 Act, the Council will have 

regard (a) to such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance as the 

Secretary of State may by regulations specify. 

• The Council’s investment priorities are first the security of reserves, second the liquidity of 

its investments and thirdly the rate of return or yield.  

• The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments commensurate with 

proper levels of security and liquidity. 

• All investments will be made in sterling 

• Normally investments will be short term with a maturity of 12 months or less. 

The Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government maintains that borrowing of monies 

purely to invest or to lend and make a return, is unlawful and Farnham Town Council will not 

engage in such activity. 

The Council will monitor the risk of loss on investments by reviewing credit ratings on institutions in 

which it is investing on a regular basis. The Council will only invest in institutions of high credit 

quality. Reference will be made will be made in the assessment of credit worthiness to the general 

economic and political environment in which institutions operate. All significant sources of 

information will be considered including information from the main credit rating agencies including as 

appropriate, Fitch or Moody’s.  

It is recognised that the assessment of risk has changed as a result of the recent economic climate 

but that the Council should aim for ratings (eg Fitch or equivalent short term F1 – long term rating 

A- and viability rating A-).  

Investments will be spread over different providers where appropriate to minimise risk although it is 

recognised that the Council is not eligible to receive protection offered by the Financial Services 

Compensation Scheme. Significant changes in credit ratings will be immediately reported to the 

Town Council and the Town Clerk/Responsible Financial Officer will take action within delegated 

powers to protect Town Council assets. 

The investment position will be reviewed monthly by senior officers and quarterly by the Strategy 

and Finance Working Group. 

Annex 1 
 

Page 35



Where external investment managers are used, they will be contractually required to comply with 

the Strategy.  

The Town Council will encourage specific staff training for treasury management appropriate to the 

Council’s circumstances. 

The Town Clerk/Responsible Financial Officer is the Council’s designated person in investing on 

behalf of the Council and is authorised to deal with administrative matters and give instructions on 

behalf of the Council.  Any investments created or returned must be linked directly to the Council’s 

current account. 

Specified investments 

Specified Investment are those offering high security and high liquidity, made in sterling and with a 

maturity of no more than a year. Such short term investments made with a body or investment 

scheme of high credit quality (including the UK Government or a local authority or town or parish 

council) will automatically be Specified Investments. The Council will only invest in institutions with 

the good credit ratings from approved credit rating organisations.  

For the prudent management of its treasury balances, maintaining sufficient levels of security and 

liquidity, the Council will use: 

• Deposits with banks, building societies, local authorities or other public authorities 

• The CCLA Public Sector Fund – a mutual fund investing in appropriately rated institutions 

• Institutions permitted by specific legislation (eg the Local Authorities Property Fund 

managed by CCLA) 

Non-specified investments 

These investments have greater potential risk – examples include investment in the money market, 

stock and shares.   Given the unpredictability and uncertainties surrounding such investments, the 

Council will not use this type of investment. 

Liquidity of investments 

The Town Clerk/Responsible Finance Officer will determine the maximum periods for which funds 

may prudently be committed so as not to compromise liquidity. 

Investments will be regarded as commencing on the date the commitment to invest is entered into, 

rather than the date on which the funds are paid over to the counterparty. 

Long term investments 

Long term investments are defined in the Guidance as greater than 36 months. 

The Council does not currently hold any long term investments and no long term investments are 

currently envisaged. 

End of year investment report 

Investment forecasts for the coming financial year are accounted for when the budget is prepared. 

At the end of the financial year, the Town Clerk/Responsible Financial Officer will report on income 

from investment activity to the Strategy and Finance Working Group. 

 

Review and amendment of regulations 

The strategy will be reviewed annually and at other times as necessary. The Annual Strategy for the 

financial year will be prepared by the Town Clerk/Responsible Financial Officer and presented for 

approval at Strategy and Finance Working Group and the full Town Council. 

 

Page 36



Publication 

The Investment Strategy will be published and available in hard copy and on the Town Council’s 

website. 

Farnham South Street Trust 

As Trustee of the Farnham South Street Trust, the Council considers the principles of prudent 

management of its finances, are of paramount importance.  The Council will follow the same 

principles for the South Street Trust, and the Investment Strategy will be formally submitted to the 

South Street Trust for adoption.   

 

The bank account of the South Street Trust is also with HSBC, and investments are with Blackrock.   

 

 

2021/22 investment plan 

HSBC is the Town Council’s banker. The majority of funds not required for immediate use are 

currently invested in HSBC Fixed Rate Interest Moneymarket accounts. Rates may vary from day to 

day and have generally been reasonably comparable with other providers of similar products 

although currently the rates are lower matching the Bank of England Base rate at 0.01% and more 

will be held in the Public Sector Deposit Fund and other institutions with slightly better rates. 

Amounts will be invested for up to one year with some funds kept in a call account.  During the 

forthcoming year, the Council will keep under review its banking arrangements and whether a move 

to another provider is advantageous. 

It is considered prudent to plan to spread the financial risk by obtaining facilities at least one other 

major high street bank or building society with high credit ratings in the year ahead.   Currently 

investments are held with The Cambridge and Counties Bank; HSBC, Nationwide Building Society 

and CCLA.  In addition, the Council invests in the Local Authorities Property Fund, managed by 

CCLA.  Although this is technically not a long term fund, it is envisaged that funds will be invested 

for a longer period of time in order to recoup the costs of investments. Dividends are repaid to the 

Council as received in accordance with guidance, any investment in treated as expenditure and 

recorded in the accounts as such.  Any receipt will be treated as income in the year it is repaid.   

In relation to the South Street Trust, it is proposed that the fund managers are reviewed to ensure 

that the income for South Street Trust is optimised.   

The Town Council and senior officers will review the position on a regular basis as set out above 

and take action as appropriate to deal with any change in circumstances. 

The Council has not planned to borrow monies in advance of specific spending needs for 21/22. 

However, a number of projects are proposed where this may be considered if the financial benefits 

are advantageous and, if required, borrowing approval would be sought from the Public Works Loan 

Board (PWLB).  It should be noted that the lead times for PWLB approval have increased over the 

past twelve months. 

Given the level of funds to be invested and the low level of interest rates it is not anticipated that 

the use of private sector treasury management advisors would be utilised.  

Officers responsible for Treasury Management will receive training from time to time as offered by 

the National Association of Local Councils and other appropriate bodies. 

March 2021 

Page 37



Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

1st 

Rowledge 

Guides Post Covid! £1,000 £1,000 £500 

The grant would provide the ability to return to face-to-face 

meetings outside. It would be used to purchase equipment 

for running meetings outside, including an outdoor table, 

benches, patio heater and party tent/marquee. They received 

no income in 2020 and they have an earmarked reserve of 

£2k set aside for storage and camping equipment. 

Grant would enable the group to 

help reinstate face-to-face meetings. 

Some virtual meetings have taken 

place in 2020 but it is difficult to 

offer guiding online. 

Aldershot 

and Farnham 

Hockey Club 

First aid kits for 

hockey teams £1,553.76 £756.96 £500 

39 kits are required but they are applying for funding to 

purchase 19 at £39.84 each. The right kit is needed at each 

match and contain consumables that need replacing. They try 

to make each kit last two seasons so replacing all the kits for 

the new season would ensure they have the kit they need 

until the end of the next season. The Club does not have its 

own pitches and it hires them for training and matches. They 

are in discussion with a Farnham school to use their land for 

a new club house and pitch. An earmarked reserve of £38k 

is set aside for this purpose which they will need to increase 

through fundraising to cover costs.  80% of members are from Farnham.  

Andrew 

Windsor 

Almhouses  

Jubilee Rose 

Arch £650 £450 £450 

The grant would be used to create a Jubilee rose arch to 

celebrate Queen Elizabeth II Platinum Jubilee. It would 

enhance the communal garden, be of benefit to the residents 

who enjoy their garden and be visible from Castle Street. 

The items would be purchased from British suppliers. They 

aim to leave the main blue door open more often and 

provide the draw of a long flowering scented rose arch. 

The almshouses are a central 

feature of Farnham. The project 

would also help the charity raise its 

profile locally. 

Badshot Lea 

Tennis Club 

Tennis Club 

Project 

Improvements  £64,171 £2,000 £2,000 

The project aims to provide better tennis and clubhouse 

facilities for the local community. With good facilities, local 

tennis players would no longer have to travel long distances 

for the facilities they need. The grant would be put towards 

either a new accessible friendly clubhouse or installation of 

LED floodlighting to allow play into the early evening 

throughout the year.  

The planning application for the 

Tennis Club is on the Waverley 

Planning Portal, ref WA/2020/1888. 

P
age 38

ftc-clerk01_0
Text Box
Annex 2




Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

Creative 

Response 

Arts  

Re-connect art 

sessions  £3,190 £1,597 £750 

The grant would help provide 11 weeks (May to July 2021) 

of the Creative Response remote service ‘re-connect’ for 20 

vulnerable adults with mental health issues, learning 

difficulties and substance misuse problems. The online 

sessions would help participants ease back to a 'normal' way 

of life following Covid-19 restrictions. Participants would 

receive an art pack and weekly online arts sessions to help 

them feel less isolated, connect with friends and benefit from 

the arts to aid their wellbeing. Due to health issues, the 

participants are not able to join Covid-secure events at the 

studio. 

Of a total membership of 87, 

approx. 70% are from Farnham. The 

applicant has also applied for a 

South Street Trust Grant for the 

same project where it is 

recommended to award £1500. This 

would give a combined total of 

£2,250.   

Enterprise 

19  

E19 retail space 

and café £100,000 £2,000 £2,000 

Following the successful application for funding last year, 

they would like to develop a retail and café space offering 

retail work experience for young adults with learning 

disabilities (YALD). They are now producing work to sell 

and would like to develop a supportive and community 

selling space. The grant would be used to buy materials and 

tools to enable YALD to design and construct display units 

to gain experience in using tools and completing a project. It 

would also purchase furniture for YALD to refurbish for use 

in the café. Provides a supportive environment to learn with 

a view to progression to external job opportunities in the 

local community. 

Supporting those with disabilities 

and provide opportunity to develop 

work skills. The project would 

benefit 20-25 members of a total of 

40. 30% live in Farnham.  

 

It is noted that the total project 

cost is £100,000 but the application 

states the total cost of the display 

units would be £3,000. 

Farnham 

Biodiversity 

Group CIC 

Biodiversity 

Starter Packs £775.74 £775.74 £750 

To provide a mix of bird boxes, feeders and other wildlife 

accessories to encourage wildlife into community spaces. 

Whiteboards will be provided so sightings can be shared 

between different community groups to generate interest 

and education. To provide certain parishes with starter 

packs, including Space2Grow, Farnham Museum, Farnham 

Community Farm and others. This is expected to be a 2-year 

project ending in December 2022. 

Recommended that the Town 

Council purchases the items on 

their behalf so that the VAT 

element can be reclaimed to 

support the organisation and allow 

best use of funds.  P
age 39



Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

Frensham 

Pond 

Sailability Activity Centre £130,000 £2,000 £2,000 

Contribution towards the construction of an activity centre 

building at Frensham Pond Sailing Club. This comprises a 

fully accessible multifunctional training, welcome reception, 

communications, shelter and safety area for disabled sailors 

and volunteer helpers; plus two much needed accessible 

toilets. Provides supported sailing for people with a wide 

range of disabilities or long-term illness. 

Supporting those with disabilities. 

The project is expected to be 

completed by December 2021. 

Hale 

Recreation 

Ground 

Management 

Committee 

Goalpost 

storage £1,700 £850 £850 

The grant would be used to provide a new secure storage 

box for goalposts in a more accessible location for users of 

the recreation ground. New goalposts acquired in 2016 with 

support from Farnham Town Council are currently stored at 

Hale Institute but this space will soon on longer be available. 

New accessible storage facilities outside Hale Institute are 

proposed. The goalposts are used by a number of youth 

teams of Badshot Lea Football Club and improve storage 

facilities would make use of the recreation ground/goalposts 

more attractive to potential new users. 

There are 100 existing users. 

Supports youth sport and a project 

previously supported. 

Helen Arkell 

Dyslexia 

Charity 

Dyslexia 

Support in 

Farnham £5,700 £1,900 £1,000 

The grant would support a project to run throughout 2021 

to provide free specialist dyslexia assessments and tuition for 

disadvantaged children and adults in Farnham and 

surrounding area from lower-income backgrounds, enabling 

them to build skills, confidence and self-esteem to unlock 

potential to succeed in life. The grant would support local 12 

families and every year they support 1000 people with 

dyslexia. More applications for support received than they 

have funds available and seeing increased numbers from low-

income families in financial difficulty during the pandemic.  

48% of members live in Farnham.  

Third year that the Town Council 

has provided grant support. Over 

last two years, supported 21 

individuals from Farnham. 

Homes for 

Farnham 

Publicity and 

Marketing for 

Co-Housing 

Project (MHOS) £2,000 £1,000 £300 

To produce a professionally designed A4 trifold leaflet to 

describe the concept of a co-housing co-operative and how 

it can meet the housing needs of those in the 'affordability 

gap'. There will be information about how this will work, 

including a call-out to local people to register their interest. 

The cost of leaflet design/print is 

considered to be expensive. 

Amount proposed would cover 

costs.  

P
age 40



Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

Making 

Matters 

Another Brick in 

the Wall £4,050 £2,000 £1,000 

Aim to bring community together after a challenging year to 

create a large-scale public art project and a series of 

installations around Farnham. The grant would extend the 

project to harder to reach groups within the community 

delivering 18 more brick workshops in a range of settings, 

including sports clubs, care homes, special education needs 

schools, sixth form colleges, and the UCA. Each maker 

creates one brick, together the bricks make a whole. Enables 

local people to participate in creative activities to produce a 

large-scale public art project. 

The application states that 400 

residents would take part, 7,500 

would view the work and 33% live 

in Farnham (100% work in 

Farnham).  

Museum of 

Farnham 

Museum of 

Curiosity - 

outreach stand £2,000 £1,000 £1,000 

The grant would be used to develop an outreach stand that 

presents the museum’s collection in a modern and eye-

catching way. It would be a portable stand that could be 

used at local events or other sites. The grant would be spent 

developing and delivering the content for this outreach 

stand. Themed around curiosity, 10-20 museum objects 

would be displayed in unique and interactive ways. No 

immediate information would be provided, with people being 

encouraged to become curious about what an object might 

be, how it was used or who it was used by. 

The application states that 2,000 + 

people would benefit, with 20% 

living in Farnham.  

 

Taking the museum out to the 

community would help share 

displays and encourage more 

visitors to the museum. 

New 

Ashgate 

Gallery Carnival Crafts £4,004 £1,672 £1000 

The grant would be used to provide two events in June 2021 

(on a Saturday/Sunday) to coincide with the Farnham 

Carnival weekend in June. Take away activity bags would 

allow families to produce carnival crafts at home. The 

activities aim to enrich creative learning by facilitating 

interactions between Farnham families and local makers; 

generate excitement and education local families about the 

Farnham Carnival and Craft Town status; and engage, inspire 

and challenge participants to develop their creative style by 

introducing them to a variety of paper crafts. Carnival craft 

activities would provide hands-on craft sessions to 

experience a variety of craft materials while learning about 

the carnival and craft worn through fun creative activities. 

200 residents would be able to 

attend the two activities and further 

50 residents would receive a 

takeaway craft bag. 50% are from 

Farnham. 

 

Dr Outi Remes would still like to 

run the craft sessions even though 

the carnival is not taking place in 

2021. Another theme is being 

considered. 

P
age 41



Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

Rowledge 

Cricket Club 

Disability 

Cricket £3,818 £1,500 £1,500 

The grant would be used to fund disability training sessions 

that would be run in local schools. The grant would assist 

with funding the purchase of specialist equipment, pay for 

training for the coaches, and also towards both venue hire 

and coaches fees. Disability cricket helps to learn how to 

share, build friendships and to play and compete in a sport. 

To support young people with 

disabilities. 50-200 local residents 

would benefit. 80% of the 

membership is from Farnham. No 

other organisations offers disability 

cricket to the local community in 

Farnham. 

Rowledge 

Tennis Club 

Junior Tennis 

Programme 

2021 £4,500 £2,000 £2,000 

The grant would be used to purchase a Rebowall - a tennis 

rebounder to be used by all club members - and secure 

storage unit and tennis ball stock. The club would like to 

grow its junior tennis membership and participation in 2021. 

Encouraging new members to join, use the facilities and play 

an outside sport is important, particularly in a lockdown 

situation. 

200-300 local residents would 

benefit.  

Space2Grow Veg Club £3,600 £1,800 £750 

The grant would support a project run over a year and 

divided into the four seasons of 12 weeks each. Some 

participants may want to attend for just one season, or due 

to mental health issues may struggle to commit to regular 

attendance, whilst others may wish to attend for the entire 

year. They work closely with referrers to make sure 

individual participants needs are always held in mind, whilst 

making sure that sessions are full and funders’ contributions 

are not taken for granted.  Previous attendees have spoken 

about the benefit of being part of a welcoming group, 

learning new skills (both social and horticultural) and the 

satisfaction of watching the fruits of their labours grow into 

food they can then share. It gives people the space to grow 

themselves, sometimes from isolation, loneliness, despair or 

lack of confidence, is the most important aspect of the 

project. 

Up to 15 local residents would 

benefit every week. Would expect 

to reach 50 local residents over the 

course of the year, possibly more. 

95% live in Farnham. 

P
age 42



Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

VC Meudon 

Community 

Amateur 

Sport Club 

Farnham Town 

Centre Cycle 

Races 2021 £12,724 £2,000 £2,000 

They are seeking funding to help cover the costs of 

publicising and staging the 2021 Town Centre Races. For 

2021 they would like to extend the reach of the event to 

include races for U16 boys and girls, giving three children’s 

races - U8; U10 & U12; and U14 & U16 – plus senior men, 

women and an elite race. This would enable more riders of 

different ages and abilities to participate and would increase 

the spectacle for Farnham residents. Most of the 

expenditure would be for mandated traffic management and 

spectator safety barriers. They would link a funder to each 

of the races, e.g. ‘The Children’s Town Centre Cycle Races 

sponsored by Farnham Town Council’. 

Anticipate 200 riders, possibly 33% 

from Farnham. Would like to 

exceed the estimated 1200 

spectators who attended in 2019.  

FTC have ‘sponsored’ the 

Children’s races to date. 

Total    £20,350   

Hale 

Community 

Centre 

Hale 

Community 

Centre £12,518 £2,000 £1,000 

The grant would go towards the cost of an Assistant Centre 

Manger to provide essential support to deliver objectives. 

Covid-19 brought new challenges and need to seek funding 

opportunities to continue to deliver a service for the 

community. 

£1k is earmarked for the 

organisation as a Service Level 

Agreement. Views of the Working 

Group are sought.  

Farnham 

Maltings 

24 Days of 

Giving £4,060 £2,000 N/A 

The grant be used towards the costs of a professional artist 

to work with the group and the group facilitator to produce 

a knitted or crocheted piece(s) for public display around the 

theatre. They aim to increase and diversify membership of 

Nimble Fingers (voluntary knitting and crochet group) to 

enable participants to learn new skills, encourage them to 

work as a collective, rather than individual pieces, and create 

a piece which highlights to organisations and groups to the 

local community with a new organisation celebrated each 

day for 24 days.  

A service level grant is provided and 

additional funding is not normally 

awarded to projects from the same 

organisation.  

 

P
age 43



Organisation Project 
Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

FTC 
Proposal Project Description Officer Comment 

Virtual 

Farnham 

Virtual Farnham 

Website 

Development £6,912 £2,000 £2,000 

The grant would support the redesign and redevelopment of 

the Virtual Farnham website which provides a free service 

for local businesses. The website showcases local 

shops/retailers, provides virtual tours of Farnham and drives 

business and tourism to Farnham and its surrounding 

villages. Developing the website would help to attract future 

sponsorship. 

Recommended to fund as part of 

the Town Council's business 

support work from this financial 

year's high streets fund. This would 

be a contribution to a private 

business that provides a community 

service in the context of Covid-19. 

The Sands 

Church  

The Shepherd's 

Rest Community 

Café £60,000 

Match 

funding if 

possible N/A 

To raise the total cost so as to commence the building early 

in 2021 and to extend café opening times by the spring. To 

organise the offer of community participation with interior 

and exterior tasks. To build a new kitchen, install gas boiler 

and central heating, an accessible toilet. 

Does not meet criteria as not in the 

Farnham Town Council area  

 

The Following have also applied for the Farnham South Street Trust: Creative Response Arts.  
 

Applications to be funded from other budgets: Virtual Farnham (website development). 

 

Organisation Fund from  Provisional allocations 
Virtual Farnham, website development High Streets fund as part of work to support 

local businesses 

£2,000 

VC Meudon Community Amateur Sport Club Tourism and Events £2,000 

 

 

P
age 44



 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 
Report 

Council 

March 2021 

 

Risk Management Review 2020-21 

Introduction 

1 As part of the Accounts & Audit Regulations and Health & Safety At Work Legislation, the Town 

Council is required to maintain an effective programme of risk management and ensure that all 

policies and procedures in place are subject to regular review 

 

2 Each year, the Council reviews a range of risks affecting the organisation in each of the service areas 

and as a corporate body.  It is assisted in its task by a number of advisors including the Internal and 

External Auditor and by Ellis Whittam the Council’s HR and Health and Safety advisors.  This 

report deals with the whole range of risks and builds on work already undertaken by the individual 

Working Groups in the autumn cycle.   

 

Background 

3 Risk is an uncertain event or condition that, if it occurs, will have an effect on the achievement of an 

authority's objectives. Risk management is the process whereby authorities methodically address 

the risks associated with what they do and the services which they provide. The focus of risk 

management is to identify what can go wrong and take proportionate steps to avoid this or 

successfully manage the consequences. Good risk management allows stakeholders to have 

increased confidence in the authority's corporate governance arrangements and its ability to deliver 

its priorities. 

 

4 Risk management is not just about financial management; it is about protecting the achievement of 

objectives set by the authority to deliver high quality public services. The failure to manage risks 

effectively can be expensive in terms of litigation and reputation, and can impact on the ability to 

achieve desired outcomes. The Council generally and members individually are responsible for risk 

management alongside the Town Clerk and staff. 

 

5 Risk management is an ongoing activity that comprises four elements: 

• identifying risks; 

• assessing risks; 

• addressing risks; and 

• reviewing and reporting.  

 

Identifying risks 

6 In order to manage risk, an authority needs to know what risks it faces. Identifying risks is therefore 

the first step in the risk management process. 

7 The specific risks which individual authorities and service areas face varies in accordance with the 

range, nature, complexity and scale of the organisation.   For this reason, each Working Group 

reviews its own risks in the autumn cycle of meetings to identify any key risks to achieving 

successfully priorities and service objectives.  

 

Annex 3 

Page 45



8 There are some overall categories of risks which are covered by Strategy & Finance and Council as 

a whole. 

• financial – loss of money; 

• security – fraud, theft, embezzlement; 

• property – damage to property; 

• legal – breaking the law or being sued; 

• IT – failure of IT systems or misuse; and 

• reputational – actions taken could harm the authority's public reputation. 

 

Addressing risks 
9 Risk is unavoidable, and every organisation needs to take action to manage risk in a way which it 

can justify to a level which is tolerable. The response to risk within the organisation, is called 

͚internal control͛ and may involve one or more of the following standard responses: 

• Tolerate the risk - for risks where the downside is containable with appropriate contingency plans; 

for some where the possible controls cannot be justified (e.g. because they would be 

disproportionate); and for unavoidable risks, e.g. terrorism. 

• Treat the risk - a common response which can mean imposing controls so that the organisation 

can continue to operate; or setting up prevention techniques. 

• Transfer the risk – buying in a service from a specialist external body or taking out insurance. 

Some risks cannot be transferred, especially reputational risk. 

• Terminate the activity giving rise to the risk - it may be best to stop (or not to start) activities 

which involve intolerable risks or those where no response can bring the risk to a tolerable 

level. 

 

10 During 2020-21, Farnham Town Council has undertaken a number of activities to minimise risk.  

These include erecting additional fencing in West Street cemetery, regular inspections of 

cemeteries and allotments, continuing to invest in pathway repairs, removal of dangerous trees, 

investment in training and personal protective equipment for staff and steps to minimise 

reputational risk with the advent of online meetings.  

Farnham Town Council has undertaken significant work in the reduction of risk of infection in 

relation to the Covid-19 pandemic with increased cleaning regimes in the Council Offices, public 

conveniences and the Council Depot, remote working were possible and separation of the officers 

within the building to reduce the risk of infection. A policy of wearing face coverings was adopted 

for Officers moving around the building and remote meeting were possible was also adopted. The 

Outside Workforce adopted a policy of only having two members of staff in a vehicle at any one 

time and face coverings to be worn whether inside the vehicles or outside if in close proximity to 

other members of staff or members of the public.  In addition, there have been new risks managed 

as part of the response to the pandemic supporting both volunteers and the wider community, and 

an increase is precautions with covid-compliant events. 

 

Assessing risks 

11 Through the Working Groups the potential consequences of a risk occurring (the impact) and the 

likelihood are reviewed in a matrix with a Scoring range 1-3 (Low, medium, high). The two factors 

are multiplied to create a combined risk value and specific attention is given to any risk scoring six 

or above. 

Managing risk 

12 Some risks are managed through the Council’s Insurance policies: 

• The protection of physical assets owned by the authority – buildings, furniture, equipment, etc. 

(loss or damage). 

• The risk of damage to third party property or individuals as a consequence of the authority 

providing services or amenities to the public (public liability). 

Page 46



• The risk of consequential loss of income or the need to provide essential services following 

critical damage, loss or non-performance by a third party (consequential loss). 

• Loss of cash through theft or dishonesty (fidelity guarantee). 

• Legal liability as a consequence of asset ownership (public liability). 

 

13 Areas where risk is managed by working with third parties include the following: 

• Security for vulnerable buildings, amenities or equipment (eg Shield Security) 

• Maintenance of buildings, amenities or equipment. 

• The provision of services being carried out under agency/partnership agreements with principal 

authorities. 

• Banking and investment arrangements 

• Ad hoc provision of amenities/ facilities for events to local community groups. 

• Equipment lease or hire where needed 

• Professional services (planning, surveying, arboricultutal, accountancy, legal etc.). 

• Health and safety (Contract with Ellis Whittam for an annual inspection and advice, external 

training for first aid, evac chair etc;  

 

Workplace Health and Safety 

14 Health & Safety risk assessments are an examination of anything in the workplace that could cause 

people to suffer injury or ill health whilst they are at work.   Staff and councillors have individual 

responsibility to avoid risk and report matters or unsafe practices that may give cause to a risk.  

 

 All employers have a legal obligation to carry out risk assessments under The Management of Health 

& Safety at Work Regulations 1999. As well as complying with the legal requirement and having the 

potential to save money, risk assessments are useful in determining: 

1. training programmes 

2. the adequacy of information available  

3. personal protective equipment needs 

4. health surveillance levels  

 

15 Farnham Town Council has an annual General Risk Assessment Report commissioned from Ellis 

Whittam. This report is based on a day-long examination of the systems in place at the Council. 

The key findings of the report after the most recent visit by Jonathan Ely, the Ellis Whittam Safety 

Advisor, on 27th August 2019 are set out below. They include a SWOT analysis and a Safety Action 

Plan with suggested completion dates and a named member of staff responsible for completing the 

item.   

 The number of ‘Actions required’ as a result of the eight surveys since 2011/12 is as follows: 

 No. of Action Points No. requiring 

immediate or short 

term action. 

2011/12 72 5 

2012/13 39 2 

2013/14 13 0 

2014/15 7 1 

2015/16 18 1 

2016/17 29 5 

2017/18 3 0 

2018/19 3 2 
2020/21 1 1 

 

2020 (Chart below) shows the 1 point from the current inspection. Work on this point is being 

undertaken. 

Page 47



Date Priority Sub Point Comment  Action  Completed 

date 

27/10/2020 Low Risk 

Assessment 

To annually 

review Risk 

Assessments. 

Risk Assessment 

review has been 

scheduled and will 

be undertaken 

before date of 

1/05/2021 as set 

down by Ellis 

Whitam 

 

 

16 External contractors undertake the following on behalf of the Council:   

1. Electrical Installations – All buildings are tested every five years for the condition of its fixed 

electrical wiring.  The Council Offices and the Depot are due in 2021, Wrecclesham 

Community Centre, West Street Chapel, Victoria Gardens, Gostrey Meadow toilet block, the 

Hart toilet block and the Central Car Park toilet block are scheduled to be tested again early in 

2020. Portable Electrical Appliance Testing is undertaken annually for those items that require 

testing and periodically in accordance with the type of item as required. 

2. Gas Installations – the boilers at the Council Offices and Wrecclesham Community Centre 

are safety-checked every year.  

3. The Lift at the Council offices is inspected quarterly in accordance with insurance requirements. 

4. Fire – A fire risk assessment was undertaken by an external consultant in December 2011 and 

subsequently in house. 

5. Legionella  Testing takes place annually 

6. Asbestos.  As required 

7. Risk.  The Council reviews risks regularly with its insurers (Zurich) when new areas/activities 

are introduced (eg supporting vaccination testing and the new playground inherited from 

WBC). 

Financial risks and related Issues 

17 The new General Data Protection Regulation has brought in new duties on protecting personal 

data and reporting where lapses occur.  Any such breach is reported to Council. 

 

18 The financial risks of the organisation are considered as part of the independent Internal Auditor’s 

work.  The most recent visit was in December 2019 with the Internal Auditor’s Interim report 

reported to Council in January 2020. The Internal Auditor uses as a basis for his work the latest 

edition of Governance and Accountability – a Practitioners’ Guide to proper practices, and the related 

checklists therein.   Potential loss of income is managed by having adequate reserves in accordance 

with audit guidelines and effective fidelity insurance cover.  There is effective separation of duties to 

ensure that more than one person is involved in financial transactions to minimise the potential risk 

for fraud.  Risks of absence of key personnel for an extended period are covered by the creation of 

process manuals on main areas of activity and work shadowing so other staff are aware of work 

requirements wherever possible and some key personnel insurance cover.  In the event of an 

extended absence of the Town Clerk, locum support is available through the Surrey Association of 

Local Councils and elsewhere.  In recent years, Cyber security has been an increasing issue and 

additional precautions have been implemented both with the Council’s IT support company and 

insurers. 

 

19 The Financial Regulations were reviewed in 2020 and Standing Orders in March 2021. 

 

20 In underpinning the Council’s approach, Farnham Town Council has, attached at Annex B for 

readoption: 

• Health and Safety Policy Statement 

• Fire Safety Management Policy Statement 

• Environmental Policy Statement  

 

Page 48



 

Recommendations to Council 

i) The Risk Management report be welcomed and recommended for adoption; 

ii) The work done by the Working Groups in managing risk be noted. 

iii) The Health and Safety Policy, Fire Safety and Environmental Policy Statements be readopted. 

 

 

 

  

Page 49



 

 (Annex 3a) 

 

 

Farnham Town Council 

Organisation Chart for the Management of  

Health and Safety 2021 
(Health and Safety Management Leads highlighted) 

 

 

 

To
w

n
 C

o
u

n
ci

l &
 W

o
rk

in
g 

G
ro

u
p

s

Town Clerk

Business and 
Facilities 
Manager

Supervisor
Outside Work 

Force

Grounds Team

External 
Contractors

Projects

Community 
Enhancement 

Team 

Cemeteries and 
Memorials

Governance and 
Community 

Engagement 
Manager

Administrator

Customer 
Services  

&
Reception

Events Manager

Planning Advisor

Ellis Whittam

Finance

Page 50



 

Farnham Town Council 

Health & Safety Policy Statement 

Farnham Town Council recognises that it has a legal duty of care towards protecting the 

health and safety of its employees and others who may be affected by the Council’s activities, 

and that managing health and safety is a business critical function. 

In order to discharge its responsibilities Farnham Town Council will: 

• bring this Policy Statement to the attention of all employees; 

• carry out and regularly review risk assessments to identify proportionate and pragmatic 

solutions to reducing risk; 

• communicate and consult with employees on matters affecting their health and safety; 

• comply fully with all relevant legal requirements, codes of practice and regulations at 

International, National and Local levels; 

• eliminate risks to health and safety, where possible, through selection and design of 

materials, buildings, facilities, equipment and processes; 

• encourage staff to identify and report hazards so that all contribute towards improving 

safety; 

• ensure that emergency procedures are in place at all locations for dealing with health 

and safety issues; 

• maintain premises, provide and maintain safe plant and equipment; 

• only engage contractors who are able to demonstrate due regard to health & safety 

matters; 

• provide adequate resources to control the health and safety risks arising from work 

activities; 

• provide adequate training and ensure that all employees are competent to do their 

tasks; 

• provide an organisational structure that defines the responsibilities for health and 

safety 

• provide information, instruction and supervision for employees; 

• regularly monitor performance and revise policies and procedures to pursue a 

programme of continuous improvement; 

• where risks cannot be eliminated they will be minimised by substitution, the use of 

physical controls or, use of personal protective equipment or, as a last resort, through 

safe systems of work 

This Health and Safety Policy will be reviewed at least annually and revised as necessary to 

reflect changes to the business activities and any changes to legislation. Any changes to the 

Policy will be brought to the attention of all employees. 

 

 

 

Signed:                                                                                                  Dated: 1/02/2021 

 
Position: Town Clerk 

Page 51

ftc-clerk01_1
Text Box
Annex 3b 





 

 

Farnham Town Council 

Fire Safety Management Policy Statement 
 

 
It is the policy of Farnham Town Council to ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, that the Council provides and maintains safe and healthy working 
conditions and protects employees, visitors and others so far as is reasonably 
practicable against the risk of fire within our premises. 
 
We believe that this document when combined with individual fire risk 
assessments, emergency plans and evacuation procedures sets out best 
practice standards for an organisation such as ours. 
 
Although the ultimate responsibility for fire safety management rests with the 
Council’s Leader and the Town Clerk, the Organisation’s Health and Safety 
Adviser provides competent advice to the managers of operating units who 
are responsible for the implementation and day to day fire safety management 
of operations within the premises under their control. 
 
Advice on any fire safety management matters can be sought from the Safety 
Adviser, who can also be consulted in the event of an employee being faced 
with a conflict between the demands of fire safety and commercial or 
operational demands.  If such a conflict cannot be resolved by agreement the 
final decision will rest with the Town Clerk. 
 
All employees, volunteers and contractors are reminded that they have a 
personal responsibility for ensuring that fire safety procedures are followed 
and not to obstruct fire exit routes or fire equipment at any time.  They must 
therefore adhere to the fire safety practices of the organisation and co-operate 
fully with any appropriate instructions on any matter relating to fire safety 
management in the workplace. 
 
This policy statement is reviewed annually. 
 
Signed: 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________    
Town Clerk  
 
 Date: 1 February 2021 
 
 
 

Page 52

ftc-clerk01_2
Text Box
Annex 3c




 

Farnham Town Council 

Environmental Policy Statement 

Farnham Town Council recognises that the day-to-day operations can impact both directly and 
indirectly on the environment. The Council aims to protect and improve the environment through 
good management and by adopting best practice wherever possible. Farnham Town Council will 
work to integrate environmental considerations into our business decisions and adopt greener 
alternatives wherever possible, throughout our operations. 

In order to discharge its responsibilities the management will: 

  • bring this Environmental Policy Statement to the attention of all stakeholders 

• carry out regular audits of the environmental management system 

• comply fully with all relevant legal requirements, codes of practice and regulations at 
International, National and Local levels 

• eliminate risks to the environment, where possible, through selection and design of 
materials, buildings, facilities, equipment and processes 

• ensure that emergency procedures are in place at all locations for dealing with 
environmental issues 

• establish targets to measure the continuous improvement in the Council’s 
environmental performance 

• identify and manage environmental risks and hazards 

• improve the environmental efficiency of the Council's transport and travel 

• involve customers, partners, clients, suppliers and subcontractors in the 
implementation of these objectives 

• minimise waste and increase recycling within the framework of the Council's waste 
management procedures 

• only engage contractors who are able to demonstrate due regard to environmental 
matters 

• prevent pollution to land, air and water 

• promote environmentally responsible purchasing 

• provide adequate resources to control environmental risks arising from work activities 

• provide  suitable  training  to enable  employees  to  deal with  their  specific  areas  of 
environmental control 

• reduce the use of water, energy and any other natural resources  

• source materials from sustainable supply, when practicable 

• where  risks  cannot  be eliminated  they  will  be  minimised  by substitution,  use  of 
physical controls or, as a last resort, through systems of work 

This Environmental Policy will be reviewed at least annually and revised as necessary to 
reflect changes to the business activities and any changes to legislation. Any changes to the 
Policy will be brought to the attention of all stakeholders. 

 
 
 
Signed:                                  Dated: 1 February 2021 

 
Position:         Town Clerk 

Page 53

ftc-clerk01_3
Text Box
Annex 3d




FarnhamTown Council

Standing Orders

Notes: 1) Those Standing Orders printed in bold italic type are compulsory and laid down in
Acts of Parliament and Regulations. Standing Orders in bold italic type cannot be
suspended.

2) Words of a masculine gender (eg he/his) also relate to a feminine gender (eg she/her)
throughout this document

Revised and Adopted January 2019March 2021

Appendix E Annex 4

Page 54



FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL

STANDING ORDERS

1 Application, Variation, Revocation and Suspension of Standing Orders

1.1 All meetings of the Council and its Committees, sub-Committees, Working/Task or other
Groups shall be governed by these Standing Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct
unless the Council resolves otherwise.

1.2 Any or every part of the Standing Orders except those printed in bold italic type can
be suspended in relation to any specific item of business by resolution of the Council.
Standing Orders in bold type should not be substantially amended unless
legislation changes.

1.3 A resolution permanently to add, vary or revoke any Standing Order when proposed and
seconded will stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the
Council but Council may review them in total at the last meeting of the Council year or
when a new set of Model Standing Orders is published.

2 Meetings - General

2.1 (FREQUENCY) - In addition to the statutory Annual Meeting of the Council, at least
three other Ordinary Meetings shall be held in each year on such dates and times as
the Council directs. Other meetings of the Council may be held during each year on such
dates and times and in a place that the Council decides but Council will normally adopt a
schedule of meetings for itself and its Committees and Working Groups as early possible.
The Council will normally meet up to 9 times a year.

2.2 (NOTICES) - It is mandatory that 3 clear days notice of meetings shall be given to
Councillors and the public, but the council has decided that formal Notices, Agenda and
supporting papers should normally be dispatched to Councillors one (1) week before all
Council Meetings. When calculating the 3 clear days for notice of a meeting to
Councillors and the public, the day on which notice was issued, the day of the
meeting, a Sunday, a day of the Christmas break, a day of the Easter Break or of a
Bank Holiday or a day appointed for public thanksgiving or mourning shall not count.
Agendas and supporting papers may be sent electronically provided the councillor has consented to
service by email with hard copies sent to members of each meeting and on request to other
councillors.

2.3 The Agenda for each Full Council meeting may also be sent, together with an invitation to
attend, to the County and Borough Councillors for the appropriate divisions or wards.

2.4 (ACCESS) - Meetings shall be open to the public unless their presence is prejudicial
to the public interest by reason of the confidential nature of the business to be
transacted or for other special reasons. The public’s exclusion from part or all of a
meeting shall be by a resolution which shall give reasons for the public’s exclusion.

2.5 (RECORDING) –

2.5.1 Subject to standing order 3(m), a person who attends a meeting is permitted to report
on the meeting whilst the meeting is open to the public. To “report” means to film,
photograph, make an audio recording of meeting proceedings, use any other means

Page 55



for enabling persons not present to see or hear the meeting as it takes place or later
or to report or to provide oral or written commentary about the meeting so that the
report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later to persons not
present.

2.5.2 A person present at a meeting may not provide an oral report or oral commentary
about a meeting as it takes place without permission.

2.5.3 The press shall be provided with reasonable facilities for the taking of their report of
all or part of a meeting at which they are entitled to be present subject to Standing Order
2.4 above.

2.5.4 The filming, reporting, photographing or other reporting of children and vulnerable people
may only be done with the consent of a responsible adult which in the case of a vulnerable
adult is a medical professional, his carer or guardian, and in the case of a child is his parent,
legal guardian or teacher.

2.5.5 Any person participating in the public questions or public statements section of the Council
meeting may be filmed, photographed or included in a report of the meeting.

2.5.6 Any person reporting proceedings is bound by the Data Protection Act 1998 and
subsequent legislation as it applies to personal data of individuals.

2.5.7 Meetings may be recorded by the Council for internal purposes.

2.6 (LOCATION) - Meetings shall not take place in premises, which at the time of the
meeting, are used for the supply of alcohol unless no other premises are available free
of charge or at a reasonable cost. Except where the Council decides otherwise, all
meetings will be held in the Council Chamber, at The Town Hall, South Street, Farnham.
Remote or hybrid meetings may also be held providing details have been published to allow
public access.

2.7 (TIMING) - All meetings of the Council will begin after 6pm. If no other time is fixed,
meetings will start at 7.00pm and will normally end no later than 10.00pm unless Standing
Order 11.9 is invoked. Any unfinished business will be included in the agenda of the next
meeting unless dealt with in the interim.

2.8 (QUORUM) - No business may be transacted at a Council Meeting unless at least
one third of the whole number of Members of the Council; i.e. 6 Councillors; are
present. In no case shall the Quorum of any meeting (including Committees and
Working Groups) be less than 3. The Council has decided that, for a Council Meeting, a
minimum of 10 Councillors shall make a Quorum. If a meeting is or becomes inquorate
no business shall be transacted and the meeting shall be adjourned. Any outstanding business
of a meeting so adjourned shall be transacted at a following meeting which shall be the next
scheduled Council Meeting or on a day that the Town Mayor/Chairman agrees with the
Council’s Proper/Responsible Officer (Town Clerk).

2.9 (CHAIRMAN) –

2.9.1 Subject to standing orders which indicate otherwise, anything authorised or required
to be done by, to or before the Mayor (Chairman of the Council) may in his absence
be done by, to or before the Deputy Mayor (Vice-Chairman) of the Council (if there is
one).

Page 56



2.9.2 The Town Mayor, if present, shall preside at a meeting of all councillors. If the Mayor is

absent from a meeting, the Deputy Mayor of the Council if present, shall preside. If
both the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor are absent from a meeting, a councillor as

chosen by the councillors present at the meeting shall preside at the meeting. The

Town Clerk shall call for a nominee from the floor to take the chair. If discussion arises on

this motion the Town Clerk shall exercise the powers of the person presiding to regulate
that discussion, and to maintain order at the meeting. In that event, for the avoidance of

doubt, the Town Clerk shall not have the right to vote on any nomination or matter.

2.10 (AGENDA) – The Council Agenda will be split into three (3) Parts as below:

 Part One – Items for Decision

 Part Two – Items to Note

 Part Three – Confidential Items

2.11 The minutes of a meeting shall include an accurate record of the following:

i. the time and place of the meeting;

ii. the names of councillors who are present and the names of councillors who are absent;

iii. interests that have been declared by councillors and non-councillors with voting rights;

iv. the grant of dispensations (if any) to councillors and non-councillors with voting rights;

v. whether a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights left the meeting when matters

that they held interests in were being considered;

vi. if there was a public participation session; and

vii the resolutions made.

3 Meetings of the Council – Annual (Mayor Making), Ordinary & Extraordinary

3.1 In addition to the annual meeting of the council, at least three other ordinary
meetings shall be held in each year on such dates and times as the council directs.

3.2 Procedure - Annual Town Council Meeting (Mayor Making)

a) In an election year, the Annual Town Council Meeting shall be held on or within
14 days following the day on which the Councillors elected take office and

b) In a year which is not an election year the Annual Town Council Meeting shall be
held on such day in May as the Council may direct.

c) The Mayor/Chairman of the Council, unless he has resigned or becomes
disqualified, shall continue in office and preside at the Annual Meeting until his
successor is elected at the next Annual Meeting of the Council.

d) The Deputy Mayor/Vice-Chairman of the Council, if any, unless he resigns or
becomes disqualified, shall hold office until immediately after the election of the
Mayor/Chairman of the Council at the next Annual Meeting of the Council.

e) In an election year, if the current Mayor/Chairman of the Council has been re-
elected as a member of the Council, he shall preside at the Annual Meeting until
a new Mayor/Chairman of the Council has been elected. He may exercise an
original vote in respect of the election of the new Mayor/Chairman of the Council

Page 57



and must give a casting vote in the case of an equality of votes. Except that, when
an existing Town Mayor/Chairman is put forward for re-election to that position,
he must vacate the Chair prior to the election taking place and a Councillor not
put up for election must take over the Chair until after the election.

f) In an election year, if the current Mayor/Chairman of the Council has not been
re-elected as a member of the Council, he shall still preside at the meeting until a
successor Mayor/Chairman of the Council has been elected. The current
Mayor/Chairman of the Council shall not have an original vote in respect of the
election of the new Mayor/Chairman of the Council but must give a casting vote
in the case of an equality of votes.

3.3 Order of Business - Annual Town Council Meeting (Mayor Making)

At each Annual Town Council Meeting the first business shall be to elect a Town
Mayor (by show of hands).

Following the election of the Town Mayor at the annual meeting of the council, the business
of the annual meeting shall include:

a) To receive the Town Mayor’s declaration of acceptance of office or, if not then
received, to decide when it shall be received.

b) In the ordinary year of election of the Council to fill any vacancies left unfilled at
the election by reason of insufficient nominations.

c) To decide when any declarations of acceptance of office which have not been
received as provided by law shall be received.

d) To elect a Deputy Town Mayor (by show of hands).

e) To receive the Deputy Town Mayor’s declaration of acceptance of office or, if not
received, to decide when it shall be received.

f) To appoint a Leader or Spokesperson for the Council.

g) To appoint Committees and/or Working/Task groups.**

h) To appoint Representatives to Outside Bodies.**

i) In a year of elections, if a Council’s period of eligibility to exercise the Power of General
Competence (as set out in The Parish Councils (General Power of Competence)
(Prescribed Conditions) Order 2012, expired the day before the Annual Meeting, to
review and make arrangements to reaffirm eligibility.**

j) To review any Regalia, Property, Deeds and Trust Investments in the custody of the
Council as required.**

k) Approve a Risk Analysis of the Council’s activities.**

l) Review and confirm arrangements for insurance cover in respect of all insured risks.**

m) Review the Council’s Financial Regulations and Arrangements.**

n) Review the Council’s procedures for handling requests made under the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 and the Data Protection Act 1998. **

Page 58



o) Review the Council’s policy for dealing with the press/media.**

p) Set the dates, times and place of meetings of the full Council and its Committees and/or
Working Groups for the year ahead.**

q) Review of arrangements, including any charters and agency agreements, with other local
authorities and review of contributions made to expenditure incurred by other local
authorities.**

** These items may be considered at a different meeting but must be done at least
once in any Council year. The Council normally holds the appointment meeting in
April except in election year when it will take place after the largely ceremonial
Annual Meeting.

Thereafter the business will follow the order set out below for an Ordinary Meeting of the
Council.

3.4 Order of Business - Ordinary Council Meetings

3.4.1 Prior to the start of the formal business, the Council may say prayers and receive a
presentation by local organisations or those whose activities affect the town. Such
organisations shall be approved by the Mayor and invited by the Town Clerk.

3.4.2 At every meeting other than the Annual Town Council Meeting the first business shall
be to appoint a Chairman if the Town Mayor and Deputy Town Mayor be absent
and to receive such declarations of acceptance of office (if any) and undertaking to
observe the Council’s code of conduct as are required by law to be made or, if not
then received, to decide when they shall be received. After the first mandatory business
has been completed, the order of business, unless the Council otherwise decides on the
ground of urgency, shall be as follows:-

a) To receive apologies for absence.

b) Disclosures of interests by councillors and employees on items on the agenda.

c) To read and consider the previous Minutes; provided that if a copy has been circulated
to each councillor with the agenda there shall be no need to read them out.

d) After consideration, to approve the signature of the Minutes by the person
presiding as a correct record. There shall be no discussion about the draft minutes of a
preceding meeting except in relation to their accuracy. A motion to correct an
inaccuracy in the draft minutes shall be moved in accordance with standing order 7.1c.

e) Public Questions and Statements on items on the agenda or other matters.

f) To deal with business expressly required by statute to be done.

g) To deal with any matters remaining from the last meeting.

h) To receive the Mayor’s Announcements or any communications as the person presiding
may wish to lay before the Council.

i) To receive Petitions (if any have been received).

j) To answer questions from Councillors.

k) To receive and consider the minutes, notes and reports of Committees, Working/Task

Page 59



Groups and to determine recommendations made by Committees or Working Groups.

l) To receive and consider resolutions or recommendations in the order in which they
have been notified.

m) To authorise the sealing of documents.

n) If necessary, to authorise the signing of orders for payment.

o) Once a year - no later than when the estimates for the following year are agreed - the
Council will review pay and conditions of service of existing employees.

p) To receive information from council representatives on outside bodies and information
from Borough or County Councillors on matters affecting the town.

q) Confirm the date of the next Council Meeting.

3.5 Extraordinary Meetings

a) The Mayor/Chairman of the Council may convene an extraordinary meeting of
the Council at any time.

b) Any two members of the Council can request an extraordinary meeting of the Council
if a request for such a meeting has been signed by those councillors and has been
presented to the Town Clerk/ Proper Officer.

c) If any Councillors wish to call an extraordinary meeting, the Town Clerk must be
informed of that wish with a clear description of the important business. The Town
Clerk, after consultation with the Mayor/Chairman, will then make sure that the notices
and summonses giving the required notice of the extraordinary meeting are published
and sent as soon as practical.

d) If the Mayor/Chairman of the Council does not, or refuses to, call an
Extraordinary Meeting of the Council within 7 days of having been requested to
do so by two Councillors, those two Councillors may convene an Extraordinary
Meeting of the Council. The statutory public notice giving the time, venue and
agenda for such a meeting must be signed by the two councillors. The only items
to be considered at an extraordinary meeting will be those for which it was specifically
called and which were put on the agenda.

4 Leader of Council or Spokesperson

4.1 A Leader or Spokesperson of the Council can be appointed at the Annual Council Meeting
but if no appointment is made, the role of Spokesperson for the Council will be undertaken
by the Lead Member of the Strategy and Finance Working Group.

4.2 The Leader/Spokesperson of the Council has no Executive power but will have the following
approved responsibilities
a) To act as the liaison between the members of the Council and the Town Clerk in

indicating the priorities and programmes for inclusion in Council business and the
Council’s likely reaction to new policies or projects.

b) To be the first point of contact for the Town Clerk when an issue arises that
requires a political or policy response from the Council and the issue does not
naturally fall within the existing policy or as a matter of urgency.

c) To be the spokesperson for the Council when responding to the Press and Media.

Page 60



5 Proper/Responsible Officer

5.1 The Proper Officer shall be either (i) the clerk or (ii) other staff member(s) nominated by
the Council to undertake the work of the Proper Officer when the Proper Officer is absent.
The Proper Officer and the person appointed to act as such during the Proper Officer’s
absence shall fulfil the duties assigned to the Proper Officer in Standing Orders.

5.2 The Town Council has adopted a scheme of delegation to the Town Clerk/Responsible
Financial Officer/Proper Officer for the management of the Town Council.

5.3 The Council’s Proper Officer shall do the following:-

i. at least three clear days before a meeting of the council, a committee or a sub-
committee,

 serve on councillors by delivery or post at their residences or by email
authenticated in such manner as the Proper Officer thinks fit, a signed
summons confirming the time, place and the agenda (provided the councillor
has consented to service by email), and

 Provide, in a conspicuous place, public notice of the time, place and agenda
(provided that the public notice with agenda of an extraordinary meeting of
the Council convened by councillors is signed by them).

ii. subject to standing order 6, include on the agenda all motions in the order received
unless a councillor has given written notice at least 5 days before the meeting
confirming his withdrawal of it;

iii. convene a meeting of the Council for the election of a new Chairman of the
Council, occasioned by a casual vacancy in his office;

iv. facilitate inspection of the minute book by local government electors;

v. receive and retain copies of byelaws made by other local authorities;

vi. hold acceptance of office forms from councillors;

vii. hold a copy of every councillor’s register of interests;

viii. assist with responding to requests made under freedom of information legislation and
rights exercisable under data protection legislation, in accordance with the Council’s
relevant policies and procedures;

ix. liaise, as appropriate, with the Council’s Data Protection Officer (if there is one);

x. receive and send general correspondence and notices on behalf of the Council except
where there is a resolution to the contrary;

xi. assist in the organisation of, storage of, access to, security of and destruction of
information held by the Council in paper and electronic form subject to the
requirements of data protection and freedom of information legislation and other
legitimate requirements (e.g. the Limitation Act 1980);

xii. arrange for legal deeds to be executed;

xiii. arrange or manage the prompt authorisation, approval, and instruction regarding any
payments to be made by the Council in accordance with its financial regulations;

Page 61



xiv. record every planning application notified to the Council and the Council’s response to
the local planning authority in a book for such purpose;

xv. refer a planning application received by the Council to the Chairman or in his absence
the Vice-Chairman (if there is one) of the Planning and Licensing Consultative
Group/Committee within two working days of receipt to facilitate an extraordinary
meeting if the nature of a planning application requires consideration before the next
ordinary meeting;

xvi. manage access to information about the Council via the publication scheme; and

xvii. retain custody of the seal of the Council (if there is one) which shall not be used
without a resolution to that effect..

6 Motions requiring written Notice

6.1 No Motion can be moved and no matter can be discussed unless the business to which it
relates has been put on the Agenda by the Town Clerk or the mover has given notice in
writing of its terms and has given notice to the Town Clerk at least 10 clear working days
before the next meeting of the Council, except as stated in these Standing Orders.

6.2 The Town Clerk will date every notice of Motion or recommendation when received and
will number each notice in the order received.

6.3 If the wording or nature of a proposed motion is considered unlawful or improper, the
Town Clerk shall consult with the Chairman of the forthcoming meeting or, as the case may
be, the Councillors who have convened the meeting, to consider whether the motion shall
be included or rejected in the agenda.

6.4 The Town Clerk will include in the summons for each meeting, all notices of motion or
recommendation given in the order in which they have been received unless the member
giving a notice of motion has stated in writing that they intend to move it at some later
meeting or that they will withdraw it. The Town Clerk may correct obvious grammatical or
typographical errors in the wording of the motion before including it on an agenda.

6.5 If a motion or recommendation listed on the agenda is not moved either by the councillor
who gave notice of it or by any other councillor, it will, unless postponed by the Council, be
withdrawn and not be moved without new notice.

6.6 If a motion comes under the Terms of Reference of a Committee, or Working/Task Group
of the Council, it may, once it has been proposed and seconded, be referred without
discussion to a Committee, Working/Task Group determined by the Council for report;
provided that the Chairman of the Committee, Working/Task Group agrees.

6.7 Every motion and resolution shall relate to the Council’s statutory functions, powers and
lawful obligations or shall relate to an issue which specifically affects the Council’s area or its
residents.

7 Motions not requiring written Notice

7.1 Motions dealing with the following matters may be moved without notice:-

a) To appoint a Chairman of the meeting in the absence of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor.
b) To approve the long-term absences of councillors.

Page 62



c) To correct any inaccuracies in the Minutes of a previous meeting and to approve them.
d) To note the minutes of a meeting of a Committee, Working Group or Task Group.
e) To dispose of business, if any, remaining from the last meeting.
f) To alter the order of the business agenda for reasons of urgency or expedience.
g) To proceed to the next business on the agenda.
h) To move to a vote.
i) To close or adjourn the debate.
j) To refer a matter to a Committee, Working/Task Group or an Officer.
k) To appoint a Committee, Working/Task Group or any members thereof.
l) To adopt a report and or recommendations made by a Working Group, officer or

professional advisors.
m) To authorise the sealing of documents.
n) To amend a motion.
o) To give leave to withdraw a motion or amendment.
p) To extend the time limit for speeches.
q) To exclude the press and public for all or part of a meeting.
r) To not hear further from a councillor or a member of the public;

s) To exclude councillor or member of the public named for disorderly or improper
conduct.

t) To give the consent of the Council where such consent is required by these Standing
Orders.

u) To answer questions from councillors.
v) To suspend any Standing Order except those which are mandatory by law (in

bold italic type).
w) To appoint representatives to outside bodies and to make arrangements for those

representatives to report back the activities of the outside bodies.
x) To adjourn the meeting.

7.2 If a motion falls within the terms of reference of a Committee or Working Group or within
the delegated powers conferred on an employee, a referral of the same may be made to
such Committee or Working Group or employee provided that the Mayor/Chairman may
direct for it to be dealt with at the present meeting for reasons of urgency or expedience.

8 Petitions

8.1 Petitions may be received at (Ordinary) meetings of the Council provided that the petition is
received by the Town Clerk no later than midday five working days before the day of the
meeting and is signed by at least twenty (20) registered electors within the Town.

8.2 Petitions may only be about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which
directly affects the Town.

8.3 Petitions will not be received by the Council which are in furtherance of a person’s
individual circumstance or which are about a matter where there is a right of appeal to the
courts, a tribunal or government minister.

8.4 A Petition will not be received by the Council where the issue it concerns has been the
subject of a Petition in the last six months or a decision of the Council in the last six months.

8.5 One signatory to the Petition may speak on the Petition and for no more than three
minutes. The Petition may be answered at that meeting by the Mayor or by a person
designated by the Mayor but will more usually be the subject of a written answer.

8.6 No discussion shall take place on the Petition at that meeting. A councillor may move that

Page 63



the Petition be referred to the next meeting or to a Committee or to a body. Once the
motion has been seconded, it will be voted on without discussion.

8.7 No more than three Petitions may be received at one meeting.

9 Questions by Members

9.1 At a Council meeting, any member of the Council may ask a question of the Town
Mayor/Chairman or the Town Clerk which relates to a matter which affects a function of
the Council or its area or the inhabitants of the area or some of them, provided proper
notice has been given.

9.2 Notice of the question must be given in writing and delivered to the Town Clerk at least five
clear working days before the meeting, signifying to whom the question is put.

9.3 A reply to the question can be given verbally at the meeting or by written reply or by
indicating that the question will be referred to a future meeting of the Council or of a
Committee, Working/Task Group

9.4 Questions not connected with business under discussion will not be asked except during the
part of the meeting set aside for questions.

9.5 Each question will be put and answered without discussion but the person questioned may
decline to answer.

10 Public Questions and Statements

10.1 A standard item, will appear on all agendas of Ordinary meetings of Council and Standing
Committees to allow, at the discretion of the Town Mayor/Chairman, those members of the
public, residing or working within the Town Council’s boundary, to make representations,
ask or answer questions and give evidence at a meeting which they are entitled to attend in
respect of the business on the agenda or other matters not on the agenda.

a) The period of time designated for public participation at a meeting in accordance with
standing order 3.3.2 (e) above shall not exceed 20 minutes unless directed by the
chairman of the meeting.

b) A member of the public shall not speak for more than 3 minutes on any matter or at
any one time.

c) Only one person is permitted to speak at a time. If more than one person wants to
speak, the chairman of the meeting shall direct the order of speaking.

d) A question shall not require a response at the meeting nor start a debate on the
question. The chairman of the meeting may direct that a written or oral response be
given. If a matter raised is one for Principal Councils, the person making representation
will be informed of the appropriate contact details.

e) A person shall raise his hand when requesting to speak and stand when speaking (except
when a person has a disability or is likely to suffer discomfort). The chairman of the
meeting may at any time permit a person to be seated when speaking.

f) A person who speaks at a meeting shall direct his comments to the Mayor/Chairman of
the meeting.

11 Meeting Etiquette & General Procedures

11.1 A Councillor shall remain seated while speaking unless requested to stand by the Town
Mayor/Chairman.

Page 64



11.2 Councillors shall address all comments to the Town Mayor/Chairman. If two or more
Councillors wish to speak the Town Mayor/Chairman shall decide the order of speaking and
whom to call upon.

11.3 The ruling of the Town Mayor/Chairman on a point of order or on the admissibility of a
personal explanation shall be final and shall not be discussed.

11.4 Whenever the Town Mayor/Chairman stands or speaks during a debate, all other
Councillors shall be silent.

11.5 Minutes of a previous meeting will not be discussed except upon the accuracy of their
content, corrections to those minutes will be made by inclusion in the minutes of the
meeting which approves such minutes with the corrections appended. Upon a resolution
which confirms the accuracy of the minutes of a meeting, the draft minutes or recordings of
the meeting for which approved minutes exist shall be destroyed.

11.6 Motions included in an agenda shall be considered in the order that they appear on the
agenda unless the order is changed at the Mayor/Chairman’s direction for reasons of
urgency or by vote of the Council for expediency.

11.7 Urgent business can only be placed on the Agenda by the Town Clerk with where business
is required by law to be done and was omitted from the agenda. Other urgent business may
be placed on the Agenda by the Town Clerk with the permission of the Mayor/Chairman in
the case of emergencies or when it is considered that delay might be prejudicial to the
Council’s interests.

11.8 A motion to vary the order of business on the ground of expediency can be proposed by
the Town Mayor/Chairman or by any other councillor and, if proposed by the Town
Mayor/Chairman, can be put to the vote without being seconded, and in all cases will be
voted on without discussion.

11.9 Meetings of the Council should normally finish by 10pm but at a convenient time before
then, the Town Mayor/Chairman shall put to the meeting the options of:

a) Agreeing to a half hour extension to 10.30pm, at which time the meeting shall stand
adjourned; or

b) Continuing the meeting until the Council has concluded its consideration of the Agenda;
or

c) Adjourning the meeting.

A vote shall be taken without discussion and no business other than that set out in the
Agenda shall be discussed at any adjourned meeting.

11.10 The host (normally the Clerk) or co-host (normally the Chair) of a remote or hybrid
meeting may take action to 1) mute, block or remove a disruptive member of the public or
ii) mute, block or a place a disruptive councillor acting in breach of standing orders into the
virtual ‘waiting room’ pending discussion of Standing Order 7.1(s)”.

12 Rules of Debate

12.1 Discussion
A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been Proposed and Seconded,
and, unless proper notice has already been given, it shall, if required by the Town

Page 65



Mayor/Chairman or Town Clerk, be put in writing and handed to him/her before it is
discussed or put to the meeting.

12.2 Speeches
a) A speech by a mover of a motion shall not exceed 5 minutes and no other speech shall

exceed 3 minutes except by the consent of the Council.
b) A speech must be directed solely to the matter under discussion, or to a question of

order or a personal explanation.
c) A councillor when seconding a motion or amendment may if he declares their intention

to do so, reserve their speech until later in the debate.

12.3 Other Motions
When a motion is being debated the only other motions which may be moved (either singly
or combined) are:

a) To amend the Motion.
b) To withdraw the Motion.
c) To proceed to the next business.
d) To adjourn the debate.
e) To adjourn the meeting.
f) That the question be now put to the vote.
g) That a named Councillor not be heard further.
h) That a named Councillor leave the meeting.
i) That the Motion be referred to a Committee or Working/Task Group.
j) That the meeting continues beyond 10pm.
k) To exclude the Press and Public from the meeting under Section 100A (4) of the local

Government Act 1972 as amended.
i) to suspend any standing order, except those which are mandatory statutory or a

legal requirement (In bold italic type).

12.4 Alteration and Withdrawal
a) A Councillor may alter a Motion of which he has given notice with the consent of the

meeting. The Meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.
b) A Councillor may alter a Motion which he has moved without notice with the consent

of both the meeting and the Seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without
discussion.

c) A Councillor may withdraw a Motion which he has moved only with the consent of the
Seconder and the Meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.
No Councillor may speak on the Motion after the mover has asked permission to
withdraw it unless such permission is refused.

12.5 Right of Reply

a) The mover of a motion has the right to reply, not exceeding 3 minutes, at the end of the
debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.

b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the amendment has the right of reply at the
close of the debate on the amendment and to speak last but one for that purpose, the
final right of reply to remain with the mover of the original motion.

c) In exercising his right of reply, a Councillor shall strictly confine himself/herself to
answering statements or arguments made in the course of debate and shall not
introduce any new material.

12.6 Speaking Again
A councillor who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of
debate, without the permission of the Mayor/Chairman, except:

Page 66



a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another councillor.
b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he last spoke.
c) if his first speech was on an amendment moved by another councillor, to speak on the

main issue whether or not the amendment was carried.
d) to exercise a right of reply.

e) on a point of order.

f) by way of a personal explanation.
g) on a Procedural Motion.

12.7 Points of Order
a) During the debate of a motion, a Councillor may interrupt only on a Point of Order or a

Personal Explanation in which case the Councillor who was interrupted shall stop
speaking. A Councillor raising a point of order shall identify the Standing Order which
he considers has been breached or specify the irregularity in the meeting he is
concerned by. A Personal Explanation shall be confined to some material part of a
former speech by him/her which may have been misunderstood.

b) Any Point of Order shall be decided by the Mayor/Chairman and this decision shall be
final.

12.8 Content of an Amendment
An amendment must be relevant to the Motion and either:
 Refer a matter to (or back to) a Committee or Working/Task Group
 eave out words and insert or add other words.as long as the amendment shall not have

the effect of negating a motion before the Council.

12.9 Debate on Amendments and Procedural Motions
a) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.
b) No further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been

disposed of unless in the opinion of the Town Mayor/ Chairman of the Council this
would help the Council conduct its business. Where the Town Mayor/Chairman of the
Council permits this the combined amendments will be discussed (but not voted on)
together.

c) If an amendment is lost a further different amendment may be moved.
d) If an amendment is carried, the Motion as amended takes the place of the original

Motion and becomes the substantive Motion on which any further amendments may be
moved.

e) After an amendment has been moved, the Mayor/Chairman will read out the amended
motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the
vote.

f) On a motion that the question be now put:
If a motion that “The question be now put” is seconded and the Town Mayor/Chairman
thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he will put the procedural motion to the
vote. If it is passed he will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply or to
waive his right of reply before putting his motion to the vote.

g) On a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting:
If a motion “to adjourn the debate” or “to adjourn the meeting” is seconded and the
Town Mayor/Chairman thinks that the item has not been sufficiently discussed and
cannot be reasonably so discussed on that occasion he will put the procedural motion to
the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply.

h) On a motion to proceed to the next business:
The Town Mayor/Chairman shall first put the formal motion to the vote without
discussion and if it is passed then the Council shall immediately proceed to the next item

Page 67



of business and any motions or amendments relating to item under discussion shall be
lost.

i) The adjournment of a debate or of the Council shall not prejudice the right of reply at

the resumption.

13 Voting

13.1 Subject to a meeting being quorate, all questions at a meeting shall be decided by a
majority of the councillors and non-councillors with voting rights present and voting.

13.2 Unless standing orders provide otherwise, voting on a question shall be by a show of
hands, acclamation or by electronic voting or on a ballot paper. At the request of a
councillor, the voting on any question shall be recorded by the Town Clerk so as to
show whether each councillor present and voting gave his vote for or against that
question or abstained. Such a request shall be made before moving on to the next item of
business on the agenda.

13.3 The Town Mayor/Chairman may give an original vote on any matter put to the vote,
and in any case of an equality of votes may give a casting vote whether or not he
gave an original vote.

14 Rescission of previous Resolutions

14.1 A decision (whether positive or negative) of the Council will not be reversed within six
months except by a Special Resolution, the written notice of which must signed by at least
10 members of the Council and be given to the Town Clerk at least ten days before a
meeting at which it is to be considered. Such Special resolution, when voted on, must
receive the backing of at least 10 members of the Council to reverse a previous decision.

14.2 When a Special Resolution or any other resolution has been agreed under the provisions of
paragraph 14.1 of this Order, no similar resolution may be moved within a further six
months.

15 Committees and Working/Task Groups

a) Unless the council determines otherwise, a Committee/Working Group may appoint a
sub-Committee whose terms of reference and members shall be determined by the
Committee.

b) The members of a Committee may include non-councillors unless it is a
Committee which regulates and controls the finances of the council.

c) Unless the council determines otherwise, all the members of an advisory Committee
and a sub-Committee of the advisory Committee may be non-councillors.

15.1 Appointment & Membership

a) The Council may appoint Standing Committees and/or Working/Task Groups with
specific Terms of Reference which will meet according to the schedule adopted by the
Council but may hold additional meetings as and when required. An Officer delegated
by the Town Clerk will attend every meeting.

Page 68



b) The membership of any Committee and/or Working/Task Group shall be determined
by full Council which will not appoint any member of a Committee and/or
Working/Task Group so as to hold office later than the next Annual Meeting.

c) Council may appoint persons other than Members of the Council to any Committee
and/or Working/Task Group. Such persons shall have the right to speak and vote but
will not form part of the Quorum.

d) The Town Mayor/Chairman and the Deputy Mayor/Vice-Chairman, ex-officio, shall be
members of every Committee and/or Working/Task Group but will have no voting
rights or the ability to propose motions on the Committees, Working/Task Groups on
which their membership is ex-officio. They will not therefore form part of the Quorum
as ex-officio members.

e) The overall membership of all Standing Committees/Working Groups will reflect, as
closely as possible, the political make-up of the Council. It is intended that as broad a
range of Councillors as possible shall be represented on the Committees and/or
Working Groups.

f) When considering membership of Working Groups the Council will take account of the
political make-up such that those who are not members of the majority party are fairly
represented. It is suggested (but shall not be mandatory) that non-members of the
majority party shall be entitled to a proportionate share (1/18th per member) of the total
places available on the Standing Working Groups, evenly spread over those Groups.
Within this entitlement, at least one place on the main policy Working Group (Strategy
and Finance Working Group) shall be available to those who are not part of the majority
party. In the case of there being four Working Groups of six members each (24 places
available), this would mean that those who are not members of the majority party would
normally be offered 1.33 places (24/18) i.e. 1 member = 1 place; 2 members = 3 places; 3
members = 4 places and 4 members = 5 places. Task Groups and the Planning
Consultative Group will not be required to adhere to this.

g) All Councillors will be asked to submit annually to the Town Clerk an indication of the
Committees/Working Groups on which they wish to serve, listed in order of their
preference, together with a list of Outside Bodies on which they would like to represent
the Council. The process of appointments will be as follows:

1) The Town Clerk will attempt to fill the available spaces by initially allocating
Councillors their first preferences and then filling the remaining spaces by allocating
second and third preferences etc.

2) Where there are not enough nominations to fill all the required positions on either
Committees/Working Groups or positions on Outside Bodies, the Town Clerk will
bring the matter to the attention of Council by asking for more nominations.

3) Where more Councillors have indicated a first preference for a particular position
than there are places available, the Town Clerk may try to negotiate an acceptable
outcome with the nominees. Where this is not possible the Town Clerk will bring
the matter to Council at which a vote will be taken.

h) Notwithstanding Standing Order 15.1.b, the appointments for Committees and Working
Groups for the forthcoming year will normally be agreed by Council at the last meeting
of the Council year. In an election year, the appointments will take place at the first
meeting after the Annual Meeting. This will enable the Annual Meeting to be a
ceremonial meeting for the appointment of the Mayor.

Page 69



i) Voting on appointments to Committee and Working Groups shall normally be by ballot
administered by the Town Clerk unless Council decides otherwise. Where there is a tie
for the last place or places there will be a run-off vote between those tying for the last
place(s). Any further tie may be settled by the Mayor/Chairman’s casting vote.

15.2 Types of Committees/Working Groups and Task Groups

a) Standing Committees will normally have delegated powers and as such will meet in
public and observe the same rules of debate as the full Council. Every Committee may
appoint sub-Committees for the purposes to be specified by the Committee with the
Terms of Reference specified by the Committee. As more formal meetings,
Committees will set the direction and strategy for officers to implement. Councillors
have a policy setting role.

b) Working Groups will generally be appointed on an annual basis to consider various
areas of the Council’s responsibility. They will not, unless specifically delegated by
Council, have any decision making powers but will report back with recommendations
to full Council which will be the decision making body for their areas of responsibility.
Since they are not decision making bodies they will not be required to meet in public.
On Working Groups, Councillors determine the higher level objectives and direction
for services with officers advising on and implementing the detail. Councillors should be
prepared to assist in the implementation as requested.

c) Task Groups will be set up for a limited time to consider specific items and also report
back to Working Groups or Council with their findings. Since they are not decision
making bodies they will not be required to meet in public. On Task Groups, officers and
councillors work side by side to develop projects and issues to achieve the Task Group’s
aims.

d) The Planning and Licensing Consultative Group will be appointed to consider
planning and licensing applications and related matters. It will ideally consist of nine
councillors (one from every Ward). The Town Clerk will have delegated authority to
submit observations to Waverley Borough Council or Surrey County Council, as
appropriate, following consideration of matters by the Planning and Licensing
Consultative Group. The Group may refer a planning application to Full Council or an
appropriate Committee/Working Group to consider and make observations. The
quorum of the Planning Consultative Group shall be three councillors with one officer in
attendance. On the Planning and Licensing Consultative Group, councillors determine
applications and advise officers on the relevant comments they wish to be included in
the Council’s responses to the relevant Planning or Licensing Authority.

15.3 Procedures

a) Every Committee or Working Group will at its first meeting, unless the appointment
was made at the last Council meeting when membership of the Working Group was
determined, before proceeding to any other item on the agenda, elect a Chairman/Lead
Member (and can elect a Vice-Chairman) who will normally hold office until the next
Annual Meeting of the Council. HeThe Lead Member will chair meetings of the
Committee or Group, act as spokesperson for the Committee or Group and shall be
responsible for reporting its activities to full Council.

b) Ordinary meetings of Working Groups will be held on the dates adopted by Council and

Page 70



at a time agreed between the Lead Member and the Town Clerk. The quorum shall be
3 councillors accompanied by an officer.

c) The Chairman/Lead Member of a Committee or Working Group or the Town
Mayor/Chairman of the Council may summon an additional meeting of that Committee,
Working/Task Group as appropriate at any time by requesting the Town Clerk to issue
a summons for the meeting.

d) Committee and Working Group agendas will be assembled in three parts:

i. Part 1 – Items for decision/recommendation,
ii. Part 2 – Items for information
iii. Part 3 – Confidential items.

e) Any Committee or Working Group desiring to incur expenditure shall give the Town
Clerk a written estimate of the expenditure recommended for the coming year no later
than October.

f) Every Committee and or Working Group shall present a report of its activities to the
next Council Meeting.

g) A member who has proposed a resolution, which has been referred to any Committee
and/or Working/Task Group of which he is not a member, may explain his resolution to
the Committee, Working/Task Group but shall not vote.

h) Any member of the Council who is not a member of a Committee and/or Working/Task
Group shall nevertheless be entitled to attend any meeting of that Committee,
Working/Task Group but he shall not be entitled to vote, and he shall not take part in
the consideration of any business save by leave of the Chairman of the meeting.

j) Any Council member attending in accordance with Standing Order 15.3-h, may be
invited to speak on matters under discussion of which he may have special knowledge,
such an invitation would be at the discretion of the Chairman.

k) Members of Committees and Working Groups will address remarks/observations to the
Chair but will not be bound by the Standing Order preventing them from speaking more
than once.

l) Members of Committees and Working Groups entitled to vote, shall vote by show of
hands.

m) The Mayor/Chairmen/Lead Members of Committees and WorkingChair of a
meeting Groups shall in the case of an equality of votes have a second or casting
vote whether or not they have exercised their original right to vote.

16 Resolutions on Sealing & Expenditure

16.1 Other than in the case of an Emergency, any resolution which, if carried, would in the
opinion of the Town Mayor/Chairman, substantially increase the budgeted expenditure upon
any service which is under the management of the Council or substantially reduce the
revenue at the disposal of any Committee, Working/Task Group, or which would involve
unbudgeted capital expenditure, will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned
without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

16.2 The Council shall approve written estimates for the coming financial year at a meeting

Page 71



before the end of the month of December and set its Precept before the end of January.

16.3 All payments by the council shall be authorised, approved and paid in accordance with the
law, proper practices and the council’s financial regulations. The Strategy and Finance
Working Group will regularly monitor and review all transactions made and report to
Council. All transactions for the previous period will be available at Council meetings for
inspection and review by councillors for compliance.

16.4 A document shall not be sealed on behalf of the Council unless its sealing has been
authorised by a resolution. The Council’s Common seal alone shall be used for sealing
documents. It shall be applied by the proper officer in the presence of two
councillors who shall sign the document as witnesses.

17 Discussions and Resolutions Affecting Employees of the Council

17.1 A matter personal to a member of staff that is being considered by a meeting of Council or
the Strategy & Finance Working Group or the HR Panel is subject to standing order 22
(confidentiality).

17.2 Any persons responsible for all or part of the management of staff shall treat the written
records of all meetings relating to their performance, capabilities, grievance or disciplinary
matters as confidential and secure.

17.3 The council shall keep all written records relating to employees secure.

17.4 Only persons with line management responsibilities shall have access to staff records
referred to in standing orders 17.2 and 17.3 above if so justified.

17.5 Access and means of access by keys and/or computer passwords to records of employment
referred to in standing orders 17.2 and 17.3 above shall be provided only to the Town Clerk
and the Mayor.

17.6 Access to relevant records will be provided to the Chair of the HR Panel as required for the
conduct of its business.

17.7 If at a meeting a question arises relating to the appointment, conduct, promotion, dismissal,
salary or conditions of service, of any person employed by the Council, it will not be
considered until Councillors have decided whether the press and public will be excluded.

18 Conduct at Meetings - Code of Conduct

18.1 All councillors must observe the Council’s Code of Conduct (as amended), a copy of
which is annexed to these Standing Orders.

18.2 All councillors shall undertake training in the code of conduct within 6 months of the
delivery of their declaration of acceptance of office.

18.3 Councillors and any co-opted councillor, must within 28 days of their election or (in the
case of a co-opted councillor) their appointment, notify the Town Clerk in writing (for
registration in Farnham Town Council’s Register of Interests) of any interests they are
required to register under the Farnham Town Council Code of Conduct. They must also,
within 28 days of becoming aware of any new or change to any interest they are required to
register under the Authority’s Code, notify the Town Clerk of that new interest or change.

Page 72



Where a Councillor has an interest that, in accordance with the Farnham Town Council’s
Code of Conduct and any guidance, procedures or requirements issued by the Town Clerk
or Monitoring Officer, precludes that Councillor from:
(i) participating, or participating further, in any business before a meeting, or
(ii) participating in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting
that Councillor must withdraw from the meeting

18.4 A councillor or a non-councillor with voting rights who has a disclosable pecuniary
interest or another interest as set out in the council’s code of conduct in a matter
being considered at a meeting is subject to statutory limitations or restrictions under
the code on his right to participate and vote on that matter. An interest arising from the
Code of Conduct shall be recorded in the minutes.

18.5 At a meeting no person will persistently disregard the ruling of the Town Mayor/Chairman,
wilfully obstruct business, or behave irregularly, offensively, improperly or in such a manner
as to bring the Council into disrepute or act in such a manner as to breach the Code of
Conduct adopted by the Council.

18.6 If, in the opinion of the Town Mayor/Chairman, a councillor or member of the public has
ignored paragraph 18.5 of these Standing Orders, the Town Mayor/Chairman shall indicate
to the Council his opinion and after that, any councillor may move that the councillor or
member of the public named be not heard or leave the meeting, and the motion, if
seconded, shall be agreed without discussion. For remote or hybrid meetings, the Town Clerk or
meeting host may act in accordance with Standing Order 11.10 and remove the person or place
them in a virtual waiting room.

18.7 If either of the motions mentioned in paragraph 18.6 above are ignored, the Town
Mayor/Chairman may adjourn the meeting or take such further steps as necessary to
enforce them.

18.8 The Council will deal with complaints against the Council or any Officer or Councillor in the
manner as adopted by the Council’s procedures except for those complaints which should
be properly directed to the Monitoring Officer or the relevant external body for
consideration.

Dispensations
18.9 The Town Clerk, may authorise a dispensation for Councillors under the Code of Conduct,

after consultation with the Monitoring Officer if appropriate, in accordance with Section 33
of the Localism Act 2011. A dispensation granted under section 33 must specify the period
for which it has effect, and that period may not exceed four years.

18.10 Dispensation requests shall be in writing and submitted to the Proper Officer as
soon as possible before the meeting, or failing that, at the start of the meeting for which the
dispensation is required.

18.11 A dispensation request shall confirm:

i. the description and the nature of the disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest to
which the request for the dispensation relates;

ii. whether the dispensation is required to participate at a meeting in a discussion only or a
discussion and a vote;

iii. the date of the meeting or the period (not exceeding four years) for which the
dispensation is sought; and

iv. an explanation as to why the dispensation is sought.

Page 73



18.12 A decision as to whether to grant a dispensation shall be made by the Proper Officer and
that decision is final.

18.13 A dispensation may be granted in accordance with standing order 18.12 above if having
regard to all relevant circumstances the following applies:

i. without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from participating in
the particular business would be so great a proportion of the meeting transacting
the business as to impede the transaction of the business (eg the representation of
different political groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so
upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business) or

ii. granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the council’s area or
iii. it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation (such as for the setting of the

budget or precept).

19 Code of conduct complaints

19.1 Upon notification by Waverley Borough Council that it is dealing with a complaint that a
councillor or non-councillor with voting rights has breached the council’s code of conduct,
the Proper Officer shall, subject to standing order 22, report this to the council.

19.2 Where the notification in standing order 19.1 relates to a complaint made by the Proper
Officer, the Proper Officer shall notify the Mayor and Leader of Council of this fact, and shall
nominate another staff member to assume the duties of the Proper Officer in relation to the
complaint until it has been determined and the council has agreed what action, if any, to take
in accordance with standing order 19.4 below.

19.3 The council may:
i. provide information or evidence where such disclosure is necessary to progress an

investigation of the complaint or is required by law;
ii. seek information relevant to the complaint from the person or body with statutory

responsibility for investigation of the matter.

19.4 Upon notification by Waverley Borough Council that a councillor or non-councillor
with voting rights has breached the council’s code of conduct, the council shall
consider what, if any, action to take against him. Such action excludes
disqualification or suspension from office.

20 Management of Information

20.1 The Council shall have in place and keep under review, technical and organisational
measures to keep secure information (including personal data) which it holds in paper
and electronic form. Such arrangements shall include deciding who has access to
personal data and encryption of personal data.

20.2 The Council shall have in place, and keep under review, policies for the retention and
safe destruction of all information (including personal data) which it holds in paper
and electronic form. The Council’s retention policy shall confirm the period for which
information (including personal data) shall be retained or if this is not possible the
criteria used to determine that period (e.g. the Limitation Act 1980).

20.3 The agenda, papers that support the agenda and the minutes of a meeting shall not
disclose or otherwise undermine confidential information or personal data without

Page 74



legal justification.

20.4 Councillors, staff, the Council’s contractors and agents shall not disclose confidential
information or personal data without legal justification.

20.5 In accordance with freedom of information legislation, the Council shall publish
information in accordance with its publication scheme and respond to requests for
information held by the Council.

20.6 The Council, shall publish information in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 2015.

21 Responsibilities Under Data Protection Legislation

a) The Council may appoint a Data Protection Officer.
b) The Council shall have policies and procedures in place to respond to an individual

exercising statutory rights concerning his personal data.
c) The Council shall have a written policy in place for responding to and managing a

personal data breach.
d) The Council shall keep a record of all personal data breaches comprising the facts

relating to the personal data breach, its effects and the remedial action taken.
e) The Council shall ensure that information communicated in its privacy notice(s) is

in an easily accessible and available form and kept up to date.
f) The Council shall maintain a written record of its processing activities.

22 Responsibilities to Provide Information
a) In accordance with freedom of information legislation and the Local Government

(Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 2015., the Council shall
publish information in accordance with its publication scheme and respond to
requests for information held by the Council.

23 Interests & Canvassing/Recommendations

23.1 If a councillor has a personal interest as defined by the Farnham Town Council Code
of Conduct then he shall declare such interest as soon as it becomes apparent,
disclosing the existence and nature of that interest as required.

23.2 Unless he has been granted a dispensation, a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights
shall withdraw from a meeting when it is considering a matter in which he has a disclosable
pecuniary interest. He may return to the meeting after it has considered the matter in which
he had the interest. Dispensation requests shall be in writing and submitted to the
Proper Officer as soon as possible before the meeting, or failing that, at the start of the
meeting for which the dispensation is required.

23.3 The Town Clerk may be required to compile and hold a register of councillors’
interests in accordance with agreement reached with the Monitoring Officer of the
Responsible Authority and/or as required by statute.

23.4 The obligations and disabilities imposed by this standing order shall also apply to a member
of a Committee and/or Working/Task Group who is not also a member of the Council who
has a personal or prejudicial interest in a matter under consideration at a meeting.

23.5 If a candidate for any appointment under the Council is to his knowledge related to any
councillor of or to the holder of any office under the Council, he and the person to whom he is

Page 75



related shall disclose the relationship in writing to the Town Clerk. A candidate who fails so to do
will be disqualified from the appointment and, if appointed, will be dismissed without notice. The
Town Clerk shall report to the Council or to the appropriate Committee, Working/Task Group any
such disclosure. Where a relationship to a councillor is disclosed, the preceding clauses of this
Standing Order 20 shall apply as appropriate.

23.6 Canvassing of members of the Council or of any Committee, Working/Task Group directly
or indirectly, for any appointment under the Council shall disqualify the candidate for such
appointment.

23.7 A member of the Council or of any Committee, Working/Task Group shall not solicit any
person for appointment to or by the Council or recommend any person for an appointment
or promotion; but, any such councillor may give a written testimonial of a candidate’s ability,
experience or character for submission to the Council with an application for appointment.

23.8 Standing Order 20 shall apply to tenders as if the person making the tender were a
candidate for an appointment.

23.9 The Town Clerk shall make known the purpose and importance of the relevant sections of
this Standing Order 20 to every candidate for appointment.

24 Inspection of Documents

24.1 All Minutes and formal Notes kept by the Council and by any Committee and/or
Working/Task Group shall be open for the inspection of any member of the Council.

24.2 Minutes and formal Notes shall also be open to the inspection of any local
government elector of the parish as required by section 228 Local Government Act
1972.

24.3 Subject to standing orders to the contrary or in respect of matters which are confidential, a
councillor may, for the purpose of his official duties (but not otherwise), inspect any
document in the possession of the Council or a Committee or a sub-Committee and/or
Working/Task Group and request a copy for the same purpose.

25. Confidential Business & Unauthorised Activities

25.1 No member of the Council, a Committee or a Working/Task Group will disclose to any
person in any form who is not a member of the Council any business that is declared
confidential by the Council, the Committee or the Working/Task Group.

25.2 Any councillor who disobeys Standing Order 22.1 may be removed from a Committee and
Working/Task Group by resolution of the Council and the matter will be reported to the
Monitoring Officer and the relevant Standards Panel or external body.

25.3 No member of the Council or of any Committee and/or Working/Task Group shall, unless
specifically authorised so to do by Council:

a) Inspect in the name of or on behalf of the Council any lands or premises which the
Council has a right or duty to inspect;

b) Issue orders, instructions or directions to organisations or persons, including to Council
staff.

26 Planning Applications

Page 76



26.1 The Town Clerk will, as soon as it is received, record the following information for each
planning application notified to the Council:

(a) the date on which it was received;
(b) the name of the applicant and application reference;
(c) the place to which it refers.

26.2 The Town Clerk shall refer every planning application received to the Planning and Licensing
Consultative Group.

27 Financial Matters and Procurement

27.1 The Council shall consider and approve Financial Regulations drawn up by the Responsible
Financial Officer. Such Regulations shall include detailed arrangements for the following:
a) the accounting records and systems of internal control;
b) the assessment and management of risks faced by the Council;
c) the work of the Internal Auditor and the receipt of regular reports from the Internal

Auditor which shall be required at least annually;
d) the financial reporting requirements of members and local electors;
e) procurement policies (subject to (2) below) including the setting of values for different

procedures where the contract has an estimated value less than £50,000 and whether
contracts with an estimated value below £25,000 due to special circumstances are
exempt from a tendering process or procurement exercise”.

e)f) The Public Tender Regulations (2015) shally apply to contracts in excess of £25,000.

27.2 Any proposed contract for the supply of goods, materials, services and the execution of
works with an estimated value in excess of £50,000 shall be procured on the basis of a
formal tender as summarised in 247.3 below.

27.3 Any formal tender process shall comprise the following steps:

a) a public notice of intention to place a contract to be placed in a local newspaperon the
Contract Finder website;

b) a specification of the goods, materials, services and the execution of works shall be
drawn up;

c) tenders are to be sent, in a sealed marked envelope, to the Clerk by a stated date and
time;

d) tenders submitted are to be opened, after the stated closing date and time, by the Clerk
and at least one member of Council;

e) tenders are then to be assessed and reported to the appropriate meeting of Council.

27.4 Neither the Council, nor any Committee or Working/Task Group, is bound to accept the
lowest tender, estimate or quote. Any detailed tender notice shall contain a reference to
the relevant portions of Standing Orders 20 & 22 regarding improper activity.

27.5 The Financial Regulations of the Council shall be subject to regular review for fitness of
purpose, at least once every four years.

27.6 A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an
estimated value in excess of £25,000 but less than the relevant thresholds in standing
order 18(f) is subject to Regulations 109-114 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015
which include a requirement on the Council to advertise the contract opportunity on
the Contracts Finder website regardless of what other means it uses to advertise the

Page 77



opportunity unless it proposes to use an existing list of approved suppliers
(framework agreement).

27.7 A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an
estimated value in excess of specified thresholds for a public service or supply contract;
a public works contract; or public contract in connection with the supply of gas, heat,
electricity, drinking water, transport services a shall comply with the relevant
procurement procedures and other requirements in the Public Contracts Regulations
2015 which include advertising the contract opportunity on the Contracts Finder
website and in Official Journal of the EU.

28 Accounts and Financial Statement
Proper practices” in standing orders refer to the most recent version of “Governance and
Accountability for Local Councils – a Practitioners’ Guide”.

28.1 All payments by the Council shall be authorised, approved and paid in accordance with the
law, proper practices and the Council’s financial regulations.

28.2 The Responsible Financial Officer shall supply to each councillor as soon as practicable after
30 June, 30 September and 31 December in each year a statement to summarise the
Council’s income and expenditure for each quarter; the Council’s aggregate income and
expenditure for the year to date; the balances held at the end of the quarter being reported
and which includes a comparison with the budget for the financial year and highlights any
actual or potential overspends.

28.3 As soon as possible after the financial year end at 31 March, the Responsible Financial
Officer shall provide each councillor with a statement summarising the Council’s income and
expenditure for the last quarter and the year to date for information; and to the Council the
accounting statements for the year in the form of Section 2 of the annual governance and
accountability return, as required by proper practices, for consideration and approval.#

28.4 The year-end accounting statements shall be prepared in accordance with proper practices
and apply the income and expenditure accounts for the year to 31 March. The annual
governance and accountability return of the Council, which is subject to external audit,
including the annual governance statement, shall be presented to the Council for
consideration and formal approval before 30 June.

29 Standing Orders Generally

All or part of a standing order, except one that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal
requirements, may be suspended by resolution in relation to the consideration of an item on
the agenda for a meeting.

a) A motion to add to or vary or revoke one or more of the Council’s standing orders,
except one that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal requirements, shall be
proposed by a special motion, the written notice by at least 6 councillors to be given to
the Proper Officer in accordance with standing order 6.

b) The Proper Officer shall provide a copy of the Council’s standing orders to a councillor
as soon as possible.

c) The decision of the chairman of a meeting as to the application of standing orders at the
meeting shall be final.

Page 78



Date of Adoption
These Standing Orders were reviewed and adopted by Council in January 2019March 2021.

Review Date – January 2021March 2023

Page 79



 

 

1. Comments, compliments and concerns 
 
Introduction 

 
1.1 Your views help the Town Council improve services and recognise your particular needs. If you 

think we could do better, we would like to hear more from you. We would also like to know 

when you think we did something well, and if anything in particular impressed you.  

 

1.2 You can contact the Town Council by: 

 

• Calling: 01252 712667 

• Emailing: customerservices@farnham.gov.uk   

• Writing to: Farnham Town Council, South Street, Farnham, Surrey. GU9 7RN 

 

More information is available at www.farnham.gov.uk where you can also report any matters on 

Farnham or other Council services at www.farnham.gov.uk/report 

 

 

Informing the Town Council of a concern 

 

1.3 Complaint procedures are an important part of nearly every commercial or public service 

organisation. This is because through dealing with and responding to complaints or instances of 

poor performance or delivery of service an organisation sees its faults and has the opportunity 

to address and improve them.  

 

1.4 Concerns about procedures or the delivery of services and suggestions of how they can be 

improved are welcomed, and issues can be reported at www.farnham.gov.uk or by contacting us 

using the details above.       

 

1.5 Talking to staff will usually resolve things. Please raise matters with the staff concerned and we 

hope to be able to put things right straight away or explain why the Town Council is unable to 

do so. This is often the quickest route to getting an issue resolved and it is generally in the 

interests of the person raising a concern and the Town Council to try to resolve the matter 

informally through the normal channels of communication, rather than referring to the Town 

Council’s complaints procedure. However, if you are unhappy with the response provided, you 

can make a complaint by following our complaints procedure. 

 

2. Complaints procedure   
2.1 Depending on the nature of the complaint there will be an occasion when the Town Council 

cannot resolve a complaint and the complainant may wish to take the matter further.  

 

2.2 Some complainants may be angry and aggrieved, sometimes with good cause. A very small 

minority make complaints that are vexatious, in that they persist unreasonably with their 

complaints, or make complaints in order to try and make life difficult for the Council rather than 

genuinely to resolve a grievance. This may involve making several complaints about different 

matters, or continuing to raise the same or similar matters repeatedly. However, most 

complaints can be resolved satisfactorily.  

Annex 5 

Page 80

mailto:customerservices@farnham.gov.uk
http://www.farnham.gov.uk/
http://www.farnham.gov.uk/report
http://www.farnham.gov.uk/


 

2.3  Guidance for dealing with vexatious complainants is set out at paragraph 4. 

 

3. The definition of a complaint 

 
A complaint is…….  

“An expression of dissatisfaction about the council’s action or lack of action or about 

the standard of a service, whether the action taken or the service was provided by the 

council itself or a body acting on behalf of the Council”.  

 

A COMPLAINT IS NOT AN INITIAL REQUEST FOR SERVICE.  

 

4. Complaints Procedure 
 
Farnham Town Council’s procedure for dealing with complaints is as follows:  

 
4.1 Stage 1: In the event of a complaint about Farnham Town Council, the matter should be 

first reported to the Officer responsible for delivering that service, who will respond to the 

complaint and attempt to find a resolution. 

 

4.2 Stage 2: In the event that this cannot be resolved by the Officer, the matter will be passed 

to an independent Officer appointed by the Town Clerk who will investigate the complaint.  

 

4.3 Stage 3: In the event that the complaint cannot be resolved at Level 2 of the complaints 

procedure or an appeal is lodged against a decision previously taken by the Independent 

Officer, the complaint will be reviewed by the Town Clerk. 

 

4.4 Stage 4: Appeals If an appeal is made against the decision previously taken by the Town 

Clerk, the appeal will be reported to the Strategy and Finance Working Group or an 

appointed panel of 3 Members or the Cemeteries Working Group, depending on the 

nature of the complaint. The decision of the appointed group is final and will be reported to 

Full Council.  

 

4.5 Complaints about a policy decision made by the Council will be referred back to the 

Council. 

 

Note: This procedure does not cover complaints about the conduct of a member of the Town 

Council. Any complaint that a Councillor may have breached the Council’s adopted Code of 

Conduct should be referred to the Town Clerk or Monitoring Officer at Waverley Borough 

Council, The Burys, Godalming GU7 1HR. 

 

• For guidance on how to complain to Farnham Town Council, please refer to Appendix A.  

• For guidance for Employees on how to deal with a complaint, please refer to Appendix B. 

• For guidance for Employees on how to record and monitor a complaint, please refer to 

Appendix C.  

• For Complaints to be referred elsewhere see Appendix D 

 

  

Page 81



 

5. Vexatious or Persistent Complainants  

 
Habitual or vexatious complainants can be a problem for Council Staff and Members. The difficulty in 

handling such complainants is that they are time consuming and wasteful of resources in terms of 

Officer and Member time and displace scarce human resources that could otherwise be spent on 

Council priorities. Whilst the Council endeavours to respond with patience and sympathy to the 

needs of all complainants there are times when there is nothing further that can reasonably be done 

to assist or to rectify a real or perceived problem. 

 

5.1 The term habitual means ‘done repeatedly or as a habit’. Farnham Town Council considers 

‘habitual’ as three times or more. The term vexatious is recognised in law and means ‘denoting 

an action or the bringer of an action that is brought without sufficient grounds for winning, 

purely to cause annoyance to the defendant’.  

 

5.2 When is a complainant not Vexatious?  

 

5.2.1 It is important to distinguish between people who make a number of complaints because 

they really think things have gone wrong, and people who are simply being difficult. 

Complainants will often be frustrated and aggrieved and therefore consideration must be 

made for the merits of the case rather than the attitude.  

 

5.2.2 Even if someone has made a vexatious complaint in the past, it cannot be assumed that the 

next complaint is also vexatious. Each complaint must be considered, and a decision made 

as to whether it is vexatious or genuine.  

 

5.2.3 Each piece of correspondence must be read and evaluated. If the officer dealing with the 

complaint is concerned that it could be vexatious the complaint must be referred to the 

Town Clerk who, in consultation with the Town Mayor will decide whether it is 

vexatious.  

 

5.3. Criteria for Determining Habitual or Vexatious complaints 

 

Complainants (and/or anyone acting on their behalf) may be deemed to be habitual or vexatious 

where previous or current contact with them shows that they meet one of the following criteria:  

 

Where complainants:  

5.3.1 Persist in pursuing a complaint where the Council’s complaints process has been fully 

and properly implemented and exhausted 

 

5.3.2 Persistently change the substance of a complaint or continually raise new issues or seek 

to prolong contact by continually raising further concerns or questions whilst the 

complaint is being addressed. (Care must be taken, however, not to disregard new 

issues which are significantly different from the original complaint as they need to be 

addressed as separate complaints).  

 

5.3.3 Are repeatedly unwilling to accept documented evidence given as being factual or deny 

receipt of an adequate response in spite of correspondence specifically answering their 

questions or do not accept that facts can sometimes be difficult to verify when a long 

period of time has elapsed.  

 

5.3.4 Regularly focus on a trivial matter to an extent which is out of proportion to its 

significance and continue to focus on this point. It is recognised that determining what is 

Page 82



a trivial matter can be subjective and careful judgement will be used in applying this 

criteria.  

 

5.3.5 Repeatedly do not clearly identify the precise issues which they wish to be investigated, 

despite reasonable efforts of the Council to help them specify their concerns, and/or 

where the concerns identified are not within the remit of the Council to investigate. 

 

5.3.6 Have threatened, used physical violence or intimidation towards employees or Members 

of the Council at any time. This will, in itself, cause personal contact with the 

complainant and/or their representative to be discontinued and the complainant will, 

thereafter, only be contacted through written communication. The Council has 

determined that any complainant who threatens or uses actual physical violence towards 

employees will be regarded as a vexatious complainant. The complainant will be 

informed of this in writing together with notification of how future contact with the 

Council is to be made. If an employee or Member is meeting a complainant, the Town 

Council’s Lone Working Policy will apply.  

 

5.3.7 Have, in the course of addressing a registered complaint, had an excessive number of 

contacts with the Council – placing unreasonable demands on employees. A contact may 

be in person, by telephone, letter, email or fax. Judgement will be used to determine 

excessive contact taking into account the specific circumstances of each individual case. 

 

5.3.8 Have harassed or been verbally abusive on more than one occasion towards employees 

dealing with the complainant. Employees recognise that complaints may sometimes act 

out of character in times of stress, anxiety or distress and will make reasonable 

allowances for this. Some complainants may have a mental health disability and there is a 

need to be sensitive in circumstances of that kind.   

 

5.3.9 Are known to have recorded meetings or face-to-face/telephone conversations without 

the prior knowledge and consent of other parties involved.  

 

5.3.10 Make unreasonable demands on the Council and its employees and fail to accept that 

these may be unreasonable, for example, insist on responses to complaints or enquiries 

being provided more urgently than is reasonable or within the Council’s complaints 

procedure or normal recognised practice. 

 

5.3.11 Make unreasonable complaints which impose a significant burden on the human 

resources of the Council and where the complaint: 

 Clearly does not have any serious purpose or value; or 

 Is designed to cause disruption or annoyance; or 

 Has the effect of harassing the public authority; or 

 Can otherwise fairly be characterised as obsessive or manifestly unreasonable 

 

5.3.12  Make repetitive complaints and allegations which ignore the replies which Council Officers 

have supplied in previous correspondence.  

 

6. Procedure for dealing with Vexatious Complaints 
 

Complaints about the same matter 

6.1 (a) no new information 

 

6.1.1 If the complainant has not exhausted the Council’s complaints procedure, they should be 

referred to the next stage of the procedure.  

Page 83



 

6.1.2 If the complainant does not pursue the complaint to the next stage, and continues 

nonetheless to correspond, the correspondence must be read by the officer who 

originally dealt with the complaint. If it raises no significant new matters and presents no 

new information, the earlier advice should be referred to. The complainant should be 

warned that the Council will not enter into any further correspondence about the matter, 

other than as set out above. The decision as to whether or not correspondence is 

continued will be made by the Town Clerk in consultation with the Town Mayor.  

 

6.1.3 If the complainant still does not take advice, any further correspondence that does not 

raise any significant new matters or present any new information should simply be filed 

with no acknowledgement sent.  

 

6.2 (b) New Information 

 

6.2.1 If the complaint contains new information, this must be evaluated by the officer dealing 

with the complaint. A response should then be sent to the complainant. The letter must 

include telling the complainant of the next appropriate stage in the complaints procedure. 

 

6.3 (c) Complaints about similar matters 

 

6.3.1 The most difficult vexatious complaints to deal with are often complaints that are slightly 

different from the original complaint, but about the same broad area of activity. A 

decision will have to be made as to whether or not the matters are sufficiently different 

to justify being considered as a new complaint.  

 

6.4 (d) Complaints about different matters 

 

6.4.1 If a complainant keeps making complaints about different matters, each complaint should 

normally be considered in the usual way under the complaints procedure. 

 

6.5 (e) Trivial complaints  

 

6.5.1   However, if the new complaints are about entirely trivial matters, or matters that have 

clearly not caused the complainant any injustice, it may be appropriate to close down the 

complaint at Stage 1. This should only be done with the agreement of Town Clerk in 

consultation with the Town Mayor. The complainant should be told this, and there is no 

need to provide any right to appeal. Subsequent complaints should then simply be noted.  

 

6.6 Vexatious complaints made by Telephone 

 

6.6.1 A complaint to the Council does not have to be made in writing. The complainant’s address 

and telephone number should be taken, allowing the Council to correspond with the 

complainant. However, if a complainant keeps telephoning either to discuss an existing 

complaint or to make a new complaint and this is proving time consuming and disruptive, it 

may be reasonable to ask them to put their concerns in writing and to discontinue the call. If 

the problem persists, it may be reasonable to tell the complainant that the Council will, for a 

set period, not accept telephone calls and only deal with the complainant in writing. This will 

only be done after discussion with the Town Clerk.  

 

6.6.2 If the complainant is told that the Council will only deal with his or her concerns in writing, a 

letter should be sent to the complainant to confirm this, how long the ban will apply, and the 

reason for it. At the end of the period the matter should be reviewed, and the ban lifted if 

appropriate.  

Page 84



 

6.6.3 There will never be a blanket ban for an unspecified period of time. 

 

6.6.4 The decision will be made by the Town Clerk in consultation with the Town Mayor/and/or 

Council.  

 

6.7 Vexatious complaints made by Email  

 

6.7.1  A complaint to the Council may be received via email. The complainant’s address and 

telephone number should be taken, allowing the Council to correspond with the 

complainant. However, if a complainant keeps emailing either to discuss an existing 

complaint or to make a new complaint and this is proving time consuming and disruptive, it 

may be reasonable to ask them to put their concerns in a formal letter providing contact 

details and to discontinue the call. If the problem persists, it may be reasonable to tell the 

complainant that the Council will, for a set period, not accept emails and only deal with the 

complainant by letter. This will only be done after discussion with the Town Clerk.  

 

6.7.2 If the complainant is told that the Council will only deal with his or her concerns in writing, a 

letter should be sent to the complainant to confirm this, how long the ban will apply, and the 

reason for it. At the end of the period the matter should be reviewed, and the ban lifted if 

appropriate. 

 

6.7.3 There will never be a blanket ban for an unspecified period of time. 

 

6.7.4 The decision will be made by the Town Clerk in consultation with the Town Mayor/and/or 

Council.  

 

6.8 Co-ordinating dealings with vexatious complainants  

 

6.8.1  Vexatious complainants often contact many different people within the Council including 

Members of the Council, and can try and take advantage of the differing responses they may 

receive. It is important to try and ensure that a vexatious complainant has one main contact 

within the Council. In such circumstances, the Town Clerk will advise on the best approach, 

usually by identifying a single point of contact.  

 

6.9  Dealing with Habitual or Vexatious Complainants 

 

The options below can be used on their own or in combination depending on the circumstances of 

the case and whether the complaint process is ongoing or completed.  

 

6.9.1 A letter to the complainant setting out responsibilities of the Council so that the Council 

can process the complaint. If terms are contravened, consideration will then be given to 

implementing other action as indicated below. 

 

6.9.2 Decline contact with the complainant, either in person, by telephone or by email or any 

combination of these, provided that contact is maintained either by letter or fax. This may 

also mean that only one named officer will be nominated to maintain contact (and a named 

deputy in their absence). The complainant will be notified of this person. 

 

6.9.3 Notify the complainant, in writing, that the Council has responded fully to the points raised 

and has tried to resolve the complaint but there is nothing more to add and continuing 

contact on the matter will serve no useful purpose. The complainant will also be notified 

that the correspondence is at an end, advising the complainant that they are being treated as 

Page 85



a habitual or vexatious complainant and as such the Council does not intend to engage in 

further correspondence dealing with the complaint. 

 

6.9.4 Inform the complainant that in extreme circumstances the Council will seek legal advice on 

habitual or vexatious complaints. 

 

6.9.5 Temporarily suspend all contact with the complainant, in connection with the issues relating 

to the complaint being considered habitual or vexatious, while seeking advice or guidance 

from its solicitor or other relevant agencies. 

 

7. Complaints that cannot be resolved by the Council 

 
7.1 Complaints that cannot be resolved by the Council and the complainant wishes to take the 

matter further include the following: 

 

• Breaches of the Members Code of Conduct for the Council may result in an allegation being 

made to the Monitoring Officer at Waverley Borough Council. This may be in respect of 

financial wrongdoing, pecuniary interests, not complying with equality legislation and so on.  

 

• Any matter that raises a suspicion of criminal wrongdoing can, of course, be referred to the 

police 

 

• Local electors have a statutory right to object to a Council’s audit of accounts (s. 16 Audit 

Commission Act 1998) 

 

• Where the Council carries out functions on behalf of another authority, such as litter 

picking or crime and disorder measures under an agency agreement with the Borough 

Council, the complaint can be referred to them.  

 

• Complaints under the Freedom of Information legislation, that the Council has not released 

information in the manner that person believes it should have done, can be referred to the 

Information Commissioner.  

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

F 

 

 

 

Notes 
Planning & Licensing Consultative Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Monday 1st February, 2021 

 

Place 
Via Zoom video conferencing 
 

 

 

Planning & Licensing Consultative Working Group Members Present: 

 

Councillor Brian Edmonds (Lead Member) 

Councillor Roger Blishen 

Councillor Alan Earwaker 

Councillor John "Scotty" Fraser 

Councillor Michaela Wicks 

Councillor George Hesse 

Councillor Michaela Martin 

Councillor John Neale 

 

Officers: Jenny de Quervain 

 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 

None were received. 

 

2.   Disclosure of Interests 

 

None were received.  

 

3.   Applications Considered for Key/Larger Developments 

 

Farnham Castle 

 

Deferred from 18th January 2020 

WA/2020/1984 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Mr Chris Turner 

Erection of a replacement wing to main hotel building following demolition of existing wing to 

provide 50 rooms (a nett increase of 32) with parking below: the erection of a conference and 

events venue; the erection of extensions and alterations to the main hotel including the 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

provision of a seating area with seasonal covering, refuse storage and collection point, changes 

to car parking and landscaping, together with associated works. 

THE BUSH HOTEL, THE BOROUGH, FARNHAM GU9 7NN 

Farnham Town Council notes the extensive changes, especially to the façade facing 

Victoria Road, of the proposed hotel accommodation block since previously 

presented to the Council. 

 

Farnham Town Council objects to the new accommodation block not being 

compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

FNP1 Design of New Development and Conservation, not responding to the 

heritage and distinctive character of its setting within (policy FNP2) the Town 

Centre Conservation Area, in height and scale and design, and fails to protect and 

enhance heritage assets and their setting. 

 

Farnham Town Council does not believe the proposals respond enough to LPP1 

policies CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainability and Design, to include 

renewable and low carbon energy supply systems such as solar photovoltaic panels, 

as well as the use of natural lighting and ventilation.  Additional natural light and 

ventilation could be introduced into the south facing conference extension with 

more glazing in the link walkway and automated ventilation within the roof lantern 

design (the current pyramid design is likely to trap insects). 

 

Clarification of improvements to the green boundary between the development and 

Central car park is required.  This will offer some screening of the development and 

it is vital to retain and maintain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 

Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

The car parking layout needs clarification as inaccessible spaces are shown with two 

rows being double-parked.  

 

The layby is not sufficient size to serve deliveries and collections.  The bin store 

needs to be relocated, for example if it was closer to the layby and nearer to the 

rear of vehicle servicing the hotel for food/laundry deliveries/collections and refuse 

collections, noise and disturbance to local residents and hotel occupants would be 

reduced. 

 

Confirmation is outstanding from Thames Water for infrastructure needs and 

availability of capacity for wastewater from the proposed new hotel 

accommodation. This information is vital for the viability of the proposed extension. 

 

Deferred from 18th January 2020 

Combined Application 

WA/2020/1985 Farnham Castle 

Officer:  Mr Chris Turner 

Listed building consent for the erection of an extension, provision of a seating area with seasonal 

covering, improvements to shop façade, shop fronts and fenestration; glazed link extension, 

internal works and landscaping. 

THE BUSH HOTEL, THE BOROUGH, FARNHAM GU9 7NN 

Farnham Town Council notes the extensive changes, especially to the façade facing 

Victoria Road, of the proposed hotel accommodation block since previously 

presented to the Council. 

 

Farnham Town Council objects to the new accommodation block not being 

compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

Page 88



 

 

 

FNP1 Design of New Development and Conservation, not responding to the 

heritage and distinctive character of its setting within (policy FNP2) the Town 

Centre Conservation Area, in height and scale and design, and fails to protect and 

enhance heritage assets and their setting. 

 

Farnham Town Council does not believe the proposals respond enough to LPP1 

policies CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainability and Design, to include 

renewable and low carbon energy supply systems such as solar photovoltaic panels, 

as well as the use of natural lighting and ventilation.  Additional natural light and 

ventilation could be introduced into the south facing conference extension with 

more glazing in the link walkway and automated ventilation within the roof lantern 

design (the current pyramid design is likely to trap insects). 

 

Clarification of improvements to the green boundary between the development and 

Central car park is required.  This will offer some screening of the development and 

it is vital to retain and maintain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 

Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

The car parking layout needs clarification as inaccessible spaces are shown with two 

rows being double-parked.  

 

The layby is not sufficient size to serve deliveries and collections.  The bin store 

needs to be relocated, for example if it was closer to the layby and nearer to the 

rear of vehicle servicing the hotel for food/laundry deliveries/collections and refuse 

collections, noise and disturbance to local residents and hotel occupants would be 

reduced. 

 

Confirmation is outstanding from Thames Water for infrastructure needs and 

availability of capacity for wastewater from the proposed new hotel 

accommodation. This information is vital for the viability of the proposed extension. 

 

Farnham Castle 

 

WA/2020/2003 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Application under Section 73 to vary Conditions 1 and 4 of WA/2018/0830 (Erection of 5 

buildings to provide student accommodation comprising 2 three storey and 3 four storey 

buildings together with internal access, car parking, lighting, landscaping  

UNIVERSITY FOR THE CREATIVE ARTS, FALKNER ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 7DS 

Farnham Town Council is surprised by the errors made in plotting the boundary of 

the site given the investment and high-level organisations involved in this project.  

Farnham Town Council objects to the quality of materials proposed for surfacing 

the car park.  The expansive tarmac is inappropriate with the original proposal of 

bound gravel being more permeable and ‘softer’ visually. 

 

The retention of the hedgerow is vital to reduce the impact of the development 

from the ASVI and to prevent run-off from the elevated agricultural land to the 

north.  The vegetation will also take up some rainwater on the edge of the expanse 

of, what is already laid, tarmac surface.  Improvements and maintenance of this 

hedgerow is imperative to limit the visual impact and take up rainwater run-off 

from the fields.   

 

Farnham Town Council objects to the extent of the light pollution from high-level 

external lighting on the 3 and 4-storey blocks.  It is likely this is lighting in place to 

Page 89



 

 

 

aid construction and must not be a permanent feature.  Confirmation must be 

sought given the sites location against the ASVI. 

 

The scheme in place for discounted fares for use of public transport for students and 

staff and the additional bicycle storage being included in the development, are 

positive contributions to the sustainability of this town centre located site. 

 

Farnham Moor Park 

 

Amendments received 

The application has been amended to respond better to the existing site. The scale 

of the proposal has been reduced and the appearance of the proposal has been 

amended. 

 

WA/2020/0008 Moor Park 

Officer: Mr Chris Turner 

Erection of a 60-bed care home (Use Class C2) with associated amenity space, parking, service 

area, and bin and cycle storage and associated landscaping following the demolition of existing 

dwelling, garage and outbuildings.  

24 MOOR PARK LANE, FARNHAM 

Farnham Town Council maintains its objection to a 60-bed care home following the 

demolition of the existing dwelling at 24 Moor Park Lane.  Farnham Town Council 

acknowledges the designation of the Shepherd & Flock roundabout as a 

Conservation Area and considers this proposal inappropriate development on the 

island site.  The extensive built form proposed would dominate the open area of the 

Conservation Area and change the character of the Shepherd & Flock roundabout.  

The amended proposal, although attempts to break up the mass with multiple 

facades, are still of a size, scale and bulk inappropriate to the site, out of character 

with dwellings on the island site, contrary to the Farnham Design Statement, 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan Policy FNP1 and LPP1 C5 and RE3. 

This is a busy set of road junctions with the A325, A31 and local road, creating a 

gyratory system involving turning movements across the oncoming traffic stream of 

this important and heavily trafficked area, where there is no provision for merging 

and diverging onto the Bourne Mill roundabout and would lead to danger and 

inconvenience to other users of the highway. The increase in traffic movements will 

not only add to congestion but have a negative impact on the air quality in this 

location and have a negative impact on the health of future occupants. 

 

Guildford Borough Council 20/P/02221 

Consultation from a neighbouring authority for reserved matters application pursuant to outline 

permission 16/P/00222 permitted on 26/01/2018, to consider appearance, landscaping, layout 

and scale in respect of the erection of 254 dwellings. 

LAND AT MANOR FARM, THE STREET, TONGHAM GU10 1DG 

Comments directly to Guildford Borough Council Planning. 

 

Farnham Town Council acknowledges the efforts made by the applicant in 

responding to the previously refused application 19/P/02102 by Guildford Borough 

Council and commends the council for making that decision. 

 

In this application, 20/P/02221, the applicant has engaged with the emerging 

emphasis on design and place.  It is hoped that previous concerns of failing to 

respond to character and vernacular have been addressed and that every 

opportunity has been presented by the developer to ensure the developments 

sustainability – for the environment and its future occupants.  

Page 90



 

 

 

 

Construction hours must be conditioned to protect the surrounding residents from 

noise disturbance.  The Construction Transport Management Plan must be adhered 

to and enforced, with space available onsite for all construction vehicles to avoid the 

use of limited local on-street parking.  

 

Farnham has 25,000 new homes being built on its boundary with Guildford, Hart, 

Rushmoor and East Hants, putting strain on all types of infrastructure needed to 

sustain the ever-growing housing numbers – schools, medical facilities, wastewater, 

and water supplies, and the road network, especially close to this site (A3, A31, 

A331 and A323). 

 

Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

 

PRA/2021/0003 Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

Officer: Gemma Paterson 

General Permitted Development Order 2015, Schedule 2, Part 3, Class M - Prior Notification 

Application for change of use from retail (Class A1) to 5 dwelling houses (Class C3) and for 

building operations reasonably necessary for the conversion. 

55 – 59 BADSHOT LEA ROAD, BADSHOT LEA GU9 9LP 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the proposed change of use from retail 

to 5 dwelling houses.  Does the proposal even meet minimum standards for 

habitable accommodation?  In light of the current circumstances, it is unacceptable 

for people to live in such confined spaces with minimal daylight and no outside 

space. This is gross overdevelopment as the upper floors are already residential, not 

compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

policy FNP1 in density and layout, having a negative impact on the amenity of future 

occupants. No parking provision has been included in an area with limited access to 

public transport and no on-street available. Cycle storage and refuse storage has not 

been included. 

 

Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

 

Deferred from 18th January 2020 

Farnham Town Council will submit comments to Hampshire County Council,  

comments due by 15th February 2021 

Hampshire County Council Planning Application: 33619/007 

 

Farnham Town Council continues to raise objection to application 33619/007: 

Development of an Energy Recovery Facility (ERF) and Associated Infrastructure at 

the Veolia site on the A31, Alton GU34 4JD. 

 

The Transport Assessment study area is confined to the A31 and does not consider 

any additional traffic on the A3, A325, A331 and A287 or local B-roads joining the 

A31.  Farnham already has a major issue of congestion with the convergence of 

these A-roads, with two going through the historic and built-up residential areas, 

and several areas where air quality exceeds the European Air Quality thresholds.  

Traffic emissions generated by the operation of the ERF are not addressed within 

the air quality chapter of the EIA. 

 

Given the size and scale of the proposed facility, it has the capacity to accept waste 

from a wider geographical area.  Three other energy recovery facilities are located 

to the west and south, it is therefore likely that this site will be supplied from the 

east and north.  An assertion has been made that 48% of HGV traffic will travel to 

Page 91



 

 

 

the site from Surrey and can only go through Farnham, whether from the A3 at 

Guildford, the A331 at Tongham, the A325 at Farnham or Wrecclesham or the 

A287 from North Farnham, further reducing air quality and adding to its 

congestion. 

 

The form and height, at almost 40m high with an 80m flue, is inappropriate in this 

setting and out of place in this rural location, being visible from 10km above ground 

and requiring deep excavation into the water table close to the river Wey.  It is 

noted that the stack height of 80m is an integral part of facility design and should 

not be considered as mitigation.  If pollution is minimised ‘using the best available 

techniques’ and no emissions go into the atmosphere or any visible water vapour 

plume, why is an 80m stack needed?  The EIA uses baseline data for London sites for 

background dioxin and PCB concentrations. London sites cannot be compared to 

judged acceptable ‘tolerable daily intake’ in this rural location.  Given the prevailing 

wind, Farnham residents will suffer this pollution along with residents closer to the 

site. 

 

Farnham Town Council maintains its strong object to this application and asks that 

the application be refused. 

 

4.   Applications Considered 

 

Farnham Bourne 

 

WA/2020/2034 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Alterations to garage to form habitable self-contained annexe. 

REDCOT, 14 LODGE HILL ROAD, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3QN 

Given the location against the boundary of no. 12, the impact on the neighbour 

must be fully considered, residential accommodation use is significantly different to 

that of a garage.  Provided that the annex is conditioned ancillary to the dwelling 

and strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and 

LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, 

has no negative impact on the neighbour from noise or light pollution and sufficient 

parking is available within the boundary of the property with the loss of the garage, 

Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for 

construction and vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2053 Farnham Bourne  

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations including roof lights. 

8 STREAM VALLEY ROAD, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3LT 

Farnham Town Council regrets the loss of another single storey dwelling.  Provided 

that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, has no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity with 

overlooking from the first floor and sufficient parking is available within the 

boundary of the property with the loss of the garage and the additional bedroom, 

Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for 

construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be 

followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

Page 92



 

 

 

 

WA/2020/2067 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for erection of single storey extension and 

conversion of garage into habitable room. 

REDGARTH, 84 MIDDLE BOURNE LANE LOWER BOURNE GU10 3NJ 

Provided that the extension and conversion strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and sufficient parking is available 

within the boundary of the property with the loss of the garage, Farnham Town 

Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles 

and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2068 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extensions and alterations to roof line and elevations; erection of detached 

outbuilding and associated works. 

SUTTON LODGE, 3 PINE GROVE LOWER BOURNE GU10 3RG 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP8 South Farnham 

Arcadian Areas, FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy 

CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design and has no 

negative impact on the neighbours and wildlife from light pollution with the 

extensive glazing in this darker location, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction and vehicles and materials, COVID-

19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2097 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of a new dwelling on land to the east of Oakridge, Longdown Road 

LAND ADJACENT OAKRIDGE, LONGDOWN ROAD, LOWER BOURNE  

Farnham Town Council acknowledges this site has had a new dwelling was allowed 

at appeal on 13th December 2017.  The new dwelling must strictly adhere to the 

Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 and 

FNP8 and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design.  Conditions must be put in place to protect trees and tree roots during 

construction.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2111 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

21 FOX ROAD, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3NZ 

Farnham Town Council objects to the proposed extensions and alterations not 

being compliant with Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions and 

Residential Extensions SPD, to the size and scale of the proposed two-storey 

extensions to the rear being over development and overbearing and having a 

negative impact on the neighbours.  

 

 

Page 93



 

 

 

WA/2021/0013 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension following demolition of existing extensions. 

BRIDGE END, 1 BOURNE GROVE, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3QT 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, materials match existing and tree roots protected during construction, 

Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for 

construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be 

followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0027 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extensions and alterations to raised terrace and associated works. 

6 GREENHILL ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8JN 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP5 Great Austins 

Conservation Area, FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy 

CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, Farnham 

Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction 

vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and 

WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0041 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension following demolition of existing extension, erection of garage block and 

associated works. 

VALE HOUSE, 40 FRENSHAM VALE, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3HT 

The History and Constraints Report does not show current applications 

WA/2020/1901 erection of extensions and WA/2020/1902 for erection of an 

outbuilding, consideration must be given to these proposals in this application.  

Provided that the extension and erection of an attached garage block strictly 

adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

policy FNP10 Protect and Enhance the Countryside, FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction and vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0046 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for alterations to roof space to form habitable 

accommodation with two roof lights and two roof lights over garage. 

9 VICARAGE HILL, FARNHAM GU9 8HG 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP5 Great Austins Conservation Area, 

FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate 

Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Page 94



 

 

 

NMA/2021/0009 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Joanna Patrick 

Amendment to WA/2020/1542 for repositioning of front door and reduction of glazing on main 

front gable. 

2 DENE LANE, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3PW 

Farnham Town Council acknowledges the improvements to the proposal with the 

reduction in glazing being more appropriate for this location. 

 

CA/2021/0008 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

GREAT AUSTINS CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO AND REMOVAL OF TREES 

ST THOMAS ON THE BOURNE, FRENSHAM ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8HA 

Farnham Town Council leaves to the Arboricultural Officer. 

 

CA/2021/0009 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

GREAT AUSTINS CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO TREE 

FARLANDS CROFT, 20 GREAT AUSTINS FARNHAM GU9 8JQ 

Farnham Town Council leaves to the Arboricultural Officer. 

 

CA/2021/0014 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

GREAT AUSTINS CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO AND REMOVAL OF TREES 

12 GREENHILL ROAD FARNHAM GU9 8JP 

Farnham Town Council objects to removal of trees and hedges, especially in an area 

covered by Farnham Neighbourhood Plan Policy FNP5 Great Austins Conservation 

Area.  If removal is absolutely necessary, trees must be replaced.  In response to a 

climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy 

CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

CA/2021/0018 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

GREAT AUSTINS CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO AND REMOVAL OF TREES 

86A TILFORD ROAD FARNHAM GU9 8DS 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity but 

objects to the removal of trees.  A tree must be planted in a suitable location to 

replace the Silver Birch.  In response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain 

green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green 

and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0009 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

APPLICATION FOR REMOVAL OF TREE SUBJECT TO TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 09/09 

OAK TREE COTTAGE, 7 KILN LANE, FARNHAM GU10 3LR 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, raises 

concern to the extent of the tree works in conjunction with TM/2021/0010 and 

TM/2021/0011 at the same site. In response to a climate emergency, it is vital to 

retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 

Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

Page 95



 

 

 

 

TM/2021/0010 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 09/09 

OAK TREE COTTAGE, 7 KILN LANE, FARNHAM GU10 3LR 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, raises 

concern to the extent of the tree works in conjunction with TM/2021/0009 and 

TM/2021/0011 at the same site.  In response to a climate emergency, it is vital to 

retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 

Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0011 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT TO TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 09/09 

OAK TREE COTTAGE, 7 KILN LANE, FARNHAM GU10 3LR 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, raises 

concern to the extent of the tree works in conjunction with TM/2021/0009 and 

TM/2021/0010 at the same site. In response to a climate emergency, it is vital to 

retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 

Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0016 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO AND REMOVAL OF TREES SUBJECT OF TREE 

PRESERVATION ORDER 04/11 

PINE WOOD, PINE RIDGE DRIVE, FARNHAM GU10 3JW 

Farnham Town Council objects to the removal of trees.  If removal is absolutely 

necessary, replacements must be planted.  In response to a climate emergency, it is 

vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change 

and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0019 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Steve Tester 

APPLICATION FOR REMOVAL OF TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 26/05 

2 VALE WOOD DRIVE, FARNHAM GU10 3HW 

Farnham Town Council objects to the removal of trees however, it is noted a 

replacement Norwegian Spruce will be planted.  In response to a climate 

emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 

Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

Farnham Castle 

 

WA/2020/0159 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Mr Chris Turner 

Temporary change of use to a sui generis mixed use of ancillary parking for the football club, 

commercial car parking and residential car parking (amended description). 

FARNHAM TOWN FOOTBALL CLUB, MEAD LANE, FARNHAM GU9 7DY 

It has been confirmation that WBC Estates accepts this application for the 

subletting of WBC leased land.  Farnham Town Council has no objections to the 

temporary use of the area for parking for a 2-year period but it must be condition to 

be returned to grass and with additional landscaping incorporated.  The temporary 

period of usage was due to end March 2022, as this application has been running for 

over a year, will the end date still be as stated? 

 

Page 96



 

 

 

WA/2020/2040 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Alterations to elevations including flat roof to form terrace. 

38 CASTLE STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7JB 

Provided that the alterations are approved by the Heritage Officer and strictly 

adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area, FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions 

SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, have no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity with overlooking from 

the roof terrace and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, 

COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved 

construction hours adhered to. 

 

Combined application 

WA/2020/2041 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Listed Building Consent for internal and external alterations. 

38 CASTLE STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7JB 

Provided that the alterations are approved by the Heritage Officer and strictly 

adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area, FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions 

SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, have no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity with overlooking from 

the roof terrace and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, 

COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved 

construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0033 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Alterations to elevations to provide new shopfront. 

42 – 43 DOWNING STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7PH 

Farnham Town Council objects to the excessive amount of advertising and 

advertising panels, not being compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area, FNP3 

Shop Fronts within Farnham Town Centre Conservation Area and its setting where 

illuminated signage is prohibited, FNP4 Advertisement Control, Farnham 

Conservation Area Management Plan (FCAMP) and Shopfront Design Guide SPD. 

 

WA/2021/0034 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Display of illuminated and non illuminated signs. 

42 - 43 DOWNING STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7PH 

Farnham Town Council objects to the excessive amount of advertising and 

advertising panels, not being compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area, FNP3 

Shop Fronts within Farnham Town Centre Conservation Area and its setting where 

illuminated signage is prohibited, FNP4 Advertisement Control, Farnham 

Conservation Area Management Plan (FCAMP) and Shopfront Design Guide SPD.  

 

Farnham Firgrove 

 

WA/2020/2009 Farnham Firgrove 

Page 97



 

 

 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for erection of wooden garden room at rear of 

garden with height not exceeding 2.5m. 

76 WEYDON HILL ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8NY 

Provided that the garden room is Conditioned ancillary to the dwelling and strictly 

adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate 

Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design and has no negative impact 

on the neighbours from noise or light pollution, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction and vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2011 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of extensions and alterations to roofline and elevations. 

9 BRAMBLETON AVENUE, FARNHAM GU9 8QU 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity 

with overlooking or light pollution from the extensive glazing to the rear, Farnham 

Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction 

vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and 

WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2076 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension and alterations. 

41 ARTHUR ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8PD 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2101 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for loft conversion with roof lights to front and rear 

and dormer to rear. 

1 SEARLE ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8LJ 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, has no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity with overlooking and 

materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0021 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of front porch and boundary gate with associated works. 

Page 98



 

 

 

2 ALFRED ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8ND 

With the additional of the electric gates, the green boundary must be maintained to 

preserve the street scene and to be in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change 

and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.  Provided that the porch strictly adheres to 

the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 

Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and 

CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham 

Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction 

vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and 

WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0022 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of garage with garden room following demolition of existing. 

TREBOR LODGE, 1 TREBOR AVENUE, FARNHAM GU9 8JH 

Provided that the garage with garden room is Conditioned ancillary to the dwelling 

and strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and 

LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design 

and has no negative impact on the neighbour given its location to the boundary, 

Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for 

construction and vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Hale and Heath End 

 

WA/2020/2029 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Alterations to dropped kerb. 

35 UPPER HALE ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 0NX 

It is noted that the gravel frontage of the property is already in use for parking.  

Provided that the County Highways Authority approve the dropped kerb, and 

vehicles access the highway in forward gear to avoid danger to pedestrians and 

other road users, Farnham Town Council has no objections. 

 

WA/2020/2059 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

145 UPPER WEYBOURNE LANE, FARNHAM GU9 9DD 

Farnham Town Council objects to this application not being compliant with FNP16 

and Residentials Extensions SPD, insufficient parking has been provided for the 

proposed 4-bedroom dwelling.  This is a congested area with residential properties 

and commercial premises competing for on-street parking.  The current 

arrangements for parking are inadequate as no drop kerb serves the existing garage 

and the highways grass verge has been replaced with gravel and used for vehicles 

parking half on the verge/half in the road having a negative impact on the public 

realm.  The use of the pavement for parking vehicles is unacceptable. 

 

WA/2020/2096 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Gemma Paterson 

Erection of attached dwelling following demolition of existing extension and garage, single storey 

rear extension to existing dwelling and associated landscaping 

SUNDOWN, 10 HALE REEDS, FARNHAM GU9 9BN 

Page 99



 

 

 

Farnham Town Council objects to the overdevelopment on this restricted site, on a 

congested no-through road, turned into single lane access due to the on-street 

parking and busy main entrance to Heath End School, not being compliant with the 

Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1.  

Parking provisions is not laid out on the plans for the host and proposed dwelling.  

The description of parking in the Design and Access Statement is inadequate and 

does not demonstrate sufficient parking for both the host and proposed dwelling.  

The use of the pavement for parking vehicles is unacceptable. 

 

WA/2020/2033 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extension following demolition of existing. 

7 OAST HOUSE LANE, FARNHAM GU9 0NW 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site 

for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2046 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extension and alterations to elevations. 

WOODLAWN, HEATH LANE, FARNHAM GU9 0PR 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2099 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Olivia Gorham 

Erection of extension and alterations to elevations including roof lights. 

5 CARTERS WALK, FARNHAM GU9 9AY 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Moor Park 

 

WA/2020/2010 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Alterations to fenestration and erection of dormer windows. 

1 UPPER SOUTH VIEW, FARNHAM GU9 7JN 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity with overlooking and 

materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

Page 100



 

 

 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2065 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extensions and alterations. 

44 ABBOTS RIDE, FARNHAM GU9 8HZ 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2103 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations including dormer windows (revision of 

WA/2020/1543). 

19 MENIN WAY, FARNHAM GU9 8DY 

Farnham Town Council acknowledges the reduction to the roofline in this 

application.  Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the 

Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 

Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and 

CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham 

Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction 

vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and 

WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0030 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of oak framed triple garage and associated works. 

FIELD HOUSE, 46 COMPTON WAY, FARNHAM GU10 1QU 

Provided that the garage is Conditioned ancillary to the dwelling and strictly 

adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate 

Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

 

WA/2020/2030 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extension. 

LYNLEA COTTAGE, 25 GORSE LANE, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4SD 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 

Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

Page 101



 

 

 

 

WA/2020/2048 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of extension following demolition of existing. 

30 GREEN LANE, FARNHAM GU9 8PY 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, has no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity and materials match 

existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site 

for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0019 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension and alterations to fenestration. 

92 SHORTHEATH ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8SQ 

The block plan does not appear to include the rear proposed extensions. Farnham 

Town Council objects to the proposed extension and alterations not being 

compliant with Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions and 

Residential Extensions SPD, to the size and scale of the proposed two-storey 

extension to the rear, having a negative impact on the neighbour with overlooking 

and light pollution from the excessive glazing from the roofline down to the ground 

on the new gable end. 

 

Farnham Upper Hale 

 

Amended Plans on WBC planning portal 

WA/2020/1624 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

17 HOPE LANE, FARNHAM GU9 0HZ 

Farnham Town Council has reviewed the amended plans on the planning portal and, 

though no notification has been received of these clearer plans being provided, it is 

felt that they answer the question of clarification raised by Farnham Town Council 

on 23 November 2020.  

 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, has no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity and 

materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed.  WBC approved construction hours must be 

Conditioned if this application is approved to protect the amenity of the 

surrounding properties. 

 

WA/2020/2031 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Flo Taylor 

Erection of extensions and alterations to existing dwelling to provide 2 dwellings. 

19 HOPE LANE, FARNHAM GU9 0HZ 

Provided that the reinstatement of 2 dwellings, with extensions and alterations, 

strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood 

Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 

Page 102



 

 

 

Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, has no negative 

impact on the neighbours’ amenity and materials match existing, Farnham Town 

Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles 

and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed.  WBC 

approved construction hours must be Conditioned if this application is approved to 

protect the amenity of the surrounding properties including those on the eastern 

boundary. 

 

Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

 

WA/2020/2114 Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extension and alterations. 

43 WEYBOURNE ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 9ET 

Provided that the extension and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity and 

materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0010 Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extension following demolition of existing. 

12 NUTBOURNE, FARNHAM GU9 9EH 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, has no negative impact on the neighbour and sufficient parking is available 

within the boundary with the loss of the garage, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, 

COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved 

construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

 

WA/2020/2008 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Olivia Gorham 

Erection of single storey rear extension following demolition of existing conservatory. 

25 MEADOW WAY, ROWLEDGE GU10 4DY 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site 

for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2020/2102 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for loft conversion with hip to gable roof extension, 

dormers removal of window and new roof lights. 

10 PROSPECT ROAD, ROWLEDGE GU10 4AH 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Page 103



 

 

 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design materials match existing and no negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity 

from light pollution, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0020 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations and associated works. 

58 ECHO BARN LANE, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4NF 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0028 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

ELLERSLIE LODGE, THE LONG ROAD, ROWLEDGE GU10 4DH 

Provided that the extension and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity and 

materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0029 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Erection of detached two storey outbuilding. 

THE GATE HOUSE, THE LONG ROAD, ROWLEDGE GU10 4DL 

Farnham Town Council objects to the location of the detached two storey 

outbuilding to the front of the dwelling and the loss of trees and green boundary, 

not being compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions and Residential Extensions SPD.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

5.   Surrey County Council Mineral, Waste, or Other Applications/Consultations 

 

SCC Ref 2020/0174 Moor Park 

Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG 

Continued use of approximately 1.54 hectares of land for the screening and washing of inert 

waste, comprising power screen, washing plant, filter press building, associated tanks and 

equipment, conveyors and stockpile areas, underground ducting, storage bays and associated 

hardstanding areas without compliance with Conditions 1, 2 and 4 of planning permission ref: 

WA09/0856 dated 16 October 2009 to extend the time period of the development.  

Chambers Runfold (Grid Ref: 487603 147403) 

Page 104



 

 

 

This application, under Section 73, is looking to change the date of operations on 

the site from 2020 to 2030.  The restoration date remains the same, 22 February 

2042. 

 

Deferred to 15th February 2021 seek community input. 

 

6.   Appeals Considered 

 

PINS Appeal Reference: APP/R3650/W/20/3262641 

WA/2019/1905 Land at Lower Weybourne Lane  

Outline application for residential development of up to 140 dwellings with all matters reserved 

except for access. 

Comments to be circulated. 

 

PINS Appeal Reference: APP/R3650/W/20/3263434 

WA/2020/1095 Dackelwood, Old Frensham Road, Lower Bourne 

Erection of a dwelling following demolition of existing bungalow. 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to proposed demolition of the semi-

detached bungalow to make way for the erection of a detached two-storey 

property, being contrary to LPP1 policy TD1, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP1 and the Farnham Design Statement for The Bourne.  The proposal does not 

respect the distinctive local character, severing the adjoining bungalow and creating 

an unbalanced street scene, in scale and pattern and not safeguarding the amenity 

of the neighbour or improving the life and health and well-being of the neighbour 

and current and future occupants. The preserving of a mix of housing types should 

be considered with the proposed loss of another single storey dwellings. 

 

7.   Licensing Applications Considered 

 

New Premises Licence 

Marks and Spencer Simply Foods, Brightwells 

 

Farnham Town Council’s objection was submitted to WBC Licensing Policy, see below: 

 

A new premises licence was considered for Marks and Spencer Simply Foods Ltd in 

the Brightwells development.  The application is for Off sales of alcohol and Open 

hours 06:00-00:00 Monday to Sunday.  

  

Farnham Town Council objects to the proposed hours to sell alcohol and the 

premises to be open to the public from 06.00 to 00.00, Monday to Sunday.  These 

are unacceptable hours for this town centre location and beyond legal opening 

times for a store of this size, if over 280m2.  Confirmation of premises size must be 

sought. 

 

Shops over 280 square metres can open on Sundays but only for 6 consecutive hours 

between 10am and 6pm; must close on Easter Sunday; and must close on Christmas 

Day. 

 

Within the Licensing Objectives the applicant notes ‘It is very unlikely the store will 

trade between the hours of 0600 to 0000 but the hours have been applied for to 

allow some flexibility for peak trading periods such as Christmas when the store 

may well choose to open earlier or trade later.’ 

 

Page 105



 

 

 

Farnham Town Council does not feel that this is an acceptable reason to request 

these year-round opening hours with a potential for public nuisance, given its 

vicinity to residential dwellings within Brightwells and Falkner Court.  

 

The objections has been raised under the licensing objective of ‘Prevention of Public 

Nuisance’ as the application is for the opening hours of 06.00-00.00, 7 days a week.  

The store is situated behind Sainsburys South Street car park and adjacent to 

Falkner Court.   

 

Although it is noted in the application ‘It is very unlikely the store will trade 

between the hours of 0600 to 0000 but the hours have been applied for to allow 

some flexibility for peak trading periods such as Christmas when the store may well 

choose to open earlier or trade later.’ these hours seem excessive for this town 

centre location. 

 

As an objection had been received, a virtual hearing was set for 8th February at 10.00am.  To 

avoid a hearing, Marks and Spencer’s solicitors have come back with the following response: 

  

I can confirm that the store will be subject to the Sunday Trading Laws (11 000 sq ft) and so will M&S 

will only open for 6 hours on a Sunday.  The decision on what hours it will actually be open on a Sunday 

has not yet be made.    

  

I would like the Parish Council to be aware that M&S apply for a premises licence for longer hours on a 

Sunday so that in the event the Sunday Trading Laws were to change M&S would not have the expense 

and delay of having to submit a major variation of the premises licence.   They have over 500 stores 

with licences allowing longer hours on a Sunday than those permitted by Sunday Trading Law but of 

course a premises licence does not override any other statutory provision to which they would be subject. 

  For example if any of the terms of the licence were inconsistent with planning permission then M&S 

would be bound by the terms of the planning nonetheless. Accordingly an objection to a licence being 

granted on Sundays cannot be made simply by asserting it is in contravention of Sunday Trading Law. 

  

My client would however, like to propose an amendment to the application which is conditional on the 

Parish Council withdrawing their objection and a thus hearing being avoided.  My client would amend the 

application so that permitted hours for the sale of alcohol were 7am until 11pm each day and 6am until 

midnight only from the 18th December until the 24th December each year.   The opening hours of the 

shop is entirely a matter for M&S and so no revision to the opening hours is required but would reassure 

the Parish Council that there is no intention currently to open the store any earlier than 7am and any 

later than 11pm. 

  

I would be grateful if the Parish Council could respond to that compromise as soon as possible given we 

are not that far away from the hearing.  

 

The group reviewed Marks & Spencer’s solicitor response and concluded to maintain its 

objections: 

 

Farnham Town Council notes the proposed revision to amend the application for 

the sale of alcohol to 7am until 11pm each day and 6am until midnight only from 

the 18th December until the 24th December each year if Farnham Town Council 

withdraws its objection. 

 

The shop opening hours remain at 06.00-00.00 - though reassurances have been 

given there is no intention currently to open the store any earlier than 7am and any 

later than 11pm. 

 

Page 106



 

 

 

Sunday Trading Laws are restricted to 6 consecutive hours currently, M&S Food 

would like to include longer hours ‘in the event’ Sunday trading laws were to 

change. 

 

Farnham Town Council’s objection has been raised under the licensing objective of 

‘Prevention of Public Nuisance’ to the application for the hours of 06.00-00.00, 7 

days a week.  The store is situated behind Sainsburys South Street car park and 

adjacent to Falkner Court, social housing accommodation for the over 60s, and 

other residential dwellings within Brightwells. 

 

Farnham Town Council does not feel that it is acceptable to request these year-

round hours ‘just in case’ trading laws change.  The night-time businesses are 

located away from the residential areas, these lengthy opening hours will cause 

public nuisance with the additional footfall and noise being drawn close to the 

vicinity of Falkner Court and the residential dwellings within Brightwells.  To put it 

another way, residents, especially those of Falkner Court, will not be disturbed for 

only six hours out of twenty-four. 

 

Councillor Martin as ward councillor to attend the hearing to support FTCs 

objection. 

 

 

New Premises Licence  

Veenas Kitchen (and Mini Mart), 1 South Street, Farnham, GU9 7QU                   

The application is for Recorded music 12:00-00:00 Monday to Sunday (When hours for sale of 

alcohol are extended hereunder these hours are also extended); On and off sales of alcohol 

09:00-00:00 Monday to Sunday; and Opening hours 09:00-00:30 Monday to Sunday.  

Farnham Town Council has no objections to the new premises licence for Veenas 

Kitchen and Mini Mart, 1 South Street, Farnham, GU9 7QU subject to the current 

business operation being maintained as described in the application.   

 

 

Minor Variation to Premises Licence 

The Co-Operative, 47-51 Farnborough Road, Farnham, GU9 9AJ 

Alterations to the tills in the retail space, with the addition of and/or further self-scanning tills 

only.  No other changes are requested to the licensable activities. 

Farnham Town Council has no objections to the minor variation to the premises 

licence for The Co-Operative, 47-51 Farnborough Road, Farnham, GU9 9AJ. 

 

 

Minor Variation to Premises Licence 

The Co-Operative, 4 The Square, Rowledge, Farnham, GU10 4AA 

Alterations to the tills in the retail space, with the addition of and/or further self-scanning tills 

only.  No other changes are requested to the licensable activities. 

Farnham Town Council has no objections to the minor variation to the premises 

licence for The Co-Operative, 4 The Square, Rowledge, Farnham, GU10 4AA. 

 

 

Variation to Premises Licence 

The Royal Arms, 172 Farnborough Road, Farnham, GU9 9AX                   

An application has been received for a variation to a premises licence.  The application is for the 

removal of 2010 conditions. 

Deferred to 15th February 2021. 

 

Page 107



 

 

 

8.   Waverley Borough Council Street Naming Applications Considered 

 

SNN3093A: Corner Cottage, Menin Way, Farnham, Surrey, GU9 8DY 

 

Plot 1 will be addressed to Menin Way, probably retaining Corner Cottage. 

  

For plots 2-4 require a name, see attached plan.  WBC has suggested a suffix of Mews. 

  

Waverley’s Street Naming and Numbering policy states that the only basis for objecting to a 

new street name can be on the grounds of: 

  

• duplication; 

• difficulty of pronouncing or spelling; and/or 

• if the name could cause offence.   

 

Farnham Town Council currently has no suitable suggestions to meet the criteria.  

It may be more appropriate to just number the dwellings as Tilford Road. 

 

9.   Public speaking at Waverley Planning Committee 

 

There were none for this meeting. 

 

10.   Date of next meeting 

 

15th February 2021. 

 

 

The meeting ended at 11.58 am 

 

Notes written by  Jenny de Quervain 

 

Page 108



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

G 

  

 

 

Notes 
Planning & Licensing Consultative Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Monday 15th February, 2021 

 

Place 
Via Zoom video conferencing 
 

 

 

Planning & Licensing Consultative Working Group Members Present: 

 

Councillor Brian Edmonds (Lead Member) 

Councillor Roger Blishen 

Councillor Alan Earwaker 

Councillor John "Scotty" Fraser 

Councillor Michaela Wicks 

Councillor George Hesse 

Councillor Michaela Martin 

Councillor John Neale 

 

Officers: Jenny de Quervain 

 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 

None were received. 

 

2.   Disclosure of Interests 

 

None were received. 

 

3.   Applications Considered for Key/Larger Developments 

 

Farnham Castle 

 

CA/2021/0026 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

FARNHAM CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO AND REMOVAL OF TREES 

THE BUSH HOTEL, THE BOROUGH FARNHAM GU9 7NN 

Farnham Town Council asks that the Arboricultural Officer reviews the submitted 

plan as it shows other trees to be removed.  Replacement trees must be planted in 

Page 109

A



 

 

 

suitable locations and incorporated into additional new landscaping.  In response to 

a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 

policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

 

NMA/2021/0020 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Amy Willson 

Amendment to WA/2017/1778 for amending the wording of conditions 23 and 27. 

FORMER GARDEN STYLE NURSERY, WRECCLESHAM HILL, FARNHAM  

Subject to the amendments being confirmed compliant with WBCs criteria for 

Non-Material Amendments, Farnham Town Council has no objections. 

 

4.   Applications Considered 

 

Farnham Bourne 

 

NMA/2021/0017 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Amy Willson 

Amendment to WA/2020/1184 for revised window sizes and roof light locations. 

SQUIRRELS LEAP, DENE CLOSE, FARNHAM GU10 3PP 

Subject to the amendments being confirmed compliant with WBCs criteria for 

Non-Material Amendments, Farnham Town Council has no objections. 

 

NMA/2021/0019 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Amy Willson 

Amendment to WA/2018/1741 for reduction in the depth of approved portico. 

LAND ON SOUTH EAST SIDE CENTRE COORDINATES 484492 144581, GOLD HILL, 

FARNHAM  

Farnham Town Council notes the number of changes made to WA/2020/1741 

through NMA applications.  The inclusion of a History and Constraints report with 

applications would be useful for the reviewer for assessing the overall changes made 

to the original. 

Subject to the changes being confirmed compliant with WBCs criteria for Non-

Material Amendments, Farnham Town Council has no objections. 

 

TM/2021/0024 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREES SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER WA280 

VICTORIA RESERVOIR, FRENSHAM ROAD FARNHAM GU9 8HA 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

WA/2020/2121 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Olivia Gorham 

Erection of a dwelling following demolition of existing bungalow (revision of WA/2020/1095). 

DACKELWOOD, OLD FRENSHAM ROAD, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3PU 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the size and scale of the proposed 

extensions, having a negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity, dominate to the 

adjoining property and out of character with the street scene, not being compliant 

with the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 

Page 110



 

 

 

Design of New Development and Conservation and FNP16 Extensions and 

Residential Extensions SPD. 

 

WA/2021/0051 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension and alterations following demolition of existing integral garage. 

12 KILN LANE, LOWER BOURNE, GU10 3LR 

Farnham Town Council questions the description for this application, the existing 

garage to be demolished is detached. 

Farnham Town Council objects to the proposed extension and alterations following 

demolished of the detached garage, not being compliant with the Farnham Design 

Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions and Residential 

Extensions SPD, the size and scale of the proposed two-storey side extension, from 

its elevated position, will be overbearing to no. 14. 

 

WA/2021/0097 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Alterations to elevations. 

BRAMBLES, 3 CRAVEN CLOSE, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3LW 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site 

for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0102 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of front porch. 

7A GREENHILL ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8JN 

Provided that the porch strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 

Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Castle 

 

WA/2020/2122 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 191 for the site known as 2/3 Vicarage Lane to be used 

as a single dwelling along with associated garden and outbuildings. 

2 VICARAGE LANE, FARNHAM GU9 7PR 

Farnham Town Council has no objections, subject to the use as one dwelling being 

deemed lawful and the Heritage Officer reviews any alterations made to the Listed 

buildings. 

 

TM/2021/0028 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER WA66 

SILWOOD, 7 WEST END GROVE FARNHAM GU9 7EG 

Page 111



 

 

 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

Farnham Hale and Heath End 

 

WA/2021/0069 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Ruth Dovey 

Application under Section 73 to vary Condition 1 of WA/2020/0841 (approved plan numbers) to 

allow alterations to windows and porch. 

115 UPPER WEYBOURNE LANE, FARNHAM GU9 9DD 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site 

for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Moor Park 

 

NMA/2021/0013 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Joanna Patrick 

Amendment to WA/2019/1483 for replacement of doors to windows; and removal of sash from 

window. 

5 HEATHERDALE HOUSE, COMPTON WAY, FARNHAM GU10 1QY 

Subject to the amendments being confirmed compliant with WBCs criteria for 

Non-Material Amendments, Farnham Town Council has no objections. 

 

WA/2021/0100 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

2 CROOKSBURY ROAD, FARNHAM GU10 1QE 

Farnham Town Council objects to the two storey extension close to the boundary 

of no. 4, having a negative impact on the street scene and the neighbour’s amenity 

with its size and scale, not compliant with the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions and Residential Extensions SPD. 

 

WA/2021/0125 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of detached garage and new vehicular access with gates. 

HEATHERDALE HOUSE, 5 COMPTON WAY, FARNHAM GU10 1QY 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the relocation of the vehicular access.  It 

is unacceptable to remove this extent of green boundary to achieve adequate 

visibility splays.  This will have a severe impact on the character of the area and 

street scene, contrary to Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP8 South 

Farnham Arcadian Areas.  In response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain 

green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green 

and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

The proposed access is on a bend closer to a junction on this narrow lane, its 

relocation will be a danger to motorists.  The previous withdrawn application 

WA/2020/0879 was refused by Surrey Highways stating ‘The proposed development 

would result in the creation of a new vehicular access onto Compton Way, a county 

Page 112



 

 

 

road with a 30mph posted speed limit. The location of the proposed access would 

be on a section of road with a steep gradient, extensive vegetation and on the inside 

of a sharp bend.’  The property must maintain its established entrance and not 

remove its green boundary. 

 

CR/2021/0002 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

General Permitted Development Order 2015, Schedule 2 Part 3 Class O - Prior Notification 

Application for change of use from offices (Class B1(a)) to 2 dwelling houses (Class C3). 

GROUND FLOOR OF 25 EAST STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7SD 

Farnham Town Council expresses concern over the absence of parking provision to 

meet WBC Parking Guidelines.  Secure covered bicycle storage must be included 

along with appropriate bin storage – refuse provision would have been in place for 

the offices. The change of use must provide a suitable standard of living 

accommodation and strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 Design of New Development and 

Conservation, FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 

Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design. Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

CR/2021/0003 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

General Permitted Development Order 2015, Schedule 2 Part 3 Class O - Prior Notification 

Application for change of use from offices (Class B1(a)) to 2 dwelling houses (Class C3). 

FIRST FLOOR OF 25 EAST STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7SD 

Farnham Town Council expresses concern over the absence of parking provision to 

meet WBC Parking Guidelines.  Secure covered bicycle storage must be included 

along with appropriate bin storage – refuse provision would have been in place for 

the offices. The change of use must provide a suitable standard of living 

accommodation and strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 Design of New Development and 

Conservation, FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 

Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design. Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

 

NMA/2021/0014 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: Joanna Patrick 

Amendment to WA/2020/1188 for amendment of position on existing rear wall and lowering of 

proposed eaves. 

TIMOTHY COTTAGE, 3 VINE LANE WRECCLESHAM GU10 4TD 

Subject to the amendments being confirmed compliant with WBCs criteria for 

Non-Material Amendments, Farnham Town Council has no objections. 

 

WA/2021/0053 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Application under Section 73 to vary Conditions 1 and 2 of WA/2020/1169 (approved plan 

numbers) to allow increase in depth of first floor extension and rendering of the ground floor. 

PIPPINS, VINE WAY, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4TB 

Provided that the alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

Page 113



 

 

 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site 

for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must 

be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Upper Hale 

 

WA/2021/0063 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension. 

5 TRINITY FIELDS, FARNHAM GU9 0SB 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 

Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0066 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extension and alterations. 

35 WINDERMERE WAY, FARNHAM GU9 0DS 

Provided that the extension and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

 

WA/2021/0080 Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension and alterations to elevations. 

34 BULLERS ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 9EP 

Farnham Town Council objects to the lack of parking provision not being compliant 

with Resident Extensions SPD and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16.  It 

is appreciated that the existing garage is not of sufficient size to accommodate a 

modern midsized family car however, the loss of the small amount of off-street 

parking on the driveway is unacceptable. 

 

Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

 

TM/2021/0021 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREES SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 09/01 

1,2, 3 and 13 GREYSTEAD PARK FARNHAM GU10 4NB 

Farnham Town Council leaves to the Arboricultural Officer.  In response to a 

climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy 

CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0026 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Page 114



 

 

 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 47/99 

22 MAYFIELD, FARNHAM GU10 4DZ 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0029 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 17/07 

27 WEY MEADOW CLOSE FARNHAM GU9 8TX 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

WA/2021/0071 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extensions and alterations following demolition of existing conservatory. 

10 PROSPECT ROAD, ROWLEDGE GU10 4AH 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match the dwelling, Farnham Town Council 

has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to.  Application WA/2020/2102 must be taken 

into consideration when determining this application. 

 

WA/2021/0078 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of front porch 

BRAMBLES, 118B BOUNDSTONE ROAD, ROWLEDGE GU10 4AU 

Provided that the porch strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 

Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0083 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension and alterations following relevant demolition of part of an unlisted building 

(garage) in a Conservation Area. 

3A THE STREET WRECCLESHAM GU10 4PP 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the two-storey side extension, not being 

compliant with the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

policy FNP6 Wrecclesham Conservation Area and FNP16 Extensions and 

Residential Extensions SPD, having a negative impact on its setting, the 

neighbouring Listed buildings and street scene and overlooking of neighbours’ 

amenity space. 

  

Page 115



 

 

 

WA/2021/0093 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extensions and alterations to roof space to provide habitable accommodation. 

20 & 21 COLESON HILL ROAD, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4QQ 

Question was raised over the lack of detail in the drawings for example, missing 

chimneys, downpipes and guttering, not giving a full impression of the proposals. 

Farnham Town Council acknowledges this positive approach of extending no. 20 

and 21 simultaneously however, objects to the light pollution from the number of 

roof lights to the front and rear and insufficient parking available within the 

boundaries of the properties, not being compliant with the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and WBC Parking Guidelines.  Coleson Hill Road is congested with 

on-street parking and cars often parking on the pavements causing a hazard to 

pedestrians.   

 

WA/2021/0092 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of a detached two storey garage building. 

SUMMERFIELD CORNER, SUMMERFIELD LANE, FRENSHAM GU10 3AN 

The Location Plan supplied with this application is inadequate and not fit for 

purpose. Farnham Town Council objects to the height and position of the proposed 

two storey garage, not being compliant with Residentials Extensions SPD and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan FNP10 Protect and Enhance the Countryside, being 

outside the built-up area boundary, overly prominent in the street scene in this 

semi-rural location, in front of the property, very visible from the junction with The 

Long Road and Summerfield Lane.  In determining this application, consideration 

must be given to WA/2020/1819 Section 191 for existing detached garage built 

without permission and WA/2020/1818 Section 191 for an extension built without 

permission.   

 

WA/2021/0098 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of a detached annexe (revision of WA/2020/1405). 

52 RIVERDALE, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4PJ 

Farnham Town Council questions the advice given to the applicant and the 

necessity to submitted two identical applications.  Is the proposed annex sufficiently 

insulated to create living accommodation to comply with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate 

Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design?  The annex must adhere to 

the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 

Extensions and Residential Extensions SPD.  Sufficient parking must be available 

within the boundary of the property.  If planning permission is granted, the annex 

must be conditioned ancillary to the dwelling and have no negative impact on the 

neighbour’s amenity. 

 

5.   Surrey County Council Mineral Applications Considered 

 

Deferred from 1st February 2021 to seek community input 

 

SCC Ref 2020/0174 Moor Park 

Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG 

Continued use of approximately 1.54 hectares of land for the screening and washing of inert 

waste, comprising power screen, washing plant, filter press building, associated tanks and 

equipment, conveyors and stockpile areas, underground ducting, storage bays and associated 

Page 116



 

 

 

hardstanding areas without compliance with Conditions 1, 2 and 4 of planning permission ref: 

WA09/0856 dated 16 October 2009 to extend the time period of the development.  

Chambers Runfold (Grid Ref: 487603 147403) 

Comments submitted directly to Surrey County Council. 

 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to application 2020/0174, under Section 73, 

to change the date of operations at Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, 

Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG from 2020 to 2030. 

 

It is understood that the restoration date of 2042 is only in place due to ROMP 

legislation as the latest possible date permitted.  With sand extraction ceasing some 

years ago, the priority must be restoration not continued operation.   

 

The site has been stock piling materials on the western side, well above restoration 

levels.  These materials are suitable for landfilling and must be used to progress the 

restoration of the site situated in Green Belt and designated AONB and AGLV.   

 

An assessment of the void and materials already onsite must take place to 

understand the extent of operation needed to restore the site as soon as possible.  

The NPPF states: 

 

205. When determining planning applications, great weight should be given to the 

benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy. In considering proposals 

for mineral extraction, minerals planning authorities should: 

(e) provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to be carried 

out to high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate 

conditions. Bonds or other financial guarantees to underpin planning conditions 

should only be sought in exceptional circumstances. 

 

Extending the operation of the Homefield Sandpit is unacceptable and a site closure 

plan must be provided as a matter of urgency to comply with the NPPF. 

 

Farnham Town Council includes the following applications in this objection, as 

permitting these goes against the overarching planning permission for the site and 

therefore likely to breach Environment Agency environmental permits: 

 

SCC Ref 2020/0175 (WA/2021/0004) 

Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG 

for workshop for onsite plant, machinery and lorry repair 

 

SCC Ref 2020/0176 (WA/2021/0005) 

Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG 

for extension of workshop to provide welfare facilities  

 

SCC Ref 2020/0177 (WA/2021/0006) 

Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG 

for overnight parking of up to 8 vehicles. 

 

SCC Ref 2020/0178 (WA/2021/0007) 

Land at Homefield Sandpit, Guildford Road, Runfold, Farnham, Surrey GU10 1PG 

for retention of storage bays for imported limestone scalpings, wheel wash facilities 

and wheel spinner. 

 

Page 117



 

 

 

The small-scale recycling activities were only ever expected to provide for landfilling 

and restoration following the completion of sand extraction.  An updated 

restoration and site closure plan must be produced and consulted upon with the 

relevant authorities and local community.  Surrey County Council must refuse this 

Section 73 application to extend the date of operation and fully assess the site 

status, void, materials and onsite activities taking place. 

 

6.   Appeals Considered 

 

PINS Appeal Reference: APP/R3650/W/20/3262641 

WA/2019/1905 Land at Lower Weybourne Lane  

Outline application for residential development of up to 140 dwellings with all matters reserved 

except for access. 

 

Farnham Town Council submitted its objection to the Inspector and via the PINS portal: 

 

In response the appeal at Land at Lower Weybourne Lane, Farnham Town Council 

maintains its objections to the development of this site. 

 

At the start of the Neighbourhood Plan process, all residents of Badshot Lea were 

sent a survey, seeking views on where new housing in the village should be built.  

This site was not selected by residents but was put forward in the later call for sites 

by the applicant and assessed against a robust set of criteria, which found it 

unacceptable in policy terms.  This decision was supported at consultation. 

 

Bewley Homes formed part of the consortium which challenged the Neighbourhood 

Plan after its first successful referendum but the judge found in favour of Waverley 

Borough Council and Farnham Town Council and the plan was duly made. 

 

During the review of the plan, all previous sites were revisited and reassessed 

alongside any new sites put forward.  Once again, this site did not meet the criteria 

for inclusion.  The neighbourhood plan went out to further consultation, was passed 

again at referendum and re-adopted on 3 April 2020 and now plays a full part in the 

development plan. 

 

The Farnham Neighbourhood Plan was made within the last two years and contains 

policies and allocations to meet its identified housing requirement, as required in 

Local Plan Part 1.  Waverley Borough Council can demonstrate a three-year supply 

of deliverable housing sites and the borough’s housing delivery is above the required 

45%.  For these reasons Paragraph 14 of the NPPF is now relevant to this appeal. 

 

This site was not considered suitable for development for many reasons.  There is a 

history of flooding along Lower Weybourne Lane.  Most of the village of Badshot 

Lea is low-lying and relies on surrounding green fields to act as soakaways.  When 

selecting sites for development in the area, great weight was put on the ability of 

surrounding fields to cope with the demands of an increase in housing.  The 

quantum of development proposed and the fact that the proposed entrance to the 

site sits within Flood Zone 2 rendered this site unacceptable.  Flood warnings have 

again been issued by the Environment Agency this month (February 2021) 

extending beyond the proposed entrance.   

 

In addition to the real possibility of aggravated flooding, despite the applicant’s 

change of position, the proposed amount of development will compromise highway 

safety in an area very close to schools and other youth facilities. 

Page 118



 

 

 

 

The density proposed is 50% higher than that of surrounding development and 

necessitates the inclusion of 3-storey elements, which are not a feature of the 

surrounding area.  It will exacerbate the problem of poor air quality in the locality 

and lead to difficulties in servicing the new properties. 

 

The Farnham Neighbourhood Plan looked at all the land in Badshot Lea, as part of 

its place-making agenda, to ensure that the village would not lose its attractive 

shape and unique charm, while accommodating a significant increase in housing.  A 

quick glance around the area will reveal the large of amount of development being 

built out, all designed to benefit the pattern of life and well-being within the village 

by adding vitality to the recreation ground and village hall, known as The Kiln, both 

accessible on foot from selected sites. 

 

This land was designated as part of the necessary green space, to provide a green 

corridor between Badshot Lea and Weybourne and to help the village improve its 

local air quality and preserve its local biodiversity.  The Farnham Design Statement 

seeks to protect the essential rural character of Badshot Lea by protecting the 

pattern of development and states clearly that green spaces around the village 

should be protected. 

 

This site is outside the Built-Up Area Boundary and not allocated through policy 

FNP14.  It is, therefore, in conflict with both policies FNP10 and FNP14 of the 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan and with policies RE1 and RE3 of the Local Plan. 

 

The site contributes to the separation of Weybourne and Badshot Lea.  Maintaining 

this wide green corridor between the two villages is essential to avoid coalescence, 

as set out in policy FNP11. Avoiding such coalescence is a major aim of both the 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan (2020) and the Farnham Design Statement (2010). 

 

The Secretary of State, in his dismissal of the application for development on the 

site at Hawthorns and the Inspector in his dismissal of the application for 

development at Green Lane Farm both agreed that a newly made neighbourhood 

plan, which allocates sufficient sites, is now part of the development plan. 

 

The government is now placing a much greater emphasis on design and beauty, 

which has always been the focus of both the Farnham Design Statement and the 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan. Green spaces around development are as important 

as the buildings themselves and new proposals should leave adequate space for tree-

planting, green boundaries and green corridors.  Development should enhance a 

community and add to its health, happiness and biodiversity. 

 

This application is contrary to the development plan.  It is in conflict with Local Plan 

policies, TD1, RE1 and RE3, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policies FNP1, FNP10, 

FNP11, FNP14 and the Farnham Design Statement. 

 

Documents included with Farnham Town Council’s objection: 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan April 2020  

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan Map A, Built-up Area Boundary  

Environment Agency River Blackwater Flood Map  

Flood Map Lower Weybourne Lane  

SoS Dismissal, Appeal 3132971 Land at Lower Weybourne Lane, Farnham 

Sos Dismissal, Appeal 3211033 Hawthorns, Bells Piece, Farnham GU9 9RL  

PINS Dismissal, Appeal 3249930 Land off Green Lane, Farnham 

Page 119



 

 

 

 

7.   Licensing Applications Considered 

 

Deferred from 1st February 2021 

 

Variation to Premises Licence 

The Royal Arms, 172 Farnborough Road, Farnham, GU9 9AX                   

An application has been received for a variation to a premises licence.  The application is for the 

removal of 2010 conditions. 

 

Enquiries were made to Licensing Policy to clarify this application.  The application in September 

was a minor variation and because objections were received it was deemed refused (there is no 

remit within the Licensing Act to hold a hearing for minor variations).  The current application is 

a variation and, if any objections are received, then a hearing will be held into this application. 

 

Farnham Town Council objects to the variation of the premises licence of the Royal 

Arms for removal of conditions 1-4 agreed with the Environmental Health Officer.  

These conditions are in place to limit the noise from the pub and garden and 

prevent nuisance to the surrounding residents – licensing objective of public 

nuisance.  The majority of the Conditions agreed with the Licensing Authority will 

be maintained for a premise licence to be held e.g. the checking of patrons age, staff 

training, CCTV, etc. to meet all four licensing objectives. 

 

It was agreed that if a hearing were set, Councillor Gray would attend as ward councillor in 

support of FTCs objection. 

 

8.   Public Speaking at Waverley Planning Committee 

 

Councillor Blishen had agreed to speak as ward councillor at Western Planning on Tuesday 16th 

February 2021 on WA/2020/0345 Land at Bourne Woods. 

 

9.   Date of next meeting 

 

1st March 2021. 

 

 

The meeting ended at 11.42 am 

 

Notes written by  Jenny de Quervain 

 

 

Page 120



 

 

 

 

FARNHAM TOWN COUNCIL 

H 

 

 

 

Notes 
Planning & Licensing Consultative Working Group  

 

Time and date 
9.30 am on Monday 1st March, 2021 

 

Place 
Via Zoom video conferencing 
 

 

 

Planning & Licensing Consultative Working Group Members Present: 

 

Councillor Brian Edmonds (Lead Member) 

Councillor Roger Blishen 

Councillor Alan Earwaker 

Councillor John "Scotty" Fraser 

Councillor John Neale 

 

Officers: Jenny de Quervain 

 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 

Apologies were received from Councillors Hesse, Martin and Wicks. 

 

2.   Disclosure of Interests 

 

Councillor Edmonds declared a non-pecuniary interest, he is a Design Champion, Waverley 

Design Awards. 

 

3.   Applications Considered for Key/Larger Developments 

 

There were none for this meeting. 

 

4.   Applications Considered 

 

Farnham Bourne 

 

CA/2021/0032 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

GREAT AUSTINS CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO TREE 

3 GREAT AUSTINS FARNHAM GU9 8JG 

Page 121

B



 

 

 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

TM/2021/0032 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 02/12 

9 GROVELANDS FARNHAM GU10 3RQ 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

NMA/2021/0024 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Amy Willson 

Amendment to WA/2020/1345 for removal of some doors and windows; and to remove glazing 

to dormer cheeks. 

26 VICARAGE HILL, FARNHAM GU9 8HJ 

Farnham Town Council objects to the proposed changes as a NMA and believes that 

Condition 6 has been interpreted incorrectly ‘the windows proposed above ground 

floor level in the southern elevation are fixed shut to a height of 1.7m and glazed 

with obscure glazing to the extent that intervisibility is excluded and shall be 

retained.’  The drawings show obscured glazing in the fan light opening section and 

clear glazing in the fixed section below!  The proposed dormer does materially 

change the proposal and should be refused as an NMA.  

 

WA/2021/0158 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

80 BURNT HILL ROAD, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3LN 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and has no negative impact on 

the neighbour’s amenity, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0170 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of detached garage and associated works. 

SQUIRRELS LEAP, DENE CLOSE, LOWER BOURNE GU10 3PP 

Provided that the garage is conditioned ancillary to the dwelling and strictly adheres 

to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 

Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and 

CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, 

COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved 

construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0237 Farnham Bourne 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of first floor side extension and alterations. 

Page 122



 

 

 

ABBOTS END, TILFORD ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8HX 

Provided that the extension and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and has no negative impact on 

the neighbour’s amenity at Corriemont, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 

Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Castle 

 

CA/2021/0029 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

FARNHAM CONSERVATION ORDER  

WORKS TO TREE 

PENNYS, 88B WEST STREET FARNHAM GU9 7EN 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity. In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

CA/2021/0030 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

FARNHAM CONSERVATION AREA 

WORKS TO TREE 

PENNYS, 88B WEST STREET FARNHAM GU9 7EN 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

WA/2021/0146 Farnham Castle 

Officer: James Sackley 

Listed Building Consent for internal and external alterations. 

6 LOWER CHURCH LANE, FARNHAM, GU9 7PS 

Provided that the alterations are approved by the Heritage Officer and strictly 

adhere to the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area and FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0150 Farnham Castle 

Officer: James Sackley 

Alterations to elevations. 

121 WEST STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7HH 

Provided that the alterations are approved by the Heritage Officer and strictly 

adhere to the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area and FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

Page 123



 

 

 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0151 Farnham Castle 

Officer: James Sackley 

Listed Building consent for alterations to elevations and internal alterations. 

121 WEST STREET, FARNHAM GU9 7HH 

Provided that the alterations are approved by the Heritage Officer and strictly 

adhere to the Farnham Design Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area and FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0176 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Erection of a dwelling and studio annex building with associated works including vehicular access. 

SITE OF 42 TO 48, LONG GARDEN WALK, FARNHAM  

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the cramped, overdevelopment of a 

restrictive site for two building, whether commercial or residential dwellings.  The 

layout, orientation and pattern of development is not appropriate for its setting, the 

front development will cause a danger to the occupant, pedestrians and motorists 

with the building line being close to the road and no footway to the front of the 

building, the rear development will have a negative impact on the neighbours’ 

amenity, overshadowing and overlooking, not compliant with the Farnham Design 

Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan polices FNP1 New Development and 

FNP2 Town Centre Conservation Area and LPP1 policy TD1.  A building shown on 

the site in 1900 has no bearing on the proposed development of two structures 

today. 

 

WA/2021/0238 Farnham Castle 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations including Juliette balcony and dormer 

window. 

2 WEYDON MILL COTTAGES, WEYDON MILL LANE, FARNHAM GU9 7QL 

Farnham Town Council objects to the fully glazed ground floor elevation and larger 

glazed doors on the second floor, causing light pollution and having a negative 

impact on the nocturnal wildlife on the Bishops Meadow and the neighbours’ 

amenity, not being compliant with Farnham Neighbourhood Plan polices FNP1 and 

FNP16 and LPP1 retained policy D4 and policy NE2.  Advice has been sought from 

Surrey Wildlife Trust. 

 

Farnham Firgrove 

 

WA/2021/0166 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of single storey extension. 

21 RIDGWAY ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8NN 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design 

Page 124



 

 

 

and has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0178 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for loft conversion with roof lights to front plane. 

WEYDON FARM HOUSE, WEYDON FARM LANE, FARNHAM GU9 8QJ 

Farnham Town Council notes Weydon Farm House as a Building of Local Merit.  

Farnham Town Council requests conservation roof lights be fitted, if the loft 

conversion is confirmed lawful and strictly adheres to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design. Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles 

and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0194 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Alterations to elevations including dormer and roof lights. 

123 WEYDON HILL ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8NZ 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the second-floor balcony on the roof of 

the extension, having a negative impact on the neighbours’ with overlooking 

amenity spaces, not being compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions 

SPD. 

 

WA/2021/0209 Farnham Firgrove 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations including demolition of chimney. 

5 LANCASTER AVENUE, FARNHAM GU9 8JY 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and has no negative impact on 

the neighbour’s amenity, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Hale and Heath End 

 

Amendment received 23rd February 2021 

The applicant is now proposing alterations to the existing access to provide parking 

for the proposed development. 

 

WA/2020/1401 Farnham Hale and Heath End  

Officer: Philippa Staddon  

Alterations to subdivide one flat to form 2 studio flats.  

114 FARNBOROUGH ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 9BD  

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the lack of parking provision – the 

amended plan shows only one space for two flats and no other parking spaces are 

shown for the total of 6 dwellings on the site.  Parking on the pavement of The 

Page 125



 

 

 

Fairway is unacceptable, causing inconvenience to residents and a hazard to 

motorists and pedestrians. 

 

Farnham Town Council maintains its previous objection to this retrospective 

planning applications where works have taken place without due consideration to 

relevant policies, health & safety and building regulations and to ensure a minimum 

standard of accommodation of 37m2 is being provided. The parking available onsite 

is not sufficient for the additional dwelling with only 2-3 spaces available for what is 6 

flats. The Fairway cannot sustain more vehicles with its limited on-street parking, 

further reduced by permission being granted to WA/2019/1055 for the conversion of 

the outbuilding to the rear of 114 Farnborough Road.  

 

TM/2021/0033 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR WORKS TO TREE SUBJECT TO TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 33/99 

55 WHITE COTTAGE CLOSE, FARNHAM GU9 0NL 

Farnham Town Council, subject to the Arboricultural Officer’s comments, 

welcomes the maintenance of trees to extend their life and associated amenity.  In 

response to a climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line 

with LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

WA/2021/0186 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extension. 

7 WEST CLOSE, FARNHAM GU9 0RF 

Provided that the front extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and has no negative impact on 

the neighbour’s amenity, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0192 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extension (revision of WA/2020/1470). 

5 HALE REEDS, FARNHAM, GU9 9BN 

Provided that the extension and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 and CC2, materials match existing and no 

negative impact on the neighbours’ amenity with overlooking, Farnham Town 

Council has no objections. Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles 

and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0210 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of raised timber terrace and associated works. 

53 WHITMORE GREEN, FARNHAM GU9 9AF 

Provided that the raised terrace has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity, 

Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be available on-site for 

construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be 

followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Page 126



 

 

 

WA/2021/0236 Farnham Hale and Heath End 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extensions and alterations. 

34 APELDOORN, BROOKLANDS ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 9BS 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and has no negative impact on 

the neighbour’s amenity, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Moor Park 

 

TM/2021/0031 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR REMOVAL OF TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 34/06 

7 HOLLAND CLOSE, FARNHAM GU9 8DT 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the removal of trees and asks the 

Arboricultural Officer if the felling of this TPO tree is necessary.  In response to a 

climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy 

CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

WA/2021/0149 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Jess Sullivan 

Erection of extension to form garage and swimming pool building with glass link to dwelling; 

erection of outbuilding and associated landscaping works; temporary new highway access. 

2 COMPTON WAY, FARNHAM GU10 1QZ 

Farnham Town Council notes that concern has been raised by the neighbour of the 

negative impact on their amenity and enjoyment of their garden from noise with 

the proposed swimming pool and garaging being positioned towards the boundary, 

this must be fully considered in determining this application.   

 

The temporary access must be returned to green boundary and conditioned 

accordingly.  Native trees and planting would be more appropriate in the scheme to 

support wildlife and biodiversity, in an area defined by its trees and covered by 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP8 South Farnham Arcadian Areas.  The 

development must be compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policies FNP1 New Development and FNP16 Extensions, 

Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 

Sustainable Construction and Design and NE2 Natural Environment.  Space must 

be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site 

Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours 

adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0202 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for loft conversion with velux roof lights. 

25 MENIN WAY, FARNHAM GU9 8DY 

Provided that the loft conversion is confirmed lawful and strictly adheres to the 

Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 

Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and 

CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections. Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, 

Page 127



 

 

 

COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved 

construction hours adhered to. 

 

Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

 

WA/2021/0148 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Outline Application for erection of 2 dwellings with all matters reserved. 

LAND AT 5 & 6 WICKET HILL, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4RD 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the overdevelopment of the site, the loss 

of trees and impact on wildlife is unacceptable, the site is situated close to 

Underdown Nature Reserve owned by Surrey Wildlife Trust.  The topography is not 

suitable for residential development, the access via Bat and Ball Lane and Wicket 

Hill is inadequate for the excessive excavation from the site and the delivery of 

materials required for the proposed dwellings and the main road access has limited 

visibility in both directions.  Development will have a negative impact on the 

neighbouring properties below on Birdhaven with overlooking from the site’s 

elevated position and the potential of flooding with the displacement of ground 

water, especially with the removal of trees, not compliant with the Farnham Design 

Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 New Development and 

LPP1 policy TD1, CC1 Climate Change, CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design 

and NE2 Natural Environment.  

 

WA/2021/0171 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: James Sackley 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations including dormer and roof lights. 

97 SHORTHEATH ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 8RZ 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the extensive glazing to the rear of the 

property.  Though the proposal makes relatively small changes to the street scene, 

the negative impact from light pollution is unacceptable on the neighbours to the 

rear, especially at The Sycamores, and not compliant with the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan polices FNP1 New Development and 

FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy TD1. 

 

WA/2021/0198 Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations following demolition of outbuilding, loft 

conversion to form habitable space with rooflights. 

37 GREEN LANE, FARNHAM GU9 8QD 

The relocating of an apple tree is questioned, and no replacement trees are being 

proposed for the trees marked ‘to be removed’.  In response to a climate 

emergency, it is vital to replace trees in line with LPP2 polices CC1 Climate Change 

and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.  Provided that the extensions and 

alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and 

LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, 

materials match existing and has no negative impact on the neighbour’s amenity 

from the two-storey close to the boundary, Farnham Town Council has no 

objections.  Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, 

COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved 

construction hours adhered to. 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 

 

Farnham Upper Hale 

 

WA/2021/0157 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Lara Davison 

Erection of extension to garage and alterations to roofline to form habitable accommodation. 

HIGHFIELD PARK, 14 UPPER OLD PARK LANE, FARNHAM GU9 0AS 

Farnham Town Council objects to the overdevelopment to the front of the dwelling 

and the scale of the proposed extensions to create living accommodation over and 

to the side of the existing garage, being cramped, extending towards the dwelling, 

not being compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions and Residential Extensions SPD. 

 

WA/2021/0182 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Erection of extension. 

11 BISHOP SUMNER DRIVE, FARNHAM GU9 0HQ 

Provided that the extension strictly adheres to the Farnham Design Statement and 

Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD 

and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and 

Design and materials match existing, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  

Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 

Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction 

hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0211 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Daniel Holmes 

Certificate of Lawfulness under Section 192 for loft conversion with skylights and side window 

plus single storey side and rear extensions. 

19 HEATHYFIELDS ROAD, FARNHAM GU9 0BW 

Provided that the loft conversion and extensions are confirmed lawful and strictly 

adhere to the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy 

FNP16 Extensions, Residential Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate 

Change and CC2 Sustainable Construction and Design, Farnham Town Council has 

no objections. Space must be available on-site for construction vehicles and 

materials, COVID-19 Site Operating Procedures must be followed and WBC 

approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0214 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Erection of 4 dwellings including access, parking and amenity space following the demolition of 

existing dwelling and outbuildings. 

HILLSIDE, THE GREEN, FARNHAM GU9 0HL 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the gross overdevelopment of the site to 

create 4 dwellings, having a negative impact on the street scene of The Green with 

density and pattern of development, not being compliant with the Farnham Design 

Statement, Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 New Development and 

LPP1 policy TD1.  The proposed six parking spaces are inaccessible to the south of 

the property and a new entrance on to the Upper Hale Road is dangerous and 

inaccessible to egress and ingress in forward gear with inadequate inline parking 

spaces. 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



 

 

 

Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

 

TM/2021/0034 Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

Officer: Mr A Clout 

APPLICATION FOR REMOVAL OF TREE SUBJECT OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER WA46 

7 ROWHILLS CLOSE, FARNHAM GU9 9EQ 

Farnham Town Council strongly objects to the removal of trees and asks the 

Arboricultural Officer if the felling of this TPO tree is necessary.  In response to a 

climate emergency, it is vital to retain green infrastructure in line with LPP1 policy 

CC1 Climate Change and NE2 Green and Blue Infrastructure.   

 

WA/2021/0147 Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of two-storey rear extension and garage conversion. 

2 AYLING COURT, FARNHAM GU9 9TF 

Farnham Town Council questions the viability of this proposal.  Farnham Town 

Council objects to the overdevelopment of the dwelling, the two-storey extension 

will have a severe negative impact on the adjoining neighbour at no. 1, being 

overbearing on the boundary.  The link-attached garage with no. 3 is inappropriate 

for development and will negatively impact the street scene.  The application is not 

compliant with the Farnham Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan 

policy FNP16 Extensions and Residential Extensions SPD. 

 

Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

 

WA/2021/0193 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Carl Housden 

Erection of extensions and alterations to elevations. 

21 HIGHMEAD, ECHO BARN LANE, WRECCLESHAM GU10 4NQ 

Provided that the extensions and alterations strictly adhere to the Farnham Design 

Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP16 Extensions, Residential 

Extensions SPD and LPP1 policy CC1 Climate Change and CC2 Sustainable 

Construction and Design, materials match existing and has no negative impact on 

the neighbour’s amenity, Farnham Town Council has no objections.  Space must be 

available on-site for construction vehicles and materials, COVID-19 Site Operating 

Procedures must be followed and WBC approved construction hours adhered to. 

 

WA/2021/0229 Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge 

Officer: Philippa Staddon 

Erection of a detached dwelling following demolition of existing dwelling; alterations to existing 

garage to provide office/studio; erection of a detached garage (as amended by plan received 

20/02/2021). 

PINECROFT, CHERRY TREE WALK, ROWLEDGE GU10 4AD 

Farnham Town Council objects to the proposed replacement two-storey detached 

dwelling, being dominant in the street scene, not compliant with the Farnham 

Design Statement and Farnham Neighbourhood Plan policy FNP1 New 

Development and LPP1 policy TD1 and having a negative impact on its 

environment with light pollution from the extensive glazing.  Concern has been 

raised of the potential for overlooking of the neighbouring amenity space with the 

proposed large first floor balcony. 

 

5.   Appeals Considered 

 

PINS reference: 3261553, representations via the PINS portal by 29th March 2021. 

Page 130



 

 

 

Hearing date not shown on the PINS portal yet. 

WA/2020/0105 The Woolmead, East Street, Farnham, GU9 7TS  

 

Farnham Town Council objected to the application: 

 

WA/2020/0105 Farnham Moor Park 

Officer: Patrick Arthurs 

Application under Section 73 to vary Condition 1 of WA/2018/0458 (approved plan numbers) to 

allow alterations to basement layout. 

THE WOOLMEAD, EAST STREET, FARNHAM  

Farnham Town Council objects to the application to vary Condition 1 and does not 

accept a reduction in parking on this site.  This is contrary to Waverley Borough 

Council’s parking guidelines for residential development and Farnham 

Neighbourhood Plan policies FNP1, FNP22 and FNP30.  Sufficient residents’ parking 

for the dwellings has to be part of the development, Farnham does not have any 

additional capacity for on-street parking in zone A.  

 

Objection to be expanded and submitted via PINS portal. 

 

PINS reference: 3264487, representations via the PINS portal by 24th March 2021. 

WA/2019/1472 Land adjacent to Ivy House, The Green, Farnham, GU9 0HJ  

 

Farnham Town Council objected to the application: 

 

WA/2019/1472 Farnham Upper Hale 

Officer: Mr Chris Turner 

Outline Application for erection of a dwelling and associated works with all matters reserved 

following demolition of existing building. 

LAND ADJACENT IVY HOUSE, THE GREEN, FARNHAM  

Farnham Town Council object to the outline application of an additional dwelling 

adjacent Ivy House not being compliant with Farnham Neighbourhood Plan Policy 

FNP1.  A new dwelling on the restrictive site would have a negative impact on the 

neighbours’ amenity. 

 

Objection to be expanded and submitted via PINS portal. 

 

6.   Licensing Applications Considered 

 

Farnham Town Council objected to the Variation of the Premises Licence at the Royal Arms 

and subsequently a hearing has been set for Monday 22nd March at 10am, see below FTCs 

comments: 

 

Farnham Town Council objects to the variation of the premises licence of the 

Royal Arms for removal of conditions 1-4 agreed with the Environmental Health 

Officer. These conditions are in place to limit the noise from the pub and garden 

and prevent nuisance to the surrounding residents – licensing objective of public 

nuisance. The majority of the Conditions agreed with the Licensing Authority will 

be maintained for a premise licence to be held e.g. the checking of patrons 

age, staff training, CCTV, etc. to meet all four licensing objectives. 

 

It was agreed Council Michaela Wicks would attend as ward councillor. 

 

 

 

Page 131



 

 

 

7.   Public speaking at Waverley Planning Committee 

 

There were none for consideration for this meeting. 

 

8.   Date of next meeting 

 

15th March 2021. 

 

 

The meeting ended at 11.30 am 

 

Notes written by  Jenny de Quervain 

 

 

Page 132


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Working Group Notes
	AppCNotesofCemeteriesandAppealsWorkingGroupFeb2021
	AppendixDTEMinutes
	AppESFMinutesJanuary2021withAnnexesx1x
	Insert from: "App E Annexes.pdf"
	Insert from: "Annex 2 to App E Farnham Town Council Grants Programme for 2021.pdf"
	New Bookmark

	Insert from: "Annex 2 to App E Farnham Town Council Grants Programme for 2021.pdf"
	New Bookmark


	Insert from: "App E Annexes.pdf"
	Insert from: "Annex 2 to App E Farnham Town Council Grants Programme for 2021.pdf"
	New Bookmark

	Insert from: "Annex 2 to App E Farnham Town Council Grants Programme for 2021.pdf"
	New Bookmark




	8 Planning and Licensing Applications
	AppendixGPLCGNotes15February2021x1x
	AppendixHPLCGNotes1March2021x1x


